
Local Development Plan Working Group 
 

Meeting Venue 
By Teams 

 

 
 

County Hall 
Llandrindod Wells 

Powys 
LD1 5LG 

 
Meeting date 
Thursday, 10 December 2020 

 
Meeting time 
2.30 pm 

 
For further information please contact 
Carol Johnson 
01597 826206 
carol.johnson@powys.gov.uk 

 4 December 2020 

 
 

AGENDA 

 
1.  APOLOGIES  

 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 

2.  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 
To authorise the Chair to sign the minutes of the previous meeting of the Committee 
held on 20 March 2020 as a correct record. 
(Pages 3 - 4) 
 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 
considered on the agenda. 
 
 

4.  NEWTOWN AND LLANLLWCHAIARN PLACE PLAN - DRAFT 
SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE (SPG)  

 
To consider the draft Place Plan [SPG] and to agree a six week consultation 
process.  Representatives of the Town Council will make a presentation to the 
Working Group.   
(Pages 5 - 124) 
 

5.  THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN) (WALES) REGULATIONS 2021  

 
To consider the draft response: Background paper, draft response and consultation 
document attached. 

Public Document Pack



(Pages 125 - 154) 
 

6.  BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY CONSULTATION ON 
THEIR LDP2 REVISED DELIVERY AGREEMENT AND REVISED 
PREFERRED STRATEGY  

 
To consider and agree the draft response: Background paper, draft response and 
consultation documents attached. 
(Pages 155 - 250) 
 

7.  MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING [MOU] BETWEEN 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL AND POWYS COUNCIL ON AGGREGATE 
MINERALS AND WASTE PLANNING MATTERS  

 
To agree the MoU and the signatory for the Council. 
(Pages 251 - 254) 
 

8.  UPDATES  

 
To receive updates on any issues relating to the LDP. 
 
 
 
 



LDP Working Group 20/03/2020 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN WORKING 
GROUP HELD AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY HALL ON FRIDAY, 20 MARCH 

2020 
 

PRESENT 
County Councillor J Evans (Chair) 
 
County Councillors D O Evans, H Hulme and H Lewis 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies for absence were received from County Councillors P Davies, 
M J Jones, K Laurie-Parry, P C Pritchard, R Williams and D Selby (Scrutiny 
Committee Observer). 

 

2.  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 
The Chair was authorised to sign the minutes of the meeting held on 18 
December, 2020 as a correct record. 

 

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 

 

4.  SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE [SPG] CONSULTATION 
STATEMENT UPDATED TO MARCH 2020  

 
The Working Group was advised that 13 representations had been received 
during the public consultation on the fourth set of SPGs.  The Working Group 
noted the amendments to the SPG consultation statement.  

 

5.  SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE [SPG]  

 
5.1. Archaeology SPG  

 
The Working Group considered the representations made in respect of the 
Archaeology SPG and noted the responses from the officers.  The Chair 
indicated that the SPGs were very long and asked officers to consider 
developing a short guide providing the key messages for developers. 
 
It was moved and duly seconded to agree the SPG.  
 

The Working Group recommended 
to the Cabinet: 

Reason for Recommendation: 

The approval of the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance for 
Archaeology. 

To meet the commitment and 
programme for Supplementary 
Planning Guidance preparation 
in the adopted Powys LDP. 

 
5.2. Historic Environment SPG  

 
County Councillor D Evans joined the meeting. 
 

Page 3

2



LDP Working Group 20/03/2020 

The Working Group considered the representations made in respect of the 
Historic Environment SPG and noted the responses from the officers. The 
Working Group noted that the guidance in respect of Listed Buildings [LB], had 
been summarised into a set of questions that could be used when considering 
whether a development is likely to impact on the significance of a LB.  
 
The Working Group noted that the reference made to the Montgomery Canal had 
been reworded to make it clearer that habitat regulations assessment of 
development proposals would be required to be undertaken to ensure there is no 
adverse effect on the integrity of the Special Area of Conservation [SAC] 
including areas of the canal which were not yet navigable.   
 
It was moved and duly seconded to agree the SPG.  
 

The Working Group recommended 
to the Cabinet: 

Reason for Recommendation: 

The approval of the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance for Historic 
Environment. 

To meet the commitment and 
programme for Supplementary 
Planning Guidance preparation 
in the adopted Powys LDP. 

 
5.3. Land Drainage & Flooding SPG  

 
The Working Group noted the Land Drainage Team and Hydrologist had to 
comment on the Land Drainage and Flooding SPG.  The Working Group was 
advised that Flood Maps and C2 floodzone maps had been reviewed when 
looking at allocations during the development of the LDP.  However, developers 
would need to consider the latest available flood maps and evidence when 
considering developments.  
 
County Councillor D Evans left the meeting. 
 
It was moved and duly seconded to agree the SPG.  
 

The Working Group recommended 
to the Cabinet: 

Reason for Recommendation: 

The approval of the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance for Land 
Drainage and Flooding. 

To meet the commitment and 
programme for Supplementary 
Planning Guidance preparation 
in the adopted Powys LDP. 

 
 
The Lead Professional for Development Management updated the Working 
Group on the following: 

 Newtown Place Plan – pre-consultation engagement with stakeholders 
had been completed and the draft document should be available by May 
2020.  

 Open Space SPG - consultation would be required on this.   Consultation 
on this and the Newtown Place Plan would be undertaken at the same 
time. 

 
 

County Councillor J Evans (Chair) 

Page 4



1 
 

Local Development Plan [LDP] Working Group  
10 December 2020 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Senior Planning Policy Officer 
  
REPORT TITLE: Summary of Draft Supplementary Planning 

Guidance (SPG): 
The Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Place Plan 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision   

 
Introduction 
 
The Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Town Council, together with the local community, have 
been busy working on a Place Plan which sets out a vision for the place that Newtown aims 
to be by 2036.  The Place Plan covers three main themes with accompanying objectives, 
action points and projects for the town and local area over the next 15 years based on: 
 

 Newtown – a great place to live, learn and work 

 Green Newtown 

 Destination Newtown 
 
The Plan has been developed through local community engagement and it represents an 
approach to local sustainable place-making that the Welsh Government are strongly in 
favour of.  Whilst the County Council have been involved as a stakeholder, the Place Plan 
has been written at the Town Council level and remains a community led document which 
has not been co-authored by Powys County Council. 
 
This is the first official Place Plan in the Powys Local Planning Authority area and it brings a 
local level of detail to the County Council’s over-arching Local Development Plan (LDP)  
(2011-26). The Place Plan (and any subsequent evidence work) can also, importantly, be 
taken into account when the Powys LDP is reviewed from 2022, helping to inform and 
shape how the replacement LDP applies to the Newtown area. 
 
What does the Place Plan do? 
 
In describing Place Plans, the Welsh Government says they “are about delivering local 
outcomes, helping build consensus and buy-in within the wider development plan process”. 
 
In the Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Place Plan itself you will find an explanation of the aims 
and objectives of the Plan.  You can also read how the Plan responds to the Well-being and 
Future Generations Act to meet the Acts seven well-being goals of a more Prosperous 
Wales, a Resilient Wales, a more Equal Wales, a Healthier Wales, a Wales of Cohesive 
Communities, a Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language, and a Globally 
Responsible Wales.  The Place Plan is currently at the Working Draft stage.   
 
From a development management perspective,  the Place Plan includes its own local 
planning policies that the Town Council will use when responding to planning applications.  
These have been developed to be in conformity with the Powys LDP but Place Plans are 
able to add a finer grain of detail and/or draw out specific issues more clearly for 

Page 5

4



2 
 

applicants/developers/objectors which can help to streamline the planning application 
process, reduce conflict, and improve outcomes for all concerned, ultimately making 
Newtown a better place. 
 
The Place Plan “Our Town, Our Plan”  makes it clear that “Every policy and project in the 
plan is based on suggestions from the community”.  Demonstrating the wide range of 
issues that are important to the community in terms of land-use planning, the local planning 
policies in the Working Draft Place Plan have been grouped into the following topics:  
Character and Heritage; Housing and Future Development; Community Facilities; Business, 
Learning and Employment, Health and Wellbeing; A Safe and Tidy Town, Open Spaces, 
Active Travel and Transport; Climate Change and Biodiversity; Town Centre Experience; 
Tourism, Culture and Attractions. 
 
Why does a Place Plan need SPG status? 
 
Only the policies in the adopted development plan (the LDP) have special status under 
section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 in deciding planning 
applications. Decisions must be made in accordance with the adopted development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.    
 
The Development Plans Manual stipulates  “Place Plans should be in conformity with the 
development plan and adopted by the Local Authority as SPG to the plan. They can inform 
an LDP review, be prepared in parallel with an LDP, or following adoption, providing there is 
a sufficient ‘policy hook’ within the plan. They cannot duplicate or introduce new policy, nor 
can they de-allocate sites identified in the adopted development plan. Place Plans are not 
part of the statutory development plan; instead they add detail to the adopted plan.” 
 
The Policy Hook in the Local Development Plan 
 
Place-making is now a central theme of spatial planning.   A  number of topics/policies in 
the Local Development Plan naturally intertwine with Sustainable Place-making Principles  
(the location and design of new housing and employment premises, the protection of 
heritage, careful use of resources, promoting sustainable travel,  the vitality of town centres, 
protecting the natural environment and creating open space etc).  The LDP has a main 
policy - Policy DM13 (Design and Resources) -  which promotes good quality design, 
having regard to the qualities and amenity of the surrounding area, local infrastructure and 
resources and DM13 stipulates that new development must contribute towards the 
preservation of local distinctiveness and sense of place.  Further mention of Place Plans 
can be found in the adopted Residential Design SPG. 
 
What Approval Process is being followed? 
 
Following on from the substantial work in developing and writing up the Working Draft Place 
Plan, it was approved by the Town Council in November 2020.  As a working document, 
there are a small number of additions outstanding including final design and formatting. 
 
As discussed above, the Place Plan will only gain prominence in planning decisions if it is 
adopted by the County Council as Supplementary Planning Guidance.   This takes it to a 
level of guidance which, rather than being classed as informal, carries more significant 
weight as a “material consideration” in planning decisions. 
 

Page 6



3 
 

The County Council follows a set protocol when approving SPG documents.  This includes 
a six-week period of public consultation on the Draft SPG.  Before going to out to 
consultation, each Draft SPG must be approved by the County Council’s internal LDP 
Working Group.  The  Working Group will consider the Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn 
Working Draft Place Plan at their December meeting (to be held 10th December 2020).  If 
agreed by the Working Group, the Draft Place Plan SPG will be consulted upon during 
January-February 2021. 
 
The Consultation Stage 
 
Although the Place Plan has been subject to much consultation and involvement in and 
around Newtown, it is expected that Powys County Council’s consultation will reach a wider 
audience, further helping to publicise and raise awareness of the document before it 
becomes adopted SPG. 
 
Following the usual practice for SPG preparation, all representations will be considered by 
the Planning Policy section of the County Council and in this case,  fully discussed with the 
Newtown Town Council Project Team, before recommendations are made for any changes 
to the Draft SPG Document.  Changes will need to be agreed between both the Town 
Council and the County Council Officers and approved by the relevant Council members 
before they are finalised in a Final Place Plan/Final Adopted SPG.  
 
The County Council supports the Town Council aim to have the Place Plan fully 
implemented by 1 April 2021. 
 
Note for LDP Working Group Members: 
 
The Draft Place Plan circulated with the agenda is subject to ongoing final revision which 
will be undertaken before the meeting on 10th December.  If there are any significant 
changes these will reported verbally at the Working Group meeting. 
 
This summary document will be updated after 10th December to make it suitable to go out 
to the public with the Draft SPG. 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



NEWTOWN & LLANLLWCHAIARN

DRAFT PLACE PLAN
V 3.2 DECEMBER 2020 

CYNLLUN LLEY DRENEWYDD A LLANLLWCHAEARN

EIN TREF, EIN CYNLLUN!
NEWTOWN & LLANLLWCHAIARN PLACE PLAN

OUR TOWN, OUR PLAN!

P
age 9



2

Contents
Foreword        3

Thanks        6

Introduction	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 7

Your Place Plan       13

Place Plan Boundaries      14

Links to other plans       15

How did we get here?      17

Community Involvement      18

Delivering Well-being      21

Newtown’s well-being objectives    22

Vision         24

Place	Plan	Themes	&	Objectives	 	 	 	 	 25

How do the topics link?      26

How do Place Plan policies link to the LDP policies?  27

The role of the Town Council     28

Inclusive access principles      29

Newtown: A great place to live, learn & work   30

1.1  Character & Heritage     31

1.2  Housing & Future Development    38

1.3  Community Facilities     43

1.4  Business, Learning & Employment    48

1.5  Health & Wellbeing      53

1.6  A safe & tidy town      58

Green Newtown       63

2.1  Open Spaces       64

2.2 Active Travel & Transport     69

2.3  Climate Change & Biodiversity    75

Destination	Newtown	 	 	 	 	 	 80

3.1  Town Centre Experience     81

3.2  Tourism, Culture & Attractions    86

The next Local Development Plan     92

References        94

List of Appendices (links)      96

P
age 10



3

Foreword
I am pleased to introduce the Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Place Plan. 

Newtown has not been short of plans for its future.  The Development Board for Rural Wales in the 1970s and 
1980s shaped the town that we live in now.  A succession of Local Development Plans since then established land 
use plans that are still current and influence current developments. These plans, drawn up by professionals in their 
fields, were strategic, top down and followed strict planning processes.

This Place Plan however is the first that comes from the people of Newtown.  It has been brought together not by 
just consultation but by the town residents, businesses and organisations being fully involved in its production and 
its ideas. 

I very much hope that it will be instrumental in helping the town grow and develop in a way that its residents wish.  
It is interesting to note that residents are not seeking to restrict growth as may be the case in some areas, but are 
instead seeking changes that are sympathetic to Newtown’s place as an employment and trading centre rooted to 
its unique position in Mid Wales.

The plan has already provided evidence to attract investment into the town.  I hope and indeed expect that this will 
be a continuing and welcome result of its production.

I thank all those who have been involved in its production, in particular Cllr Richard Edwards and Sorelle White 
from Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Town Council who led the process and without whose dedication this plan 
would just have been an unfulfilled “good idea”.

More than anything, I look forward to Place Plan’s ideas, and aspirations leading the development of our town for 
many years ahead.

Cllr David Selby
Mayor of Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn 

Cllr. David Selby
Mayor

P
age 11



4

When I first heard of the idea of Place Plans I thought this could be a useful tool for our community, to be used 
as a way to plan for and help shape the future of Newtown. There have been many plans for Newtown over the 
years and I have heard time and again from residents how, for example financial security, feeling safe, physical and 
mental wellbeing and being able to get out and about, are important to them and the community.  It is easy to fall 
into the trap of thinking that because we feel we have no influence in particular areas of life in our communities  
we should not get involved in the very thing that would allow us such influence in the future. Happily this has 
not been the case here; over the 18 months of the consultation - listening to the residents’ ideas and comments 
regarding Newtown - we had 48 local organisations contribute and over 7,000 comments received from individuals 
within the community.  This really is “Our Town, Our Plan”.

Our plan will also fit in with and influence other plans in both Powys and Wales-wide using a bottom up 
community-led approach, working both regionally within Powys and at a strategic level for Wales as a whole. We 
must also look to the next Powys Local Development Plan and help shape that much more than our community 
has previously done. Will it make a difference? I believe so; from speaking to many residents it is plain that we 
want a town and community that is prosperous and resilient, to be a good place to live, raise our families and allow 
Newtown to develop in a way that is sustainable.
We started work on the Place Plan long before we had all unfortunately become familiar with Covid-19. Covid 
has thrown up new problems to solve, but it has also accelerated the change that was already taking place in 
Newtown, especially in the town centre.

A lesson from history shows that we have always been good at reinventing Newtown, be it with the first Newtown 
established in 13th Century, the coming of the canal and flannel and textile industry, the regeneration starting in 
the 1970s, and more recently with the new by-pass. Now it is necessary to do so again, looking to the trends of the 
21st century; developing our town in a  sustainable way that will promote, not hinder, economic development, but 
accepting the challenges and rising to them. 

And with this Plan we have built up policies, projects and an evidence base that can be used by local government, 
private businesses, organisations and individuals to plan projects and seek inward investment for Newtown. Of 
course it won’t solve every problem, but it does suggest a way forward helping us to create a town where people 
want to live, work and visit.

Cllr Richard Edwards
Lead Councillor, Place Plan.

Cllr Richard Edwards
Lead Councillor, 

Place Plan

P
age 12



5

On behalf of the officers of the council may I welcome you to the first Place Plan for the community of 
Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn – indeed the first Place Plan to be adopted by the Powys Planning Authority.

With the backing of the community, the town council and the county council, the Plan is born of the 
community’s own ideas and priorities for its own future.  It is a product of the largest public participation 
exercise of recent years, and one cannot fail to be impressed by the enthusiasm and efforts of everyone 
who took part and embraced the idea of ‘Our Town, Our Plan’.

Though starting out as something concerned only with land use and the built environment, the Plan has 
an expanded scope, taking in ‘health, wealth, and wellbeing’ so that it reflects the community’s wider 
aspirations and intentions.  Throughout the process the community has developed a sense of place and 
provided evidence of its own depth and breadth of community assets.

Looking forward, the Place Plan also provides a foundation for forming a Town Partnership of the Private-
Public-Voluntary sectors in Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn – one which can influence far greater than each 
alone.

I would like to thank the town council officers for their dedication, commitment and sheer hard work 
which sometimes went well beyond day to day expectations.  I also thank the town councillors for their 
support and patience during the preparations, the county council for its co-funding and professional 
advice, and Planning Aid Wales and Place Studio, for their expert support and guidance. Most significantly, 
it being a community-led plan, I acknowledge the members of the public and the business, voluntary and 
public sector organisations who have contributed to the work.   To all of them I say thank you for making 
the work of the councillor and staff team more interesting, fulfilling, far-reaching, and I hope effective.

I hope you find it interesting, empowering, and useful.
E J Humphreys
Town Clerk

EJ Humphreys
Town Clerk

P
age 13



6

Place Plan produced by:
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Town Council
Brisco House, The Cross, Broad Street, Newtown, Powys, SY16 2BB 
01686 625544
enquiries@newtown.org.uk 

Publication date: to be added

Access digital copies of the plan and supporting evidence at:
www.newtown.org.uk
 
Supported by: Powys County Council
Consultants: Planning Aid Wales and Place Studio

Thanks to:
• The people of Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn
• Stakeholder organisations (see list of organisations in “Community Involvement” section)
• Volunteers who contributed significant time collecting evidence
• The Place Plan consultants 
• Powys CC, Planning Policy Team 
• Powys CC, Regeneration Team
• Town Council Councillors & Officers
• The Newtown Community Action Plan Team
 
Images / Credits:
Photos: Saul Barclay, Tara Davies, Dragon UAV, Russ Edwards, Newtown & District Civic Society, 
Open Newtown, Sorelle White 
(Reference Numbers To Be Added)
Clock Tower Logo: Georgia Williams

Thanks

P
age 14



7

Introduction
ABOUT NEWTOWN & LLANLLWCHAIARN

Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn is 
located in the county of Powys, 
within the historic boundary of 
Montgomeryshire, and on the 
picturesque upper reaches of the 
River Severn. It comprises two 
settlements: the larger market 
town of Newtown and the smaller 
settlement of Llanllwchaiarn. The 
combined population is 11,357 1. 

Founded by Edward I in 1297 as an 
administrative centre with Charter 
Market status and designated a 
new town in 1967, Newtown may 
be Britain’s oldest “new” town! 
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn benefits 
from location and size – on the 
junction of east-west / north-south 
road and rail links, and the largest 
town in Powys.

The community is an industrious 
one. The town grew strongly with the 
expansion of the woollen industry 
in the early 19th century. It was an 
international hub for the flannel 
industry. 

The old Flannel Exchange survives 
to this day as an entertainment 
venue. Social reformer and industrial 
pioneer Robert Owen was born in 
Newtown in 1771 and left to seek his 
fortune ten years later. He returned 
to the town shortly before his death 
on November 17th 1858. Owen’s 
ideas have had worldwide influence 
and became the cornerstone of 
the international co-operative 
movement. There is a museum 
dedicated to Owen’s memory in the 
town centre.  

Newtown is also famous for the birth 
of the mail order retail business 
which local entrepreneur Pryce Jones 
started in the mid nineteenth century 
by dispatching goods to Britain and 
Europe from Newtown. His Royal 
Welsh Warehouse still dominates the 
townscape. Amongst his customers 
were Queen Victoria and Florence 
Nightingale. It is believed that parcel 
post in Britain was started as a result 
of a suggestion made by Pryce Jones 
to the Postmaster General.

P
age 15



8

Aspects of Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn celebrated by the community in the Public Survey

The town’s connection with the 
textile industry was revived in the 
20th century when businesswoman 
Laura Ashley established her home 
furnishing and clothing company in 
the area. 

Today’s Newtown is an attractive 
town, set against the backdrop of 
the beautiful Severn Valley featuring 
historic buildings, the river Severn, 
ancient monuments, abundant green 
spaces, theatre and entertainment 
venues, museums, a renowned art 
gallery, local sports facilities, the 
Severn Way and other walks. It is 
twinned with Les Herbiers in France. 2 

P
age 16



9

KEY DATA FOR NEWTOWN WITH WALES COMPARISON 3

P
age 17



10

P
age 18



11

A WORLD CHANGED BY COVID-19

“The crisis has drawn into sharp focus the importance of the communities in which we live and the essential services and 
infrastructure we rely on. Access to green spaces, the importance of local shops, the reliance on digital connectivity, the ability to work 
at home for those who can and to walk and cycle to work for those who can’t have caused us all to reflect on the things we really 
value about where we live.”  Julie James, Minister for Housing and Local Government, July 2020

Much of the consultation and drafting for the Place Plan was carried out before the impact Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020. The 
full impact of the virus is yet to be understood, but the crisis has been felt here in Newtown and around the world, by us all: families, 
workers, care providers, businesses and the vulnerable. Many aspects of our lives and plans have altered dramatically in our new 
post-Covid-19 landscape. In addition to the challenges, there has also been some positive change in the way people live and work 
and benefits for the environment. Further details of the impact of Covid-19 in Powys, can be found in the topic chapters.

In Town Planning terms, Covid-19-recovery efforts are currently focused on protecting and expanding our public spaces, rethinking 
the scale and design of pavements, open spaces and community facilities such as libraries and meeting spaces.

Welsh Government planning priorities for recovery going forward include: 
New and improved low carbon council and social housing; investment in local town centres; protection and enhancement of natural 
resources and investment in active travel. 4 

“This is a once-in-a-generation opportunity for us to reset the clock and think again about the places we want to live, work and play 
in. We need to rebuild a greener, cleaner society with decarbonisation and social justice at its heart which respects our environment, 
whilst giving people good places to live in, which are accessible on foot, bike and public transport”. 5

It is likely that some of the policies and projects in the Place Plan will need to be tailored and re-prioritised to match a new way of 
life now and in the future.  For example, where one talks about events, one needs to consider alternative ways of hosting them.  
There have already been changes to Newtown’s town centre streets to allow more space for people to pass safely and for businesses 
to make use of outside space.  There has also been an increase in the numbers of people walking and cycling, so the quality of our 
footpaths & cycleways takes on a new importance. When reading the plan, the reader is asked to assume that policies, projects and 
actions will align with the latest legislation and government guidance, in order to keep the town thriving and the community as safe 
as possible.
 

P
age 19



12
Powys County Council (2020), Understanding the Impact of Covid-19 in Powys (English version) https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE  6

P
age 20



13

Your Place Plan
PURPOSE & BENEFITS OF THE PLAN

Place Plans are a mechanism 
introduced by Welsh Government for 
communities to engage creatively 
with the planning process and for 
planners to support in place-making 
initiatives with local people. 7 

They give communities more of a 
say in local planning decisions and 
the development of their local area.
 
To devise the Newtown & 
Llanllwchaiarn Place Plan, the Town 
Council worked with the community, 
to gather views and evidence 
on several topics suggested by 
the community.  With the help 
of planning experts, the Town 
Council identified ways in which 
both council and community could 
address those issues together, 
through making policies and setting 
out projects and actions for the next 
15 years.

The Place Plan will:

• Influence future planning decisions in the town.

• Identify priorities for investment 

• Create a body of evidence that can be drawn on to attract investment into the town 

• Direct the future work of organisations in the town, including the Town Council.

Influencing Future Planning Decisions

The Place Plan will be submitted 
to the Planning Authority (Powys 
County Council) for adoption as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
(SPG).  SPG provides “detailed 
planning guidance for policies 
and proposals in the adopted 

The views of the Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn community 
are at thecore of the Place Plan.

Every policy & project in the plan is based on suggestions from the community.
“Our Town, Our Plan”.

Our Town, Our Plan.

Powys Local Development Plan. 
Once approved, these will become 
material planning considerations 
in the determination of planning 
applications." 8  So, the Place Plan, 
as SPG, will provide the County 
Council with a more detailed 

understanding of Newtown & 
Llanllwchaiarn, on which to base its 
planning decisions. 

The Place Plan can also help to 
influence the development of future 
Local Development Plans.

760 hrs
Estimated hours contributed 

by the community to the 
preparation of this plan

P
age 21



14

Place Plan Boundaries
The Place Plan covers the Community of 
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn, as indicated on 
the map.

There are 5 electoral wards in Newtown 
&Llanllwchaiarn:
Newtown & Llanllwchairn North
Newtown & Llanllwchairn West
Newtown Central 
Newtown East
Newtown South

Many statistics including census data, are 
based on geographical boundaries called 
Middle Layer Super Output Areas (MSOAs) 
and Lower Layer Super Output Areas 
(LSOAs):

As illustrated in the map in the Appendix, 2 
MSOAs cover the Place Plan area:
Newtown North-East
Newtown South-West

The LSOA areas correspond with the 
electoral wards. 

Map: Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Community Boundary, Local 
Settlement Boundary & Town Centre Boundary

P
age 22



15

Links to other plans
At NATIONAL LEVEL, Welsh 
Government issues national 
planning policy (currently Planning 
Policy Wales Edition 10 - [PPW]) 
and Future Wales – the National 
Plan 2040. (previously called the 
National Development Framework 
[NDF]). Sitting alongside these is the 
Wellbeing of Future Generations 
legislation, setting out the national 
7 Wellbeing Goals. 

Future Wales – the National Plan 
2040 is expected to be published 
in 2021.  In the draft document, 
Newtown is identified as a focus for 
growth as a “Regional Centre”:

The Welsh Government supports 
the role of the regional centres of 
Carmarthen, Llandrindod Wells, 
Newtown, Aberystwyth and the 
four Haven Towns (Milford Haven, 
Haverfordwest, Pembroke and 
Pembroke Dock). These places 
play important sub-regional roles, 
providing jobs; leisure and retail; 
education and health services; and 
connectivity infrastructure that is 
used and relied on by both their 
own populations and communities 

around them. It is important 
that these settlements maintain 
their regional role and support a 
managed growth approach that 
allows their roles to be enhanced. 

(from the National Development 
Framework consultation draft 10)

At COUNTY LEVEL sits Powys County 
Council’s Local Development Plan 
plus the Powys Wellbeing Plan 
and the North Powys Wellbeing 
Programme. As a larger council, 
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Town 
Council must by law, take all 
reasonable steps towards meeting 
the objectives in the Powys 
Wellbeing Plan and report annually 
on how it did so.

At TOWN LEVEL sits:

Town Council 5-Year Business Plan

In 2018, after consultation with 
the community, the Town Council 
published its first 5-Year Business 
Plan.  This sets out what the Town 
Council intends to do each year on 
a number of different themes, and 
the Council reports each year, on 
whether it met its objectives. When 

the current 5-year plan expires 
in 2023, it will be replaced by a 
subsequent 5-year plan, informed 
by the projects and actions in the 
Place Plan. The Place Plan differs 
from the Town Councils own 
business plan in two key ways:

•  it focusses on land use and 
is intended to be adopted as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
by the Planning Authority

•  it highlights issues and solutions 
that cannot be addressed solely 
by the Town Council and which 
will require partnership working to 
deliver.

Newtown Community Action Plan 
(NCAP)ww

In December 2015, a Newtown 
Community Action Plan (NCAP) 
was published by a group of 
organisations, businesses and 

individuals under the sponsorship of 
Powys County Council.  It was based 
on extensive consultation with the 
public on their priorities and set out 
what various parties in the town 
could do between 2016-20.  The 
Town Council delivered on several 
of the NCAP actions and details of 
this work can be found in the Town 
Council’s Annual Report 2018/19.

In many ways, the Place Plan 
follows on from NCAP and the 
work of the “I Love Newtown” 
group, in consulting widely with 
the community, creating more 
up to date evidence of the needs 
and aspirations of the town and 
commencing in 2021, when NCAP 
comes to an end.

The National Planning Framework 9

 (Planning Policy Wales Edition 10, Welsh Government)

P
age 23



16

Newtown	&	Llanllwchaiarn	Place	Plan	-	Links	to	County	and	National	Planning	&	Well-being	Plans

Welsh Government:

Well-being of 
Future Generations Act

Welsh Government:

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10)

Future Wales - the National Plan 2040 (NDF)

Powys Public Service Board: 

Powys Well-being Plan

Regional Partnership Board: 

North Powys Well-being 
Programme

Powys County Council: 

Local Development Plan

Newtown & 
Llanllwchaiarn

Place Plan

Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn 
Town Council: 

Tourism Plan

Newtown Community 
Action Plan 

(Expires 2020)

Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn 
Town Council: 

5 Year Plan

P
age 24



17

How did we get here? Nov 2018: Project Start Jan 2019: Stakeholder Event

Jan - Sep 2019: Community EngagementDrop In EventsPublic Survey

Workshops Evidence	Collection Oct - Nov 2019: Stakeholder Evidence Review

Feb - Mar 2020: Stakeholder Review Dec	2019	-	Feb	2020:	Drafting

Jul	-	Dec	2020:	DraftingApr - Jun 2020: Project Paused Due to COVID-19 Response Work Dec	-	Jan	2021:	Public	Consultation

Spring	2021:	Adoption	&	Publication

Representatives from local organisations attend a first 
meeting to share their expertise and suggest what 
should be included in the Place Plan.
 

Further details of activities during the different 
stages of the process, can be found in the 
consultants reports in the “Supporting Evidence”.

Members of the public and stakeholder organisations share their local knowledge, 
ideas, concerns and aspirations at drop-in events, workshops and a survey.  In addition, 
volunteers go out and collect specific evidence relating to the topics (more details 
below).

Stakeholders organisations attend 3 meetings to review 
the gathered evidence and identify priorities for each 
topic for a first draft of the Place Plan. 

A first draft of the plan is produced in close consultation 
with Planning Aid Wales and the Powys CC Planning 
Policy Team. 

Stakeholder organisations give feedback on a first draft 
of the Place Plan. 

Final draft of plan produced and submitted by the Town 
Council to Powys CC.

Powys CC issue the Place Plan for public consultation 
as Supplementary Planning Guidance. Comments are 
reviewed and appropriate revisions made.

Powys CC adopt the Place Plan as 
Supplementary Planning Guidance. The Town 
Council adopt and publish the Place Plan.

P
age 25



18

Community Involvement

events and 

stakeholder 

meetings

11
10

event 
    attendances321

106 survey 
responses

comments
received 

7,000

local Organisations 
involved

48P
age 26



19

The key principle of Place Plans is to put the 
community at the centre of the planning process. 
The community of Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn were 
involved from the very beginning of the 2-year 
process. Consultants, Place Studio, created an 
effective programme to engage local people.

How Did The Community Get Involved?
• 4 Public Drop in Sessions
• Public Survey
• 2 Youth Workshops
• Stakeholder Events & Meetings
• Volunteers collecting specific evidence 

Stakeholders: Shaping and Reviewing The Plan
• At the beginning of the project, over 80 local 

organisations were invited to contribute to the 
Place Plan. 47 organisations requested to join 
the mailing list of “stakeholders”.   Individuals 
representing 36 local organisations, then 
met at Newtown Football Club and laid the 
foundations for what should be in the Place Plan 
by suggesting issues that should be addressed. 
They also started to map out the different areas 
of the town. 

• Later, over several meetings, the stakeholders 
looked at the collated evidence and used their 
expertise to identify key points and proposals for 
addressing the issues raised.

• A first draft of the plan was sent to stakeholders 
in Feb 2019, to tell us if the information was 
accurate or had anything missing. 154 comments 
were returned. These were reviewed by The 
Town Council, Planning Aid Wales and the Powys 
CC Planning Policy team and revisions made to 
the draft plan. All the comments can be seen in 
the Supporting Evidence. 

Sharing Views and Information  
• Local people shared their opinions and 

knowledge at 4 drop-in sessions held between 
Mar and May 2019 at All Saint’s Church, 
Newtown High School, Treowen Hall and 
the Waggon & Horses. Interactive exercises 
included highlighting on large maps “the good, 
the bad and the ugly” aspects of the town. 
Views were also invited on open spaces, play 
areas, community facilities, housing, footpaths 
and aspects lacking from the neighbourhood.

• Over 80 young people took part in 2 separate 
workshops. Representatives from the school 
councils of 7 local primary and secondary 
schools informed us of the issues they felt were 
important.  Over 50 GCSE geography students 

shared their knowledge about footpaths, 
community facilities and open spaces and 
their aspirations for the town. 

• Drawing on all of the previous feedback, a 
community survey was drafted and open to 
the public from June to September 2019. 
The responses helped us gather more 
evidence for existing topics plus additional 
subjects such as wildlife, climate, health 
provision, safety. It also gave local people 
an opportunity to put forward community 
projects.

P
age 27



20

List	of	Organisations	Actively	Involved

The following organisations attended an event or meeting, collected evidence or submitted comments 
on a draft of the Place Plan:

Action For Children (Our Space)
Bike To The Future
Bryn Walking 
Business Improvement District
Celf Able
Chamber of Trade
Climate Action Newtown
Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust
Cultivate
Cwm Harry Land Trust
Dementia Friendly Newtown
Disability Powys 
Friends of the Earth Montgomeryshire
Hafren Cycling Club
Hafren Junior School 
Heritage Hub 4 Mid Wales
Hughes Architects
Maesyrhandir Primary School
Menter Iaith Maldwyn
Mid & North Wales Destination Network
Mid Wales Housing
Montgomery Canal Partnership
Morris, Marshall & Poole
Natural Resources Wales
Newtown & District Civic Society 
Newtown High School
Newtown Library
Newtown Rugby Club
Newtown Sports Clubs
Newtown Women’s Institute

Newtown Youth Club
Newydd Housing Association
Northside Residents Association
Open Newtown 
Oriel Davies Gallery
PAVO
Penygloddfa CP School
Ponthafren Association 
Powys CC, Active Travel
Powys CC, Children First 
Powys CC, Cllr David Selby
Powys CC, Cllr Joy Jones
Powys CC, Cllr Daniel Rowlands 
Powys CC, Education
Powys CC, Highways
Powys CC, Housing
Powys CC, Planning Policy
Powys CC, Regeneration
Powys Teaching Health Board
River Severn Custodians 
Russell George MS
SharEnergy
St Michaels School, Kerry
Theatr Hafren
Treowen CP School 
Wales Co-op
Walking Newtown

Gathering Specific “Field” Evidence
Volunteers were provided with questionnaires 
relating to specific topics in the plan and went out 
into the town to record detailed information. Types 
of information that was gathered by the volunteers 
included:
• Character Area Surveys (photos / observations of 
features of individual areas of the town)
• Footpaths and cycle paths audits
• Bike racks audit
• Green spaces and play areas audits
• Town centre accessibility survey
• Community Facilities surveys (a record of 
neighbourhood shops, schools, community halls, 
churches etc)

The Numbers!
No. of events Jan - Dec 2019   11
Additional meetings with stakeholders 10
No. of attendances at events   321
No. of responses to public survey  106
No. of organisations actively involved 48

No. of comments received (estimated): over  
       7,000  
            

Estimated hours contributed by the 
community:      760 

Plus Town Council / County Council Officers & 
Councillor time over 2 years.

P
age 28



21

Delivering Well-being
The	Well-being	of	Future	Generations	Act	2015	gives a legally-binding common 
purpose – the seven well-being goals – for national government, local government, 
local health boards and other specified public bodies. It details the ways in which 
these bodies must work, and work together, to improve the well-being of Wales.

Welsh Government’s latest Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 also places a strong 
focus on wellbeing. It makes it clear that the purpose of the planning system, 
including LDPs, is to manage the development and use of land in the public 
interest, contributing to improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, to accord with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015

In its Covid-19-related guidance for the planning system, Welsh Government 
identifies Local Development Plans as a crucial mechanism for support wellbeing in 
the future:

“The Covid-19 response means that we need to plan effectively for future crises 
and take a long-term view to improve health and well-being for all. In the planning 
system it is our local development plans (LDPs) which do this the best.”

P
age 29



22

Well-being In Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn

Each of the Place Plan policies and projects will contribute to the delivery of one or more of our well-being objectives.

The wellbeing objectives are set out below and align with those in the “Powys Wellbeing Plan”.  

Throughout the plan, the icons below will indicate which wellbeing objective(s) the policies and projects will support. 

Powys residents think of wellbeing as:
• Being healthy in both body and mind 
• Having financial security
• Feeling safe 
• Connecting with others 
• Being able to get out and about 
• Being able to take part in enjoyable activities

They say, the things that promote their wellbeing are:
• Access to their GP
• Local services like libraries, banks, chemists, leisure facilities, 

 good schools, local  shops and restaurants
• A good job, good housing, financial security
• Access to nature and community groups and activities
• Support for the vulnerable 11

P
age 30



23

Local	Objectives	from
 ‘Towards 2040, the Powys Well-being Plan’, 

- applied to Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn

Town	Council	5	Year	Plan
2018-2023 Topic Areas

Place Plan – 2021-2036 Topic Areas

People in Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn will experience a 
stable and thriving economy

Prosperous, Resilient, Healthier, More equal, Cohesive 
Communities, Language and Culture

Town Centre
Visitors & Marketing
Culture Arts & Events
After The Bypass 

Character & Heritage 
Housing and Future Development
Community Facilities
Business, Learning & Employment 
Town Centre Experience
Tourism, Culture & Attractions

People in Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn will enjoy a 
sustainable and productive environment

Prosperous, Resilient, Healthier, Cohesive Communities, 
Language and Culture, Globally responsible

Green Spaces and the Environment
Residential Areas
Visitors & Marketing
Young People 
Culture, Arts and Events 
After the By-Pass 
Sport and Recreation

Character & Heritage
Housing and Future Development 
Health and Well Being
A Safe & Tidy Town 
Open spaces 
Active Travel
Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Town Centre Experience
Tourism, Culture & Attractions

People in Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn will be healthy, 
socially motivated and responsible

Prosperous, Healthier, More equal, Cohesive 
Communities, Globally responsible

Town Centre
Young People
Heritage 
Culture, Arts and Events
Sport and Recreation

Community Facilities
Business, Learning & Employment 
Health and Well Being
Open spaces 
Active Travel
Climate Change and Biodiversity
Tourism, Culture & Attractions

People in Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn will be connected 
by strong communities and a vibrant culture

Prosperous, Resilient, More equal, Cohesive 
Communities, Language and Culture.

Residential Areas
Visitors & Marketing
Young People
Heritage
Culture, Arts and Events
Sport and Recreation

Character & Heritage 
Housing and Future Development
Community Facilities
Business, Learning & Employment 
Open spaces 
Town Centre Experience
Climate Change and Biodiversity
Tourism, Culture & Attractions

(Table showing how the Place Plan and the Town Council 5 Year Plan, align with the local objectives of the Powys Wellbeing Plan and the 7 national wellbeing goals.)

P
age 31



24

Vision
By 2036 in Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn…

The town has attracted further significant financial investment and has developed as a “Regional Centre” as identified in the 
Welsh Government’s Future Wales – the National Plan 2040, with adequate infrastructure to host major services such as the 
North Powys Wellbeing programme.

People continue to feel safe in the town and proud of the level of cleanliness. Residential areas are attractive places to live 
with with opportunities to play, relax, and socialise. People of all ages enjoy a range of all-weather / year-round sports and 
recreational activities.

Residents have increased local access to a wider range of health services and access to adequate opportunities and facilities 
to lead active, healthy lives and feel involved in their local communities, including community halls, neighbourhood shops and 
spaces for young people to meet.  

A mix of new housing is developed to meet demand with consideration given to developing new areas between the existing 
development boundary and the bypass. 

Businesses are supported to provide more sustainable employment opportunities. Private and public sector employers 
continue to work with education and training providers to produce a skilled local workforce. 

Private, public and voluntary sector organisations are working in partnership for the benefit of the town.

Transport infrastructure and services balance the needs of both the economy & environment. 

P
age 32



25

A great place to live, learn & work

Place	Plan	Themes	&	Objectives

Green Newtown

Destination Newtown

1.1 Character & Heritage
1.2 Housing and Future Development
1.3	 Community	Facilities	
 (community centres, youth centres, libraries, leisure centres, public swimming pools, indoor recreational facilities, museums, art 
 galleries, theatres, places of worship, colleges, schools, hospitals, surgeries, emergency service stations, courts & neighbourhood shops)
1.4 Business, Learning & Employment
1.5	 Health	and	Well-being

2.1 Open spaces (includes play areas, outdoor sports facilities & allotments)
2.2	 Active	Travel	(walking and cycling) & Transport
2.3 Climate Change and Biodiversity  

3.1 Town Centre Experience (Shops, services, accessibility, pedestrian signage)
3.2	 Tourism,	Culture	&	Attractions

P
age 33



26

How do the topics link?
As expected, the topics in the Place Plan are interlinked and their contents cross reference. At one of the stakeholder meetings we asked those 
assembled, to tell us how much each topic related to the others. Their responses are set out in the diagram below:

P
age 34



27

How do Place Plan policies link to the LDP policies?
One of the main purposes of a Place 
Plan is to add an additional layer of 
local knowledge, to the planning 
authority’s Local Development 
Plan. We have indicated in each of 
the topic chapters, the relevant, 
corresponding policies in the Powys 
Local Development Plan (LDP). Full 
descriptions of the corresponding 
Powys LDP policies can be seen in 
the “Supporting Evidence”

The Planning Policy team at 
Powys County Council have been 
closely involved throughout the 
development of the Place Plan. 
They have contributed a significant 
number of hours work over the 
2 years, giving specialist advice, 
attending stakeholder events, 
scrutinising the contents of each 
draft of the plan and giving detailed 
advice on how the Place Plan 
policies can best align with the 
policies in the Powys LDP.

The intention is for the Newtown 
& Llanllwchaiaran Place Plan to 
be adopted by Powys County 
Council as Supplementary Planning 
Guidance to the Powys LDP.  

It is important therefore, that the 
contents of the Place Plan do not 
contradict or over-ride what is 
written in the Powys LDP. Some 
ideas, proposals and views raised 
by the Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn 
community, do indeed fall outside 
of the remit of the current Powys 
LDP. 

Where this is the case, these items 
have been included in a separate 
chapter entitled “The Next Local 
Development Plan”. These items will 
be put forward for consideration 
to Powys County Council, for when 
they start the review process for the 
next LDP.

P
age 35



28

The role of the Town Council
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Town 
Council is the lead organisation 
producing the Place Plan. While the 
Town Council has an elected role 
and democratic mandate to lead 
in the community, the contents of 
the plan are based on the views 
and aspirations of the whole 
community. In this way it hopes that 
the Place Plan belongs to the wider 
community. “Our Town, Our Plan”.

The Town Council will share the role 
of delivering on the plan, with many 
other organisations in the town.
 
Town & Community Councils are 
limited in the specific things they 
can do. They have duties (things 
they must do) and powers (things 
they may do) set out in law. A local 
council must not do anything unless 
it has a legal power to do so.  If it 
acts outside the list of its duties and 
powers (even if it would be popular 
with the community) the Town 
Council could be challenged for 
acting beyond its powers.

Local councils have four basic roles…

Town Council’s Role: Planning 
Policies
The Town Council is consulted 
on each planning application in 
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn by the 
local planning authority (Powys 
County Council), before they make 
their decision. 

The Town Council will use the 
Planning Policies in this document 
(representing the community’s 
wishes), when responding to each 
of these consultations. 

Town Council’s Role: Projects & 
Actions

Within the limits of its legal duties 
and powers, The Town Council 
commits to either: 
• Delivering projects and actions 

(D) or 
• Enabling others to deliver 

projects and actions (through a 
grant for example) (E) or

• Influencing others to deliver 
projects and actions (I)

as marked in the individual Projects 
& Actions details.

Source: Independent Review Panel 2018

Town Council Increased Powers

At the time of publication, the Town 
Council does not have the powers 
required to deliver some of the 
Projects / Actions denoted with (D). 
However, it is expected that this will 
be remedied by 2022, when new 
legislation is expected to allow the 
Town Council to have enhanced 
powers through the introduction 
of the new “General Power of 
Competence”. 

P
age 36



29

Inclusive access principles
The Powys Local Development Plan refers to accessibility in terms of access to services and open space, and supports accessible design of 
developments.  LDP policy DM13 (7) requires proposed developments to be ‘inclusive to all, making full provision for people with disabilities’.  

The intention with the Place Plan policies and projects, is to strive towards the broadest possible definitions of access and inclusion, not limited to 
disabled access. For example, Place Plan community evidence highlighted the needs of the elderly, people living with dementia and those with sensory 
loss.

In 2010, Disability Wales’s Welsh Government funded, “Way To Go” project worked to equip planning officers, and disability and access organisations, 
with the practical tools to work together to ensure a fully inclusive built environment in Wales. Their definition of “Inclusive access”, is one that the 
Place Plan aligns with: 

“Inclusive access ensures that everyone can get to, into and around developments, and take part in activities and services provided. ‘Everyone’ includes 
parents with buggies, older people, people with less than perfect sight, less than perfect hearing, less than perfect mobility or less than perfect 
understanding of the world around them." 12

P
age 37



30

Newtown:
A great place to live, 
learn & work

P
age 38



31

1.1  Character & Heritage
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
Newtown is rich with industrial heritage, 
distinctive architecture and blessed with 
beautiful natural surroundings. These 
features make the town unique and 
enjoyable for residents and visitors alike.

Key Facts
Green spaces and trees are key features 
in many areas of the town and views out 
to the valley sides, are noted frequently.

Architecture is varied and reflective of 
the various eras and stages of the town’s 
growth, but commonality in materials 
is noted across the various styles.  St 
Mary's Church in the town centre is the 
one surviving medieval building. There 
are a number of timber framed buildings 
in the town centre, such as The Buck 
and The Bank. Several buildings such as 
the Black Boy have older internal cores 
hidden by their Georgian or Victorian 
frontages. Newtown is also home to 
three structures by innovative architect, 
Thomas Penson – St David’s Church, The 
Flannel Exchange, and the Long Bridge. 
Other buildings of note include the Royal 
Welsh Warehouse, Brisco House and the 
iconic Town Clock.

Newtown has two designated 
conservation areas: Town Centre and 
Penygloddfa and 206 Listed Buildings.  
(see Appendix for map & Supporting 
Evidence for a list of the buildings). 
Scheduled monuments in the town 
include the prehistoric Bryn Bank 
Hillfort and two medieval mottes: one in 
the town park and the other at the Gro 
to the east of the town. 

The area has been home to several 
social and industrial pioneers:

• Laura Ashley (1925 – 1985) - textile, 
home furnishing and fashion 
pioneer and significant rural 
employer.

• Robert Owen (1771-1858) 
philanthropic social entrepreneur, 
education reformer and creative of 
international significance.

• David Davies (1818-1890) - 
coal & railway pioneer, and his 
philanthropic family - Lord Davies; 
Gwendoline & Margaret Davies.

• Pryce Pryce-Jones (1834-1920)- 
pioneer of international mail order 
and home shopping, purportedly 
the initiator of Royal Mail Parcel 
Post and inventor of the modern 
sleeping bag.

P
age 39



32

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
New information has been collated 
for the Place Plan. The community 
identified 16 distinct areas of the town 
(See Appendix for maps)

1. Town Centre
2. Canal Area
3. Llanllwchaiarn
4. Riverside
5. Vastre & Dyffryn Industrial   
 Estate
6. Barnfields & Bryn Lane
7. Penygloddfa
8. Milford Road
9. Vaynor
10. College & Mochdre    
 Industrial Estate
11. Maesyrhandir / Maesydail
12. Llanidloes Road Area
13. Garth Owen
14. The Station & New Road
15. Trehafren
16. Treowen

Character Surveys
Detailed survey forms and photos have 
been collated for 10 of the 16 areas 
(Areas 1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12 & 14. 
See Supporting Evidence). Newtown 
& District Civic Society generously 
adapted their previous work to provide 
character area surveys for 5 areas: 
Town Centre, Canal Area, Penygloddfa, 
Milford Rd and The Station & New Rd. 

Vacant Buildings
The Town Council researched the 
following key vacant buildings in 
the town and wrote to their owners 
in August 2019, enquiring about 
intentions for the buildings and inviting 
dialogue. One reply was received 
regarding the Old Fire Station:
• St David's Church
• Bethel Chapel
• United Reform Church
• Old Fire Station
• The Grapes
• No.2 Commercial St.
• Former Flannel Factory, Bryn Street

(see Appendix: Vacant Buildings & 
Buildings At Risk Audit)
The audit confirms:
• Owner(s) details (removed for data 

protection), 
• if the building is listed or in a 

conservation area, 
• if the building is on the “listed 

buildings at risk register 2014”

A green infrastructure project is 
currently underway in the town, 
delivered in partnership by Powys CC 
and the Town Council and supported 
by Welsh Government funding. The 
focus is on rejuvenating four areas: 
Back Lane and High Street junction, 
High Street, Severn Square, and Gas 
Street Car Park. 

P
age 40



33

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Strategic Policy SP7 - Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 

Assets
• LDP Policy DM13 - Design and Resources
• LDP Appendix 6 - Historic Environment Information  
• LDP Draft Conservation Areas SPG 

Other Relevant Documents 
• Newtown & District Civic Society (2018), Explore Newtown – The Historic Town Centre - Buildings and Character 
• Newtown & District Civic Society (2013), The Canal Area Character Appraisal
• Canal & River Trust / Montgomery Canal Partnership (2016), The Montgomery Canal: Regeneration through Sustainable Restoration
• Heritage Hub 4 Mid Wales (2019) Powys Pioneers Digital Heritage Feasibility Study
• Welsh Government (2007), Manual For Streets

New Place Plan Evidence
• Map: Conservation Area and Listed Buildings - Penygloddfa
• Map: Conservation Area and Listed Buildings - Town Centre
• List of Listed Buildings in Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn
• List of Buildings of Significance To The Community
• Character Area Surveys (Town Centre, Canal Area, Llanllwchaiarn, Vastre 

& Dyfffryn, Barnfields / Bryn Lane, Penygloddfa, Milford Rd, College & 
Mochdre Ind Est, Llanidloes Rd, Station & New Rd.)

• Powys County Council Residential Design Guide (Newtown Appraisal) 
• TAN 24
• The Historic Environment (Wales) Act 2016, 
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10) – Chapter 6
• Welsh Government/CADW best practice guidance

• Map: Character Areas
• Map: Character Areas - Development Types
• Character Surveys Overview
• Vacant Buildings And Buildings At Risk
• Community Comments: Character & Heritage

P
age 41



34

What did you tell us? 

P
age 42



35

How Will We Address The Issues?

Character & Heritage Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? (where applicable):

CH-a All new development and redevelopment within Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn 
should contribute positively to the character & local distinctiveness of the 
character area, as mapped and described in the evidence (Map: Character 
Areas - Development Types in Appendix X and Character Area Surveys in 
Supporting Evidence)

Areas	of	the	town	as	identified	by	stakeholders	and	shown	on	
Map: Character Areas – Appendix x
(1) Town Centre, (2) Canal Area, (3) Llanllwchaiarn,
(4) Riverside, (5) Vastre & Dyffryn Industrial Estate,
(6) Barnfields & Bryn Lane, (7) Penygloddfa, (8) Milford Road, 
(9) Vaynor, (10) College & Mochdre Industrial Estate, (11) 
Maesyrhandir / Maesydail
(12) Llanidloes Road, (13) Garth Owen, (14) The Station and 
New Road, (15) Trehafren, (16) Treowen

CH-b Development proposals within Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn’s Town Centre 
and Penygloddfa Conservation Areas and developments that affect the towns 
listed buildings and their settings, must show how they enhance and preserve 
the characteristics and special qualities that make up their architectural and 
historic character.

Town Centre and Penygloddfa Conservation Areas
The towns Grade II and Grade II* listed buildings (see 
Supporting Evidence)

CH-c Other areas of local heritage importance together with buildings or structures 
that are unlisted local heritage assets as defined in the evidence should 
demonstrate what consideration has been given to retaining:
the asset itself;
the positive elements of its setting and immediate surrounds; and,
the contribution the asset and its setting makes to the character of the local 
area (whether in the Conservation Area or not).

See Appendix: Buildings of Significance To The Community

CH-d Developments that facilitate the appropriate re-use of vacant / underused 
buildings associated with the heritage of Newtown will be supported where:
They are designed to complement and/or enhance the character of the 
building, but also taking into account any listed building or conservation area 
requirements that may be associated with them

Including: St David’s Church, New Rd; Bethel Chapel, New Rd
United Reform Church, Church St; Old Fire Station, New Rd; 
The Grapes, Commercial St; No.2 Commercial St.; Former 
Flannel Factory, Bryn Street

P
age 43



36

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? (where applicable):
CH-e Developments that protect or enhance the historic environment in Newtown 

and Llanllwchaiarn to support business growth and tourism will be supported.
CH-f Proposals for the repair and restoration of the Montgomery Canal that seek to 

minimise loss of the existing fabric together with compatible and alternative 
uses for associated historic buildings will be supported. (Canal policies and 
projects also feature in topics: Tourism, Health & Wellbeing & Climate & 
Biodiversity).

Character	&	Heritage	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

CH1 Identify partners & funding opportunities for projects which will conserve, improve, 
maintain and promote the character and history of:
• The Penygloddfa area (including the historic Crescent and adjacent roundabout)
• The area around Pryce Jones to include the station & St David’s Church
• Greening and tree planting in and around the bus station and car park (the site of the 

former Country Park)
• Greening of the area around the flats in St Mary’s Close
• Improvements to and potential uses for the alleyways leading off Broad Street
• Improvements to the architecturally significant buildings such as St David’s and The 

Flannel Exchange. 

L Town Council (D, E) PCC, Civic Society, 
Building owners, Cadw

CH2 Discuss with Powys CC and investigate additional funding for the repair & renovation of 
Long Bridge (links with Tourism policy & projects).

S Town Council (I), PCC

CH3 Discuss with Powys CC and investigate additional funding for the repair & renovation of 
Dolerw Bridge

 M Town Council (D, E), PCC

CH4 Identify partners & funding opportunities for “Discover Newtown” / projects to support, 
celebrate and showcase the architecture & heritage of the town.

S Town Council (D, E), Civic Society, 
Heritage Hub For Mid Wales, Cadw, 
CPAT, PCC

P
age 44



37

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

CH5 Install gateway signage at entrances to the town, to reflect the character & heritage. S Town Council (D, E), PCC
CH6 “Green” the town – through planting – street scene and entrance / gateway routes M Town Council (D, E), PCC, Open 

Newtown
CH7 Install improved signage to areas of interest M Town Council (D, E), PCC, Open 

Newtown
CH8 Develop projects relating to the 4 local pioneers: Laura Ashley, Robert Owen, David 

Davies and Pryce Pryce-Jones:
• Festival 2021 - an ambitious, year-long arts,
• culture and heritage festival tied to the 250th anniversary of Robert Owen’s birth and 

the 60th anniversary of the opening of Laura Ashley’s first shop;
• Digital projects to ensure the conservation of collections held in private ownership 

across Mid Wales.
• Promotional and educational awareness of the pioneers to develop their profile and 

impact on the future of Mid Wales, and to drive entrepreneurship.
• A permanent exhibition plus permanent object and archive store in Newtown.

M Heritage Hub For Mid Wales

CH9 Develop other events and attractions that celebrate local heritage & culture (wool, 
textiles etc)

M Town Council (E), Voluntary Sector / 
PAVO.

CH10 Identify partners & funding to implement solutions to key empty / run down buildings as 
identified in the Vacant Buildings Audit (In the Appendix)

L Town Council (D, I), PCC, building owners

CH12 Investigate partners willing to use the character work undertaken as a basis for 
preparing formal Conservation Area Character Appraisals along with Conservation Area 
Management Plans for the town’s Conservation Areas.  

L Civic Society

CH13 Investigate with Powys CC, the designation of the area around Pryce Jones to include the 
station & St David’s Church as a Conservation Area

L Town Council (D), PCC

CH14 Publication of a new book about Newtown, North of the River Severn (including the 
Penygloddfa area)

S Civic Society

P
age 45



38

1.2  Housing & Future Development
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
Housing development is needed 
to accommodate the growing 
and changing household needs of 
Powys and Newtown.  There is a 
particular need to consider affordable 
housing for our young people and 
accommodation for the elderly.

Key Facts
The draft NDF (2020 – 2040) (now 
known as Future Wales – the National 
Plan 2040) identifies Newtown as a 
Regional Centre to include housing as 
a growth area.

The Mid and West Wales region as 
identified by the Draft NDF notes 
that 23,400 additional homes are 
needed in the region until 2038 and 
over the initial five years (2018/19 
to 2022/23) 44% of the additional 
homes needed should be affordable 
homes. These estimates provide part 
of the evidence and context on which 
Housing Requirements for Strategic 
Development Plans can be based and 
should be considered at the regional 
scale. 

3 sites are identified in the LDP for 
housing: 

• P48 HA2 - Hendidley 15 units

• P48 HA3 South of Heol Treowen 
Extension 70 units

• P48 HA4 South of Heol Treowen / 
Great Brimmon 136 units

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
As of 24th June 2020, there were 407 
applicants on the Common Housing 
Register, seeking social rented 
accommodation in Newtown. This 
figure represents only applicants who 
have indicated Newtown as their first 
choice of location. 13

 
Two new developments of affordable 
housing for social rent by applicants 
on the common housing register are 
underway at:
•Former Bowling Green, Back Lane
•Former Red Dragon and Youth 
Centre Site, Plantation Lane, 
Maesyrhandir.

Land at the former Robert Owen 
House site is also secured for 
affordable housing.

Existing LDP Housing Allocations 
Of the sites that are already 
allocated for housing in the LDP, 
2 sites at Treowen HA3 & HA4, 
together form one of the largest 
sites in the LDP. The community 
are therefore, encouraged to 
develop a “site brief” for these 
sites.  A site brief  can put forward 
the community’s views on aspects 
such as the housing mix and 
density, housing style, layout and 
boundary treatment, landscaping, 
vehicular and pedestrian access, 
and open space provision.

Initial discussions took place about 
a site brief for the P48 HA3 & HA4 
allocations, at a Place Plan event 
in October, with stakeholders 
including representatives from the 
Treowen Community Hall. Their 
initial suggestions for the site (see 
Supporting Evidence) are included 
in Policy HF-b and the completion of 
the Site Brief is scheduled in Project 
HF1.  

P
age 46



39

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Strategic Policy SP1 - Housing Growth (pg33)
• LDP Strategic Policy SP3 - Affordable Housing Target
• LDP Strategic Policy SP5 - Settlement Hierarchy
• LDP Strategic Policy SP6 - Distribution of growth across the settlement hierarchy
• LDP Policy H1 - Housing development proposals
• LDP Policy H2 - Housing sites
• LDP Policy H3 - Housing Delivery
• LDP Policy H4 - Housing Density 
• LDP Policy H5 - Affordable Housing contributions
• LDP Policy H6 - Affordable Housing exception sites 
• LDP Policy H7 - Householder development
• Welsh Government: Draft National Development Framework
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

Other Relevant Documents 
• Welsh Government (forthcoming), Mid Wales Economic Strategy
• Growing Mid Wales Partnership (2019), Strategic Economic Priorities for the Mid Wales 

Region

New Place Plan Evidence
• Map: Housing Sites - Community Suggestions
• Housing Sites To Take Forward
• Housing Sites Suggestions - Full List
• Treowen HA3 & HA4 - Stakeholder Comments and Site Ideas
• Community Comments: Housing & Future Development

Suggested Housing Sites 
At 5 Place Plan community engagement 
events, members of the public were asked 
to suggest small sites that may be suitable 
for housing development. Each of these was 
reviewed by the Planning Policy team at Powys 
CC. The sites taken forward in the policies and 
projects section of the plan are listed in the 
Appendix. The full list of suggestions is in the 
Supporting Evidence.

The Impact of Covid-19
Figures for Powys in May 2020, showed a 
119% increase in homelessness, with further 
increases expected due to unemployment plus 
the lifting of restrictions on private landlords 
enforcing evictions. 6

P
age 47



40

What did you tell us? 

P
age 48



41

How Will We Address The Issues?
Housing & Future Development 
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. DRAFT POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS?
(where applicable):

HF-a The Place Plan supports the following key principles for new housing developments in Newtown and 
Llanllwchaiarn:
• An appropriate mix of housing types and tenures are encouraged to meet local needs 
• The delivery of affordable homes will be supported to meet the future needs of the town
• Provision to be made for the health and well-being of future residents such as play areas, cycle paths, 

open spaces and allotments where appropriate
• New development to have regard to the character and quality of the surrounding townscape and to 

reflect the existing form of development (See character area surveys – Supporting Evidence)
• High quality design is encouraged to enhance local character and distinctiveness
• High standards of energy efficiency and sustainable construction principles to be encouraged including 

green infrastructure such as electric hook up points where appropriate.

All locations including:
• Treowen housing allocation 

(P48 HA3 & HA4)
• Hendidley housing allocation 

(P48 HA2)
• Former Bowling Green, Back 

Lane
• Former Red Dragon and Youth 

Centre Site
• Former Robert Owen House 

site

HF-b For Powys LDP Allocations P48 HA3 and P48 HA4 (total 206 units), Treowen, the following specific criteria 
should be applied. It is noted that a Design Brief for Treowen is included in the Projects section of the Place 
Plan.

Key principles to include:
• Community engagement (eg the development of a design brief) is encouraged by the developer in 

advance of pre-application consultations. Community engagement in all stages of the design process 
would be desirable.

• A mix of housing to meet local needs, should be provided to cater for young and elderly people and a 
target of 20% affordable housing. Lifetime Homes Standards will be supported.

• Mixed use opportunities to be considered on site eg. Café, launderette, community hub
• Strong pedestrian, cycle and vehicular linkages should be made to the town centre including links to 

Newtown Bypass if appropriate
• Active Travel routes should connect to the town (see Place Plan topic 2.2)
• Development proposals should consider renewable energy sources and communal heating systems.
• New or improved community facilities will be encouraged in accordance with Place Plan Policy CF-c 

Treowen housing allocation (P48 
HA3 & HA4) (See Supporting 
Evidence: Stakeholder Comments 
and Site Ideas)

P
age 49



42

Housing	&	Future	Development	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

HF1 Consult community & prepare detailed site brief for LDP Housing Allocations HA3&4 at 
Treowen.

S Town Council (D), PCC

HF2 In line with LDP policy, where possible pursue change of use of vacant buildings or 
redevelopment of vacant sites, to residential or other appropriate uses. (See Appendix - 
Housing Sites To Take Forward & Map)

L Town Council (I), PCC, Building Owners

HF3 Support the community to develop design briefs for other existing housing allocations and 
pursue other potential small housing sites as identified in the Appendix - Housing Sites To 
Take Forward & Map. 

L Town Council (I), PCC

HF4 Identify partnership & funding opportunities to develop Community-led housing schemes. 
Seek advice from Wales Co-operative Centre.

M Town Council (E), Community sector

P
age 50



43

1.3  Community Facilities

Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
Access to the appropriate necessary 
facilities for day to day living is 
important for quality of life and 
maintaining one’s health and 
wellbeing through social interaction, 
access to food, learning and 
recreation.

Key Facts
Community facilities in all areas of 
the town were audited as part of the 
evidence gathered for Place Plan. The 
results were plotted on a map (see  
Appendix). 

Information was also gathered for 
several facilities regarding their 
condition, accessibility and usage. 
(see Supporting Evidence). 

Brief information was also gathered 
on three of the town’s community 
halls regarding their condition, 
accessibility and usage. A fourth 
hall is currently undergoing a major 
refurbishment.

At the drop-in events, the following 
facilities were identified by the 
community as “good”:
• Oriel Davies Gallery - regional / 

national importance 
• Community Centres / Halls across 

the town where various groups 
can meet / activities are hosted

• Allotment
• Hospital
• Schools / the College
• Theatre - regional / national 

importance 
• Leisure Centre
• Library
• Textile Museum
• Football Club
• Cinema
• Scout Hut
• Skate Park
• Cricket club & ground 
• Rugby club and grounds
• Tennis club and grounds
• Golf course

(community centres, youth centres, libraries, leisure centres, public swimming pools, other indoor recreational facilities, museums, art 
galleries, theatres, places of worship, colleges, schools, hospitals, surgeries, emergency service stations, courts plus neighbourhood shops.)

P
age 51



44

Key meeting places for young people 
were identified as:
• Football Club
• Leisure Centre
• Cinema
• Scout Hut
• Skate Park
• Many facilities - especially sports 

are run by volunteers

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
Some local neighbourhood facilities 
have been lost - the youth centre, the 
shop at Treowen, the closed pubs at 
Maesyrhandir and Heol Vaynor. 

There are currently 14 health service 
locations in the local area. There are 
issues with GP recruitment at the 
town’s medical practice. Proposals for 
the new health hub in the town are 
expected to incorporate alternative 
methods of healthcare delivery using 
new technologies and allow for 
services to be housed in one location.

A “school’s transformation” scheme 
is underway which may impact on 
the locations of schools. A new welsh 
medium school was constructed in 
recent years.

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)

• LDP Policy DM11 - Protection of Existing Community Facilities and 
Services
• LDP Policy C1 - Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation Facilities 
• LDP Policy DM12 - Development in Welsh speaking strongholds
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

Other Relevant Documents 
• Map: Community Facilities
• Community Facilities Surveys
• Community Comments: Community Facilities

Impact of Covid-19
Due to Covid-19 restrictions, the 
majority of community facilities, were 
forced to close their doors.
The government has recently 
announced a £26 million support 
package for the whole of Wales, 
intended to provide grants of £10,000 
to eligible small charities within 
retail, leisure and hospitality. Powys 
County Council will administrate the 
grants provision which it is hoped will 
support a wide range of organisations 
that up until now have not qualified 
for financial support including charity 
shops, sports clubs and community 
centres. 6

P
age 52



45

What did you tell us? 

P
age 53



46

How Will We Address The Issues?
Community	Facilities
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? 
(where applicable):

CF-a Where a continuing need is demonstrated, proposals that will result in the loss of existing 
community facilities will be strongly resisted, unless there is sufficient justification for the 
development, including the exploration of alternative solutions to keep and maintain the existing 
facility. 

Map identifies a range of existing facilities 
(Appendix)

CF-b Proposals that provide new community facilities or improve the quality, accessibility and 
connectivity of existing facilities will be supported.

CF-c New development proposals should be encouraged to provide community facilities and 
infrastructure onsite or contribute to the delivery of facilities and / or projects identified within 
this Place Plan, appropriate to the scale and location of the development.

Housing allocation at Treowen (P48 HA3 & 
HA4)

CF-d New developments that provide appropriate indoor facilities for young people will be strongly 
supported.

CF-e New community facilities will be supported provided that:
• They are located within / adjoining the settlement boundary
• They are accessible by public transport, walking and cycling and accessible to all
• There are opportunities to integrate services
• They would not have an adverse effect on residential amenity

• Settlement boundary map 
• Housing allocation at Treowen (P48 

HA3 & HA4)

P
age 54



47

Community	Facilities	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years to 
complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested 
Collaborators

CF1 Undertake further audit work to identify any issues or gaps in provision of community halls (are they 
accessible, of adequate quality and promoted sufficiently?)

S  Town Council (D)

CF2 If a need is highlighted through the audit work (project CF1), identify partners and funding to develop 
an accessible community centre, re-using an existing public building where possible.

M Town Council (E), PCC

CF3 Identify partners to review Place Plan evidence (see Community Comments in Supporting Evidence) 
and source funding (such as Participatory Budgeting Scheme, Flow & Town Council Community 
Grants) for:
improved activities for teens, including focus on skills development.
New activities for younger children; soft play etc.
(links with Projects CA1 & CA2)

S Town Council (E), PCC 
Youth Services, Open 
Newtown, Schools, 
College, Vol & Business 
Sector via Chamber 
of Trade / Chamber of 
Commerce . 

CF4 Increase promotion of existing activities and community venues. Investigate partners & funding to 
establish a central source of information for the town such as a Directory / What’s On listing (links 
with project HW3).

S Town Council (D,E), PCC 
Youth Services & 
Tourism, Voluntary 
Sector c/o PAVO, Magik 
Incorporated

CF5 Development of an Activity Hub at Trehafren Hill. A new start-up / expansion of an existing business, 
in the form of an Activity Centre, to complement nearby Mountain Bike Trail and BMX Pump Track 
facilities, with development of canoe and bike hire enterprises, along with coaching opportunities, 
climbing wall development, youth and family recreation, tourist destination, with refreshments and 
welfare facilities available on site, with a secure compound area for maintenance teams and a visitor 
car park

M Open Newtown and 
partners yet to be 
determined.

P
age 55



48

1.4  Business, Learning & Employment
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
A thriving economy is key to the 
prosperity of all towns and the 
wellbeing of its community. The 
Covid-19 pandemic has had a 
detrimental effect on jobs and 
businesses and there is an urgent 
need to focus on the economic 
recovery of the town.

Key Facts
Powys has very few large employers 
(i.e. businesses with 250+ employees) 
outside the public sector. The 
majority of businesses are small, 93% 
having less than 10 employees in 
2013 and there are many one person 
enterprises. Self-employment and 
part-time employment are also high. 
14

The Business Register and 
Employment Survey for 2012 
showed that excluding Agriculture, 
Forestry and Fishing, the three 
largest employment sectors in 
Powys by percentage of jobs were 
Health (16.4%), Retail (11.6%) and 
Manufacturing (10.6%). 

The public sector, comprising Health, 
Education, Public Administration 
and Defence is one of the largest 
employers and accounted for 34% of 
the employment. 14

In Powys there is a dominance of 
micro and small businesses and high 
levels of new business start-ups in 
the county. 14

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
many town centre businesses were 
concerned about the negative effects 
of the decline of the high street and 
competition. 

A Business Improvement District 
scheme was launched but was not 
progressed.

A need has been highlighted by public 
and voluntary sector organisations in 
the town for improved engagement 
with the business sector.

P
age 56



49

In 2018, £55 million of UK 
Government funding was 
confirmed towards a growth 
deal in the Mid Wales region. 
The Growing Mid Wales Board 
was established and a Strategic 
Economic Plan and Growth Deal 
Road Map has been drafted. It is 
hoped that a total investment of 
up to £165 million will be secured 
for the region. 

The Impact of Covid-19 
The pandemic has had a dramatic 
effect on the economy to date.  
The UK officially entered recession 
in August 2020, based on the 
announcement by the Office 
for National Statistics that the 
economy had fallen by a record 
20.4 per cent between April and 
June. 

The sectors hardest hit by the 
pandemic in towns in England and 
Wales are: Accommodation; Non-
food Retail; Pubs and Restaurants; 
and Arts and Leisure. 15

30% of workers in Newtown 
are employed in Wholesale, 
Retail, Hotels & Catering. 15 And 
Newtown has 50 businesses 
registered in the Arts, 
Entertainment and Recreation 

industry. 6

At September 2020, £5,469,150 in 
government grants had been issued 
to 453 businesses in the Newtown 
locality. 17  The government has 
also been subsidizing the salaries 
of 23% of workers in Powys.6  
Unemployment figures are set to 
increase as furlough schemes come 
to an end and employers assess the 
viability of their businesses. It is 
expected that there will be between 
7-25% fewer jobs in the local 
economy between 2020-2025. 6

As you would expect of the county’s 
largest town, Newtown area has 
the highest number of new benefits 
claimants in Powys but other towns 
have a higher percentage increase.6 
Several hundred jobs have also 
recently been lost due to the closure 
of the Laura Ashley business.

The timeline for economic recovery 
is uncertain as it depends on the 
persistence of Covid-19 during 
the months and years ahead. It is 
estimated that while several sectors 
will make a 100% recovery within 
5 years, those most at risk sectors 
may only see a 50% recovery in that 
time. 18 In August 2020, Powys County 
Council set out its commitment 
to supporting local retailers and 

businesses and developing “new look” 
town centres in its plan 
#SupportLocalPowys with safe and 
resilient towns:

By working with businesses and local 
town and community councils, the aim 
will be to open up space for people 
to enjoy and improve the retail and 
social experience for shoppers and 
encouraging visitors to stay longer. 19

One of the positive outcomes for 
some employers and employees is the 
increase in home-working and ability 
to undertake business effectively 
online. The crisis could also be used as 
an opportunity to kick-start the green 

economy in order to reverse the 
effects of climate change. 

The Impact of Covid-19 on Learning 
There has been a great deal of 
disruption to children and young 
people’s education and training: 
the closure of schools and colleges, 
the move to online learning, the 
cancellation of exams and last-
minute changes of policy on awarding 
grades. There is still much uncertainty 
around the future of education, 
training and how this will affect the 
labour markets.20

P
age 57



50

Brexit
The UK left the European Union on 31st January 
2020, at the time of writing, negotiations are 
still underway regarding future trade deals 
between the UK and Europe ahead of the end 
of the transition period on 31st December 2020

The impact of Brexit is currently uncertain but it 
will likely impact in the following areas:

• Impact on Public Services will depend on 
a number of factors, such as: the amount 
of tax revenue and borrowed funds the UK 
government has to spend and migration of 
overseas workers for example, from health 
and social care sectors.

• Trade - 40% of Welsh exports go to the EU 
and many jobs depend on those exports.

• Loss of funding: Wales receives substantially 
more EU funding per head than other UK 
countries: £628 per person, compared 
to England £102 per person: farming 
subsidies of over £350 million per year 
and £1.9 billion of EU structural funds 
between 2014-2020. Also funds from the 
European Investment Bank, which have 
subsidised projects in Powys such as road 
upgrades. Much will depend on whether 
the UK Government decides to make up 
any funding shortfall to Wales. Negotiations 
between the UK and Welsh governments 
about future funding will be key. 21

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Vision
• Strategic Policy SP2 - Employment Growth 
• LDP Policy DM11 - Protection of existing community facilities and services
• LDP Policy DM16 - Protection of existing employment sites 
• LDP Policy E1 - Employment Proposals on allocated employment sites 
• LDP Policy E2 - Employment proposals on non-allocated employment sites 
• LDP Policy E4 - Safeguarding employment sites
• LDP Policy E7 - Homeworking 
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

Other Relevant Documents 
• Business Improvement District Survey Responses
• Powys CC (2020) COVID-19 Powys industries impact and recovery estimates
• Powys CC (2020), #SupportLocalPowys with safe and resilient towns
• Powys CC (2016) Powys Employment Needs Assessment (including Newtown Site Inventory)
• Powys CC (forthcoming) Employment Land and Premises Review
• Powys CC (2011, updated 2015) Economic Needs Assessment Study
• Edge Foundation (2020). The Impact of Covid-19 on Education: evidence on the early impacts 

of lockdown.
• Welsh Government (forthcoming), Mid Wales Economic Strategy
• Growing Mid Wales Partnership (2019), Strategic Economic Priorities for the Mid Wales 

Region
• Marches Local Economic Partnership & Welsh Government (2018) The Marches & Mid Wales 

Freight Strategy
• Federation of Small Businesses (2018) The Future of Town In Wales

New Place Plan Evidence
• Community Comments: Business, Learning & Employment 

P
age 58



51

What did you tell us? 

P
age 59



52

How Will We Address The Issues?
Business, Learning & Employment     
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. PLANNING POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? 
(where applicable)

BL-a The expansion of Newtown’s existing employment sites, the development of new local employment 
opportunities and homeworking will be supported by the Place Plan provided they:
• Are in accordance with LDP Policy E2.
• Give priority to the re-use of brownfield sites, or the conversion of existing buildings
• Are of a scale appropriate to the immediate surroundings
• Do not have a detrimental impact on surrounding residential amenity
• Do not lead to the loss of public open space
• Are located close to existing highways and do not have an unacceptable impact on traffic.

BL-b The Place Plan supports proposals for the conversion of existing buildings for the provision of start-up incubator 
businesses providing they do not have a detrimental impact on residential amenity.

Business,	Learning	&	Employment	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years to 
complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested 
Collaborators

BL1 Identify partners & funding to explore collaboration opportunities 
and further development of business incubator and conferencing 
facilities in the town

L Town Council (E), Business Sector via Chamber of Trade 
/ Chamber of Commerce / Mid Wales Manufacturing / 
Federation of Small Businesses, PCC

BL2 Explore the feasibility of a town partnership between the business, 
public and voluntary sectors in the town, in order to support the 
economy & environment for example via tourism and climate change 
initiatives

S Town Council (D,E), Business Sector via Chamber of Trade 
/ Chamber of Commerce / Mid Wales Manufacturing / 
Federation of Small Businesses / Public / Voluntary Sector / 
PAVO

BL3 Liaise with Welsh Government and Powys CC about provision for 
“bypassed communities”, in order to invest in improved signage on 
the bypass, bringing people to destinations in Newtown. 

S Town Council (I), Welsh Government, PCC, Business Sector 
via Chamber of Trade / Chamber of Commerce / Mid Wales 
Manufacturing / Federation of Small Businesses

P
age 60



53

1.5  Health & Wellbeing
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
Health and wellbeing are central 
to everyone’s quality of life. For 
the majority of us, the Covid-19 
pandemic has presented the most 
significant healthcare challenge that 
we have known in our lifetimes. How 
we will keep ourselves healthy, well 
and thriving post-Covid, is a vital 
topic for communities everywhere. 

Key Facts
Powys Teaching Health Board is 
responsible for meeting the health 
and wellbeing needs of the people of 
Newtown and Powys as a whole.
Due to the rural nature of the county, 
many services are provided locally 
through GPs and other primary care 
services, community hospitals and 
community services.

There is no District General Hospital 
in Powys, so these services are 
provided elsewhere out of county 
in Wales and England. The nearest 
District General Hospital for 
Newtown residents is the Royal 
Shrewsbury Hospital. 

After a lengthy NHS review of 
health services in Shropshire, 
Telford and Mid Wales (Future 
Fit), it was announced in Jan 2019 
that emergency hospital care for 
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn residents, 
would remain located at the Royal 
Shrewsbury Hospital.

It is well evidenced that the following 
have a key role to play in supporting 
the health and wellbeing of the 
community: Nature, Gardening, 
Open Spaces (including waterways), 
Arts & Culture and Sport. This topic 
therefore links with the following 
other topics in the plan: Open Spaces, 
Community Facilities, Active Travel, 
Culture & Attractions.

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
In recent years, the medical practice 
in Newtown has experienced 
challenges in recruiting GPs. With 
significant housing developments 
planned just outside the town 
boundary, there is a concern that 
health services in their current 

Source: Powys CC 22

P
age 61



54

form, will be oversubscribed. The 
community has a strong interest in 
long-term plans for a new health & 
wellbeing campus to be located in 
the town (North Powys Wellbeing 
Programme).

North Powys Wellbeing Programme

The North Powys Wellbeing 
Programme will deliver a significant 
change in the way health and care 
services are provided by promoting 
wellbeing, early help and support, and 
utilising social and green prescribing 
opportunities. The programme aims 
to encourage people to take greater 
responsibility for their health and 
wellbeing, and actively plan for their 
future health needs.

The project aims to:

• Enable citizens, staff and partners 
to be actively involved in the 
design and delivery of a new 
integrated model of health and 
care in north Powys.

• Improve equity of service to both 
urban and a rural population 
through integrated health and care 
pathways, including commissioned 
services from neighbouring 
counties. 

• Enable more people to live 
independently and remain at 

home safely through technology 
enabled independence and care; 
and more integrated working to 
prevent needs from escalating 
and immediate intervention at 
time of crisis.

• Ensure joined up care involving 
neighbourhood teams and 
communities working together 
so that citizens have a more 
seamless service when they need 
it.

In May 2019, the Powys Regional 
Partnership Board (PRPB) received 
£2.5m of funding from Welsh 
Government to invest in new ways 
of delivering health and social care 
services within north Powys.

As part of the Programme, a Multi-
agency Wellbeing Campus in the 
heart of Newtown, is proposed. 
The preferred site for the campus is 
adjacent to Park Street, Newtown. 
Services currently on the site include 
the Park Day Centre, Newtown 
Integrated Family Centre (formerly 
Ysgol Dafydd Llwyd) health services 
and two (soon to merge) primary 
schools, Ysgol Hafren and Ladywell 
Green. 

The campus could host a new state of 
the art Rural Regional Centre serving 
the North Powys catchment. This may 

offer pre and post-operative care, 
day case procedures, diagnostics 
outpatients and rehabilitation 
services plus primary education, 
social care and supported 
accommodation.

In addition, a separate Community 
Wellbeing Hub could be sited on 
the campus. A place where different 
local partners can provide services 
for the residents of Newtown & 
Llanllwchaiarn.23

 
The programme is still at visioning 
and planning stage but has the 
potential to create significant 
change not only in terms of health 
and social care but also jobs, 

infrastructure, visitor numbers, 
facilities and services in the town.

The Impact of Covid-19 
Between March and June 
2020, a significant number of 
Newtown residents received 
Welsh Government sponsored 
food parcels and requested help 
with food and basic needs. It 
is anticipated that a significant 
number of people will continue to 
need additional help with food and 
basic needs in the longer term, as 
the economic impact of Covid-19 
is felt and Welsh Government or 
Council support becomes less 
available.6

P
age 62



55

In immediate response to the pandemic, 
a group of Newtown organisations (Town 
Council, PAVO / Community Connectors, 
Ponthafren Association, The Salvation 
Army / Foodbank, All Saints Church) came 
together as “Newtown Network”, to respond 
to the wellbeing needs of residents as they 
arose. It supported the establishment of a 
network of over 100 informal volunteers, who 
provided help such as shopping, prescription 
collection and delivery of hot meals. A printed 
information directory was produced and 
delivered to every house in the town. 

It is expected that vulnerable people will 
continue to need additional support and the 
need for food banks will increase. Also the 
level of referrals to social care will increase.23

Newtown Network has been joined by 
Citizens Advice Powys and Powys County 
Council Families First and will continue 
to respond to ongoing needs caused by 
Covid-19 and the economic downturn.  It 
is currently formalising its membership, in 
order to continue its purpose of collaborating 
“to support the residents of Newtown and 
Llanllwchaiarn, Powys in various ways to have 
healthy and fulfilled lives.”

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Objective 16 – Community Well-being
• LDP Policy DM3 - Public Open Space
• LDP Policy W2 - Waste Management Proposals
• LDP Policy C1 - Community Facilities and Indoor Recreation Facilities
• LDP Policy DM1 - Planning Obligations
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

Other Relevant Documents 
• Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2017
• Welsh Government (2019), A Healthier Wales
• Powys CC Wellbeing Information Bank 
• Powys Public Service Board (2018) Towards 2040: Powys Well-being Plan
• Powys CC & Powys THB (2017), The Health & Care Strategy For Powys

New Place Plan Evidence
• Stakeholders Comments on the Health Hub
• Community Comments: Health and Well Being

P
age 63



56

What did you tell us? 

P
age 64



57

How Will We Address The Issues?

Health & Wellbeing Planning Policies
For policies relating to Health & Wellbeing, please refer to Community Facilities topic, which includes health centres.

Health	&	Wellbeing	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

HW1 Ensure that residents’ views collected for the Place Plan and relating to Health 
and Wellbeing, is shared with the North Powys Wellbeing Programme team. 
(See Community Comments and Stakeholders Comments on the Health Hub in 
Supporting Evidence)

S Town Council (D), Powys T Health Board

HW2 Strongly encourage the North Powys Wellbeing Programme team to continue to 
work with the local community on site design and other appropriate aspects of the 
proposed campus.

S Town Council (D), Powys T Health Board

HW3 Investigate partners & funding to establish a central source of information (such as 
a Directory / What’s On listing – ref project CF4) to promote engagement in sport, 
nature, creativity and social engagement as a means of keeping well.

S Town Council (D,E), Powys CC, Powys T Health 
Board, Open Newtown, Voluntary Sector C/o 
PAVO, Business Sector via Chamber of Trade / 
Chamber of Commerce  

HW4 Provide a “Changing Places” Toilet either as part of the new “Wellbeing Campus” or 
elsewhere in the town. 

M Town Council (I), Powys T Health Board / 
Accessibility Powys

HW5 Walking Newtown is promoting and seeking funding for a project to construct an 
accessible path up and around Trehafren Hill in conjunction with the already built 
cycle track.

S Walking Newtown

HW6 Continue joint working through the Newtown Network, “to support the residents 
of Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn, Powys in various ways to have healthy and fulfilled 
lives.”   

S Town Council (D), Powys CC, Ponthafren 
Association, PAVO, Salvation Army / Foodbank, 
All Saints Church, Citizens Advice

Other Projects / Actions that will contribute towards positive health & wellbeing are at CA4

P
age 65



58

1.6  A safe & tidy town
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
Attractiveness, cleanliness and 
safety are vital to people’s positive 
experience of living and working 
in and visiting the town. These key 
aspects have a profound effect 
on people’s community pride 
and wellbeing plus the economic 
prosperity of the town. Therefore, it 
is essential to get them right. Since 
the Covid-19 pandemic, safety in the 
town takes on an additional meaning 
and level of importance.

Key Facts

Safety

On the whole, residents feel safe in 
the town: Extremely or very safe: 
37.7%, Somewhat safe: 34.9%, 
Not so safe / not at all safe: 20.8%

Tidiness: 
In the public survey (106 responses) 
49.1% described the town as 
“Somewhat clean”, 8.5% as “Very 
clean”.

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?

Safety
There have been safety concerns 
following some violent attacks and an 
increase in drugs associated “county 
lines” activity in the town. Dyfed-
Powys Police have recently installed 
CCTV at key town centre points.

Tidiness
Several incidents reported of 
unattractive, overflowing bins in the 
town centre, particularly at weekends 
and bank holidays when high visitor 
numbers. The Town Council has been 
in discussion with Powys CC regarding 
a potential transfer of street cleaning 
services. The Town Council has 
written to the owners of key vacant 
buildings in the town to enquire 
about their status and future plans 
(see Appendix - Vacant Buildings & 
Buildings At Risk)

New Place Plan Evidence
• Community Comments: A Safe 

& Tidy Town

Crime and Anti-social Behaviour Incident (ASBs) numbers for Newtown for 
2019. 24

P
age 66



59

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Policy DM13 - Design and Resources
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

Other Relevant Documents 
• Powys CC (2020), #SupportLocalPowys with safe and 

resilient towns

New Place Plan Evidence
• Community Comments: A Safe & Tidy Town

The Impact of Covid-19
Safety in the town has taken on 
a critical significance during the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Changes to the 
way in which we navigate around 
the town centre are currently taking 
shape, allowing adequate space 
for pedestrians to move safely and 
maintain safe social distances.

In August 2020, Powys County 
Council shared their new approach 
for “safe and resilient towns” in its 
plan #SupportLocalPowys with safe 
and resilient towns:

With the support and financial 
backing from Welsh Government, 
Powys County Council will work 
with town and community councils, 
local businesses, chambers of trade 
and residents to design and install 
bespoke measures to create safe 
public areas for citizens to access 
freely and for businesses utilise to 
reopen and remain viable.

P
age 67



60

What did you tell us? 

P
age 68



61

How Will We Address The Issues?

A Safe & Tidy Town                                
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? (Where applicable)

ST-a Development proposals which deliver improvements to the public realm and enhance 
community safety within Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn, will be supported.

A	Safe	&	Tidy	Town	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

ST1 Address community concerns regarding lack of lighting and uneven paths, by working 
with PCC Officers to identify safety priorities, based on Place Plan evidence (see 
Supporting Evidence - Footpaths & Cycle Paths Audit Summary & Map)

S Town Council (I), PCC

ST2 Work with partners to consider undertaking community consultation on appropriate 
levels of street lighting.

M Town Council (E), PCC

ST3 Work with PCC Officers to consider improvements to road crossing facilities, including 
Canal Road and Milford Road by reviewing Place Plan evidence (see Supporting 
Evidence - Footpaths & Cycle Paths Audit Summary & Map)

M Town Council (I), PCC

ST4 Identify partners and funding to address litter and dog mess at identified “hot spots” in 
the town (see Supporting Evidence – Community Comments) Suggested ideas include 
“litter pick walks”.

M Town Council (I), PCC / Open Newtown / 
Keep Wales Tidy / Bryn Litter Pickers

P
age 69



62

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

ST5 Work with PCC’s Senior Waste Awareness and Enforcement Officer to consider the 
community’s concerns about unattractive “hot spots” such as fly-tipping and buildings 
/ structures needing maintenance, by reviewing the Place Plan evidence. (see 
Supporting Evidence – Community Comments)

M Town Council (I), PCC, Problem Properties 
Board

ST6 Identify partners and funding for schemes to reduce specific food litter in the town 
centre, open spaces and residential areas.

S Town Council (E), Food businesses / PCC / 
Open Newtown / Keep Wales Tidy / Bryn 
Litter Pickers

ST7 Identify partners and funding for promotional and educational schemes about keeping 
the town clean

S Town Council (E), PCC / Open Newtown 
/ Keep Wales Tidy / Schools / College / 
Library

ST8 Investigate transfer of “street scene” cleaning service from Powys CC to Town Council S Town Council (D), PCC
ST9 Create an overall “street scene” design for the town incorporating street furniture, 

planting etc
S Town Council (D), PCC

ST10 Work with PCC, Professional Lead - Trading Standards, Community Safety and 
Emergency Planning Officer to obtain information on forthcoming highways works in 
the town and share the information with the local community. 

S Town Council (D), PCC

P
age 70



63

Green Newtown

P
age 71



64

2.1  Open Spaces

Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
Newtown is fortunate to have many 
open spaces as well as the scenic River 
Severn running through its centre. 
These assets are greatly valued by local 
people and can contribute to a good 
quality of life, health and wellbeing as 
well as attracting visitors, to keep the 
economy thriving. Allotments have 
many benefits including local food 
production, contributing to health and 
wellbeing and tackling social isolation.

Key Facts
Newtown hosts a series of football, 
rugby and cricket pitches, tennis courts, 
a bowling green and an athletics track. 
There is a large amount of amenity, 
natural and semi-natural green space, 
plus a range of play areas. A detailed 
breakdown of the town’s open spaces 
can be found in Powys CC’s Open Space 
Assessment (2018). Figures from it show 
that:
• Newtown features over 3 times the 
recommended amount of informal open 
spaces such as parks and gardens and 
other green spaces. 
• 79% of people in the town live within 

the recommended distance of an 
equipped play area
• Less than half (44%) of the 
recommended amount of equipped 
play spaces are provided. 
• Just under 100% of the Newtown 
population live within the 
recommended 1.2km of an outdoor 
sports pitch. 
• There are 36 allotment plots, 
covering 0.99 hectares of allotment 
space and 25 people on a waiting list. 25

The 1969 Thorpe Report recommends 
a minimum allotment provision 
equivalent to 15 per 1,000 households. 
There are an additional 40 micro-
allotments at Cultivate Community 
Garden (equivalent to 1-2 full size 
allotments) – the site of which has 
doubled in the last 3 years.

Green spaces provide several 
important functions to society 
including:
• Supporting biodiversity
• Storing and removing carbon / 
reducing pollution
• Keeping soil healthy
• Reducing and preventing flooding / 
cleaning water

Includes: Public Parks & Gardens, Natural & Semi-Natural Green Spaces, Outdoor Sports Facilities, Amenity Green Space, Play Areas, and Allotments. 

P
age 72



65

• Connecting with nature / keeping 
us healthy and happy. 26

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
• In 2018, 130 acres of riverside 
land in Newtown, was transferred 
under a 99-year lease from Powys 
County Council, to the Town Council 
and then on to a social enterprise 
organisation, Open Newtown. This 
was one of the largest community 
asset transfers of amenity land in 
Wales. Open Newtown manage the 
land under contract. 
• Management of the volunteers 
who maintain local public rights of 
way will transfer from Powys County 
Council to the Town Council.
• The construction of a new 
destination playpark in the town 
park, has recently completed.
• The Town Council has entered 
discussions with Powys CC regarding 
the potential transfer of the 
allotment service. 

A new audit of Open Spaces in the 
town was undertaken as part of 
the Place Plan. Walking Newtown 
contributed a significant amount 
of time auditing on this topic. (see 
Appendix Sport & Play Facilities and 

Supporting Evidence Open Spaces 
& Play Areas Audits & Map).
• A range of spaces were 
identified, some very good and 
well used but some in need of 
maintenance and others unusable.
• There are many small play areas 
around the town especially within 
housing estates. Some of these 
no longer have play equipment on 
them.
• A possible lack of amenity green 
space is highlighted in south ward 
(areas 11 & 13).

The community evidence 
highlighted a list of open spaces 
that are of value to local people 
(see Appendix - Open Spaces of 
Importance To The Community)

The Impact of Covid-19
Some public open spaces are being 
reimagined and considered as 
locations for open air dining and 
safe socialising.

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Objective 14 – Healthy Lifestyles
• Strategic Policy SP7 - Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets
• LDP Policy DM1 - Planning obligations
• LDP Policy DM3 - Public Open Space 
• LDP Policy DM13 - Design and Resources
• LDP Open Space Assessment
• LDP Policy H3 - Housing Delivery 
• TAN16 - Sport, Recreation and Open Space
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

New Place Plan Evidence
• Map: Open Spaces & Play Areas Audit
• Open Space Audits
• Play Areas Audits
• Sport & Play Facilities
• Open Spaces of Importance To The Community
• Map: Suggested Sites For Next Open Space Assessment
• Community Comments: Open spaces

Other Relevant Documents 
• The Land Trust (2017), The Hidden Value of Our Green Spaces
• National Assembly (2010), Allotment Provision in Wales
• Welsh Government (2014), Consultation on improving the 

availability of allotments and community gardens
• Walking Newtown (2018), Proposals for an accessible walk and 

community space on Trehafren Hill

P
age 73



66

What did you tell us? 

P
age 74



67

How Will We Address The Issues?
Open Spaces
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? (where applicable):
OS-a Development that would result in the loss or affect the use of public open space 

will not be supported, unless there is sufficient justification for the development 
including acceptable mitigation of the loss/harm to the public open space. 

Locations as identified in LDP Open Space Assessment 
for Newtown. Also see project OS1.

OS-b Any new development that will result in the loss of existing allotments and 
community growing spaces will not be supported, unless there is sufficient 
justification for the development including the provision of equivalent or 
enhanced alternative spaces to compensate needs.

OS-c Developments that provide new or extensions to existing allotments / 
community growing spaces will be supported

OS-d Proposals that provide new or improved play areas or sports facilities where 
required will be supported.

Play areas map

OS-e Where Section 106 contributions are secured from developments towards open 
space, the Place Plan evidence will be used to inform decisions as to where and 
how monies are spent’ (see Supporting Evidence Open Spaces & Play Areas 
Audits & Map)

P
age 75



68

Open	Spaces	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

OS1 Review the Place Plan evidence for green spaces suggested for protection (see Next LDP 
section) and submit these for consideration into the next review of Powys CC’s “Open 
Space Assessment”

S Town Council (D), PCC

OS2 Projects to enhance the use of the river and open spaces balanced with allowing wildlife 
to flourish : 
a) More activity trails, marked out pitches and tracks for outdoor exercise, outdoor 
gymnasiums 
b) Improve vehicular access to Dolerw Park for events  
c) More leisure facilities by the river such as picnic benches, barbeque areas 
d) Retain natural wild areas for enjoyment, quiet & reflection

M Town Council (E), Open Newtown / 
Mont Wildlife Trust / Nat Resources 
Wales / Walking Newtown.

OS3 Use the Place Plan evidence (Supporting Evidence Open Spaces & Play Areas Audits & 
Map) to review the provision of small playparks (for example within the housing estates 
& Penygloddfa) and prioritise Section 106 money for play areas where needed.

M P Town Council (D), CC

OS4 Encourage action on outstanding play area commitments (such as Woodland Way) S Town Council (I), PCC, Developers
OS5 Gather evidence of the local demand for allotments S Town Council (E), PCC , Open 

Newtown, Social Farms & Gardens
OS6 If demand exists Projects should seek to establish new allotments . M Town Council (D), PCC, Open 

Newtown, Cultivate
OS7 Seek to transfer allotment services from PCC to NLTC S Town Council (D), PCC
OS8 Identify partners and funding to develop a food strategy for the town M Town Council (E), PCC, Social Farms & 

Gardens, Cultivate, Open Newtown, 
Mid Wales Food & Land Trust, Urban 
Agriculture Consortium.

P
age 76



69

2.2 Active Travel & Transport

Why is this topic important to Newtown?
Active Travel means making journeys in ways that are 
physically active, such as walking or cycling rather than 
using motorised transport. An increase in walking/
cycling would improve residents’ health & wellbeing 
& community cohesion. Improvements to walk/cycle 
routes would encourage visitors and the use of local 
shops and services. A reduction in car use would lower 
harmful carbon emissions.

Key Facts
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Car Ownership Statistics1

% households with no car or van:  26.3%
% households with 1 car or van:  46.9%
% households with 2 or more cars or vans:  26.8%

• Respondents to a local survey in 2019, said they 
would increase their walking if they had better 
knowledge of walking routes, paths were better 
maintained, accessible and felt safe.27

• There are concerns around traffic congestion 
and parking at school run times. (Particularly 
Penygloddfa and Treowen). 

• Welsh Government plan to implement 20 mph as 
the default residential area speed limit, by 2023. 
Community engagement work is expected at the 
time of its introduction.

(Includes: Footpaths, cycle paths, public rights of way, parking)

3

P
age 77



70

• Students at Treowen School 
have carried out traffic survey as 
part of their curriculum work

• There is strong commitment 
from the community on 
this topic. Key stakeholder 
organisations (Walking 
Newtown, Open Newtown), 
have volunteered significant 
time to submit evidence to the 
Place Plan. They are keen to be 
engaged, share their knowledge 
and expertise and be involved in 
future decision-making.

The Impact of Covid-19

The lockdown restrictions have led 
to an increase in walking and cycling 
as people travelled short distances 
in their local area, for exercise or 
shopping. Powys CC has underlined 
their commitment to Active Travel:

“The coronavirus pandemic 
has shown that reduced traffic 
levels generally encourages and/
or facilitates opportunities for 
people to feel happier to cycle 
and walk within their local 
areas. By introducing cycle lanes, 
pedestrianised areas and allowing 
people to safely walk and cycle 
around our towns gives them the 
confidence to engage in healthier 
lifestyles choices and benefit from 
improved physical and mental 
wellbeing.” 28

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?

• Following the completion of 
Newtown Bypass, the de-trunking 
of the main A483 Pool Rd/ New 
Rd/ Llanidloes Rd will create more 
walking and cycling opportunities

• A re-configuration of schools 
programme is being undertaken by 
Powys CC, which may bring about a 
change in school locations / active 
travel routes

• Active Travel schemes and facilities 
planned for the town by Powys 
County Council, the Town Council 
and Open Newtown include:

○ a cycle hub, more cycle racks 
and repair station :

○ A new cycle/ pedestrian bridge 
downstream of the Cambrian Bridge

○ A new scheme to provide safer 
shared cycle and pedestrian access 
under Nantoer Bridge on Llanidloes 
Rd

• Community group “Walking 
Newtown” promote and maintain 
several walking routes in and 
around the town and host an annual 
walking / outdoor festival

• Footpaths and cycleways audit work 
began as part of the Place Plan 
evidence gathering

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Policy T1 - Travel, Traffic and Transport Infrastructure:
• LDP Policy TD1 - Tourism Development
• LDP Policy DM3 - Public open space:
• LDP Policy DM1 - Planning Obligations:
• LDP Policy DM13 - Design and Resources
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

New Place Plan Evidence
• Footpaths, Cycle Paths & Bike Rack Audit Map
• Footpaths & Cycle Paths Audit Summary
• Footpaths & Cycle paths Audits - original notes and maps
• Stakeholder Active Travel proposals
• Community Comments: Active Travel

Other Relevant Documents 
• Open Newtown (2019), “Newtown Walking Project” (Draft Report)
• River Severn Custodians (2014), Survey of River Users 
• The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013
• Welsh Government (2011), National Transport Plan
• Welsh Government (2010), Creating an Active Wales
• Information on the National Cycle Network Routes in Powys: www.

powys.gov.uk/en/roads-transport-and-parking/active-travel/ and 
www.sustrans.org.uk/wales/our-work-wales

• Powys CC (2016) Active Travel: Existing Route Map (ERM)
• Powys CC (2016) Active Travel: Integrated Network Map (INM)
• Powys CC Active Travel:  Draft programme of improvements work 

for Newtown (INM Scores)
• Powys CC Active Travel: Pedestrian footpath and cyclepath audit 

records

P
age 78



71

What did you tell us? 

P
age 79



72

How Will We Address The Issues?

Active	Travel	&	Transport																							
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? (Where applicable)

AT-a Any new development should incorporate pedestrian and cycle-way linkages between 
existing active travel routes, existing housing, public open space and local services.

● Treowen housing allocation (P48 HA3 & HA4)

AT-b Where funding and developer contributions can be sought, new pedestrian and cycle 
routes or improvements to existing networks should be provided, including appropriate 
signage

(various locations identified in Supporting Evidence: 
Footpaths & Cycle Paths Audit Summary & Map)

AT-c The Place Plan encourages the protection of informal pedestrian paths and shortcuts to 
ensure that they continue to provide alternative passable pedestrian routes.

As above

Active	Travel	&	Transport	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

AT1 Continue to work with the Active Travel department at Powys CC to develop the 
Active Travel network for Newtown. In particular consider the audit work and other 
Place Plan evidence submitted by the community, when identifying priorities for 
investment. (See Supporting Evidence: Stakeholder Active Travel Proposals and 
Footpaths & Cycle Paths Audit Summary & Map and Community Comments)

S Town Council (D), PCC

AT2 Continue the Place Plan footpath & cycle paths audit work. Prioritise locations 
already identified by the Active Travel Officer at Powys CC (e.g Barnfields)

M Town Council (E), PCC, Walking Newtown, 
Open Newtown, Bike To The Future

AT3 Set up a Newtown Active Travel working group, including community stakeholders 
and schools

S Town Council (E), PCC, Walking Newtown, 
Open Newtown, Bike To The Future, 
Schools, College

P
age 80



73

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

AT4 Encourage a feasibility study into additional active travel bridges: e.g: 
*  river crossing at the West end of the town 
* footbridge across the railway line – near fire Station to connect up the town 
* Trehafren fields to Dolerw park to make a circuit

M Town Council (D), PCC. Walking Newtown & 
River Severn Custodians as consultees.

AT5 Request a feasibility study into residents parking zones to address the parking issues 
in Crescent Street, Bryn Street, Commercial St.

M Town Council (D), PCC

AT6 Provision of cycling training such as Cycling Proficiency and other confidence building 
schemes.

S Schools, Open Newtown, Bike To The 
Future.

AT7 Encourage more walking and cycling by publicising the locations of routes and paths 
and providing free, led walks and cycle rides.

S Town Council (E), Walking Newtown, Open 
Newtown, Bike To The Future, Schools, 
College

AT8 Encourage a review of the community need (as identified in the Place Plan evidence - 
see AT1) for:
• ecologically sensitive improvements to lighting, 
• improved maintenance and reductions in overgrown greenery 
• improved signage on existing footpath and cycle routes

S Town Council (E), PCC, Natural Resources 
Wales, Walking Newtown, Housing 
Associations

AT9 Partnership working to maintain and improve existing paths & create more routes 
linking town centre to countryside walks including:
• Footpaths and walks to link in with the new footbridge to be built over the river 

and adjoining Pool Road
• A new shared use active travel route from the south side of Trehafren hill into 

town as well as an accessible path (see project HW5)
• Identifying the community’s priorities for work on the public rights of way 

network

L Town Council (E), PCC Active Travel,  
PCC  Countryside Services and Outdoor 
Recreation,  
Walking Newtown, Open Newtown , 
Natural Resources Wales,  
Hafren Dyfrdwy,  Canal & River Trust (where 
associated with the canal corridor),  
Housing Associations

P
age 81



74

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

AT10 Investigate the use of Definitive Map Modification Orders to protect informal paths, 
including those identified in the Place Plan evidence.

M Town Council (E), PCC, Walking Newtown

AT11 Improvements to access opportunities linked to the Montgomeryshire Canal: 
to secure funding for improvements to both the canal towpath itself, and to linking 
public rights of way. Including improved signage and interpretation, and improved 
infrastructure (links with Projects AT9 & T6).

M PCC Countryside Services and Outdoor 
Recreation team, PCC Active Travel, Canal 
and River Trust

AT12 Review the School Crossing patrols & consider the most appropriate locations with 
reference to schools re-configuration and the detrunking of the A483.

M Town Council (I), PCC

AT13 Identify partners and funding for community transport projects such as:
• car share schemes, 
• electric car & campervan pools, 
• communal school bus/bike, 
• car-free zones, 
• traffic free days, 
• walking bus for children, 
• cheaper public transport
• reduced cost parking for car-shares & electric vehicles
• Event planning which actively promotes use of public transport (links with Project 

CA4)

S Town Council (E), Voluntary, Business 
Sector via Chamber of Trade / Chamber 
of Commerce , Transport for Wales, PCC, 
Schools, College, Newtown Climate Action 
Group, Open Newtown

AT14 Request improvements to public transport links in order to reduce car use (e.g 
reinstatement of the currently disused bus stop at train station)

M Town Council (I), PCC, Transport for Wales, 
Shrewsbury to Aberystwyth Rail Passengers 
Association, Shrewsbury to Aberystwyth 
Railway Liaison Committee, Cambrian 
Railway Partnership.

P
age 82



75

2.3  Climate Change & Biodiversity
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
With the impending global risks that 
climate change brings, this topic is 
of importance to all towns and cities 
and Newtown would like to play its 
part in reversing the damage for the 
benefit of future generations.

Biodiversity means the diversity 
of living organisms. It is important 
because it underpins the health and 
resilience of all of our ecosystems. In 
turn, these support all life on Earth. 
Ecosystems that are more biodiverse 
tend to be more resilient and are 
better able to adapt to the pressures 
and changes we face, for example 
through the impacts of climate 
change.

Key Facts

Climate Change
Human activities are estimated to 
have caused approximately 1.0°C of 
global warming above pre- industrial 
levels, with a likely range of 0.8°C to 

1.2°C. Global warming 

is likely to reach 1.5°C between 
2030 and 2052 if it continues to 
increase at the current rate (IPCC 
Report). Left unaddressed, the rise 
in temperatures will lead to further 
damage including:
• Further extreme weather events 

(heat waves, wildfires, floods, 
droughts)

• Further melting of the ice caps 
& further sea level rise / coastal 
submersion

• Further habitat destruction, 
biodiversity loss, species 
extinction

• Increase in pollution
• Crop failures
• Human migration

The proximity of the River Severn to 
the town poses a significant long-
term flood risk, which is exacerbated 
by climate change. However, the 
existing flood defences, erected in 
1967, after the severe floods in 1960 
and 1964, reduce the flood risk in the 
town centre. 29

For a time, the levels of Nitrogen 
Oxide (NO2) on New Road, exceeded 
the objective level set out in the UK 
Air Quality Strategy. 
Following the designation of an Air 
Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
in 2007, the levels of Nitrogen 
Oxide fell, allowing the AQMA to be 
revoked in March 2017.14

Biodiversity
One in six species of wildlife, plants 
and fungi is at risk of disappearing 

from Wales. The “State of Nature” 
2019 report30  found that: 
• Of the 6,500 species found in 

Wales, 523 (8%) were threatened 
with extinction from Great Britain

• Out of 3,902 species assessed for 
their likelihood of disappearing 
from Wales 666 (17%) were 
threatened with extinction from 
Wales, with another 73 having 
been lost already.

P
age 83



76

The saving of the Red Kites 
from extinction in the 1980s is a 
conservation success story that still 
resonates with local people. The 
Powys County Council logo features 
a Red Kite and the birds are regularly 
spotted in the area.

Green Infrastructure refers to a 
network of multifunctional green 
spaces, bodies of water and 
routeways, urban and rural, that is 
capable of delivering a wide range 
of environmental and quality of life 
benefits for local communities and 
biodiversity.

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
There is now an obligation for Town 
Councils to report how they are 
addressing biodiversity objectives 
as set out in section 6 of the 
Environment Wales Act 2016

In May 2019 the Town Council 
approved a motion to declare a 
‘Climate Emergency’ (see Supporting 
Evidence), then in December 2019, 
it hosted a joint meeting with 
Montgomeryshire Friends of the 
Earth. A draft Climate Change Action 
Plan has been produced from that 
meeting. (see Supporting Evidence)

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Objective 4 – Climate Change and Flooding
• LDP Policy DM2 - The Natural Environment
• LDP Policy DM13 - Design and Resources
• LDP Policy RE1 - Renewable Energy (pg107 LDP)
• LDP Policy DM14 - Air Quality Management
• TAN15 – Flooding
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

New Place Plan Evidence
• Community Comments: Climate Change and Biodiversity

Other Relevant Documents 
• Town Council Climate Emergency Declaration
• Draft Newtown Climate Emergency Plan
• Powys CC: LDP Supplementary Planning Guidance: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
• Natural Resources Wales, Flood Risk Assessment Wales Map 
• State of Nature Partnership (2019), State of Nature Report
• Oxfordshire County Council et al (2012), Community & Parish Guide To Biodiversity
• Environment Wales Act (2016)
• National Transport Plan (2011)
• BBC (2019), Briefing: Energy
• Centre for Sustainable Energy (2020), Neighbourhood Planning In A Climate Emergency
• Government Business Website, www.governmentbusiness.co.uk (2019), The Race To Zero Carbon 
• SharEnergy (2017), Draft Report: Options For Land Based Community Energy Projects in Newtown
• Community Housing Cymru (2019), Better Homes, Better Wales, Better World

Impact of Covid-19
Recent UK wide lockdown restrictions 
caused a halt to many of our 
activities outside the home. This in 
turn, reduced the levels of airborne 
pollution. Although these levels 
are likely to increase again as more 
normal activities resume, the change 
in lifestyles such as more people 
working from home and walking and 
cycling, may have a longer lasting 
effect. 

P
age 84



77

What did you tell us? 

P
age 85



78

How Will We Address The Issues?

Climate Change & Biodiversity                      
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS?
(where applicable):

CC-a Any new development in Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn will only be supported where it can be 
reasonably argued that it will contribute towards the mitigation of the effects of climate change. 

CC-b Developments will be supported where they facilitate greater use of public transport and/or 
active travel.

CC-c Proposals that provide electric vehicle charging infrastructure will be supported.
CC-d New development proposals should take account of flood risk and be designed in accordance 

with the latest national and local guidance on development, flood risk, and sustainable land 
drainage.  Suitable new development and the re-use of buildings in flood risk areas of Newtown 
will be encouraged and supported provided flood risk issues are properly addressed. 

CC-e Development that will result in the creation of new Green Infrastructure (GI) and/or contribute 
to the protection, management, enhancement and connecting of existing GI and individual GI 
assets and priorities will be supported.

CC-f Any developments that would adversely affect the Montgomery Canal’s status as a Special Area 
of Conservation would not be supported.

CC-g Developments that prevent additional storm runoff into the river, will be supported.
CC-h Developments that include measures to achieve the supply of electricity and heat from 

renewable sources will be supported.

P
age 86



79

Climate	Change	&	Biodiversity	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

CC1 Identify partners and funding to develop community-led energy schemes M Town Council (E), Newtown Open Energy,  
Voluntary Sector / PAVO,  Newtown Climate 
Action Group, Community Energy Wales

CC2 Identify partners & funding for measures to reduce waste, conserve energy, 
reduce consumption and promote a circular economy including: 
• upcycling schemes, 
• repair cafe, 
• deposit schemes, 
• library of things, 
• low carbon food, 
• educational workshops.

S Town Council (E), Magik Incorprated, Circular 
Economy Mid Wales, Newtown Climate Action 
Group, Keep Wales Tidy.

CC3 Improve the town’s green infrastructure and biodiversity (more trees /shrubs 
/wild areas/patches of wildflowers/wildlife corridors/bird boxes/ rewilding of 
areas / tree planting on approaches into town)

M Town Council (D), PCC, Voluntary Sector / 
PAVO, Business Sector via Chamber of Trade 
/ Chamber of Commerce, Canal & River Trust 
(where related to the Montgomery Canal (or 
the former line of)), River Severn Custodians, 
Open Newtown

CC4 Discover & record new information about habitats and species throughout 
Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn area by hosting a “bioblitz” event

S Town Council (E), Montgomeryshire Wildlife 
Trust, River Severn Custodians, Open Newtown, 
Biodiversity Information System.

CC5 Support Climate Change & Biodiversity education projects. S Town Council (E), Montgomeryshire Wildlife 
Trust, River Severn Custodians, schools & 
college, Newtown Climate Action Group.

CC6 Contribute Place Plan evidence to PCC’s Green Infrastructure Assessment 
during the LDP review. 

S Town Council (D), PCC

P
age 87



80

Destination	Newtown

P
age 88



81

3.1  Town Centre Experience
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
What visitors experience when they 
visit the town centre is critical to their 
impression and enjoyment. Ensuring 
that they can find their way into 
the town centre and move around 
with ease in an environment that is 
engaging and prosperous, will lead to 
longer visits, return visits and word 
of mouth recommendations. This can 
enhance the economic prosperity of 
the town.

For people that live and work in 
the town, to be able to experience 
a thriving, well-functioning and 
maintained environment enhances 
quality of life, mood, health and 
wellbeing.  

Key Facts
The LDP identifies Newtown as an 
Area Retail Centre.

• The MHE (Management Horizons 
Europe Shopping Index 2008)  
ranks Newtown as the main 
centre in Powys

• Newtown serves the catchment 
of the North West of Powys

• Newtown has a key role for 
Convenience Shopping / 
Comparison Shopping / Services 
/ Entertainment / Community 
Facilities.31

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
Shopping
As in many towns, there was already 

a noticeable decline in prosperity 
of the high street. Several national 
chains and independent shops 
have closed.

Accessibility
A small consultation was 
undertaken in partnership with 
Celf-Able, regarding accessibility 
in the town centre. It identified 
the need for more and better 

disabled parking and access to town 
centre premises. It also highlighted 
the need for a more detailed audit to 
be carried out (“Accessibility Survey 
Responses” in Supporting Evidence).

A green infrastructure project 
is currently underway to make 
improvements to the town centre (as 
described in the Character & Heritage 
section).

P
age 89



82

Impact Of Covid-19
The pandemic has exacerbated the issue 
of too-quiet town centre streets and 
vacant premises. Local Development 
Orders are highlighted by Welsh 
Government as a potential means of 
changing use of town centre vacant 
properties to bring back vibrancy to the 
town centre.5 Welsh Government are 
also expected to offer some financial 
support to help town centres thrive. The 
first is a Strategic Sites Acquisition Fund, 
which will enable local authorities to 
acquire land and high street premises 
in local town centres, the second is 
a co-investment scheme, with local 
authorities, to enhance the attractiveness 
of town centres which may see increased 
footfall as a result of the increased 
propensity to work from home.4

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• Strategic Policy SP4 - Retail Growth
• LDP Objective Growth 1 - provide land for retail (pg 25)
• LDP Policy R1 - New Retail Development 
• LDP Policy R3 -Developments within town centre areas
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

Other Relevant Documents 
• Disability Wales (2010) Planning for Inclusive Access in Wales: Good Practice Guidance Toolkit
• Glasu (2012), Powys High Street Feasibility Study
• Nathaniel Litchfiled and Partners (2012), Powys Retail Study 
• Also see “Business” section.

New Place Plan Evidence
• Accessibility Survey Responses
• Community Comments: Town Centre Experience

P
age 90



83

What did you tell us? 

P
age 91



84

How Will We Address The Issues?
Town Centre Experience
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? (Where applicable)

TC-a Proposals that maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of 
Newtown Town Centre, will be supported.

Town Centre boundary

TC-b Development that encourages Town Centre shopping, services and 
employment facilities that are convenient, safe and accessible to all and 
meet the day to day needs of residents will be supported.

TC-c Improvements to the supply and quality of short and long stay car 
parking to support the Town Centre will be supported.

TC-d Proposals that result in improvements to the free flow of pedestrian, 
cycle and vehicular traffic in the Town will be supported.

● High Street, Broad Street, Shortbridge St, New Road

P
age 92



85

Town	Centre	Experience	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

TC1 Set up working group to develop & implement solutions to regenerate 
the high street (potentially via Town Partnership - see “Business” 
section)

S Town Council (E), PCC, Voluntary Sector / PAVO, Business 
Sector via Chamber of Trade / Chamber of Commerce 

TC2 Explore the feasibility and implement if appropriate, the full or part 
time pedestrianisation of parts of the town centre.

L Town Council (I), PCC, Voluntary Sector / PAVO, Business 
Sector via Chamber of Trade / Chamber of Commerce 

TC3 Improve the accessibility of the town centre by: 
* reviewing the Place Plan evidence (Accessibility Survey Responses) 
* carrying out a more detailed accessibility audit  
* undertaking necessary work to help improve access to the town’s 
facilities.

L Town Council (E), PCC, Accessibility Powys Voluntary 
Sector / PAVO, Business Sector via Chamber of Trade / 
Chamber of Commerce 

TC4 Create more safe town centre social spaces, street trees, seats, 
information boards, better links to green spaces

M Town Council (D,E), PCC

TC5 Audit the existing pedestrian signage on key routes into the town centre 
(see TC6), including reviewing existing Place Plan evidence 

S Town Council (D), PCC Highways, PCC Active Travel

TC6 Improvement of signage, attractiveness and connections on key 
pedestrian, cycle and public transport routes including:
The train station to the town centre
Back Lane Car Park to the town centre
Gravel car park to the town centre

S Town Council (D,I), PCC, Transport for Wales, Shrewsbury 
to Aberystwyth Rail Passengers Association, Shrewsbury 
to Aberystwyth Railway Liaison Committee, Cambrian 
Railway Partnership.

P
age 93



86

3.2  Tourism, Culture & Attractions
Why is this topic important to 
Newtown?
Tourism has been one of the 
largest employers, increasingly 
rivalling agriculture in its economic 
importance across the county 
economy. Culture and attractions 
are vital aspects of tourism, which 
supports the prosperity of the town. 
They also contribute to the quality of 
life for local people, with a positive 
impact on their health and wellbeing.

Key Facts
Tourism contributes £720 million in 
income per annum in Powys. 32

Visiting friends and family remains a 
key reason for trips within Mid Wales 
(16%, 2014-16), complemented by 
outdoor activities (12%) and taking 
part in sports (19%). 2.1 million, took 
part in sports in 2014-2016, making it 
the most popular activity undertaken 
on a Tourism Day visit to Mid Wales 
(compared to 3% in Wales overall).2

A high percentage of visitors to the 
current tourist information centre are 
not visiting Newtown necessarily as a 
destination, but are either: 

• passing through en route to or 
from perhaps the coast or 

• are staying in accommodation out 
of town and have some into town 
to explore. 

• a small number of coach parties 
stop of en route – seeing it as 
convenient stop off point due to 
the facilities (large car park, public 
conveniences, cafes etc.).2

Newtown specific data is expected in 
the near future.

Key attractions in the town include:
• Robert Owen Museum
• Textile Museum
• Hafren (Theatre)
• Oriel Davies Art Gallery
• Leisure Centre
• Historic urban architecture
• Over 20 published walking routes 

(Walking Newtown) 
• River Severn and Severn Way
• The Montgomery Canal 
• Open spaces / Dolerw Park
• Destination Playpark
• Skate Park
• Mountain bike trail
• BMX pump track 
• Bowling alley

“Newtown needs to keep itself alive by offering something 
different to attract more people into town”

P
age 94



87

• Miniature railway
• Glanhafren Market Hall
• Pwll Penarth nature reserve
• Town heritage trail
• Key events: Park Run, Carnival, 

Food Festival, Outdoor 
Festival, Fireworks display, 
Lights Switch on

• Newtown also provides a base 
to explore the surrounding 
countryside. 

What’s Been Happening 
Recently?
The opening of the Newtown 
bypass in 2019, has increased the 

need to address what the town has 
to offer visitors. 
In 2018, the Town Council consulted 
with local, regional and national 
tourism stakeholders including local 
businesses, Powys County Council 
Tourism, the Mid & North Wales 
Destination Network and Visit Wales, 
to produce a Tourism Plan “Finding 
A New Route” and associated Action 
Plan, which runs from 2019-2023. 
The plan’s progress is reviewed 
annually.

In October 2015 the Town Council 
resolved to work with the Canal and 

LDP Policies & Other Planning Guidance 
(see Supporting Evidence for full details)
• LDP Policy TD1
• LDP Policy TD3 
• Welsh Government: Planning Policy Wales (10)

New Place Plan Evidence
• Community Comments: Tourism, Culture & Attractions  

Other Relevant Documents 
• Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Town Council (2019), Finding A New 

Route & Action Plan
• Powys CC: LDP Supplementary Planning Guidance: Historic 

Environment
• Canal & River Trust / Montgomery Canal Partnership (2016), The 

Montgomery Canal: Regeneration through Sustainable Restoration
• Waterway Routes (2020), Extract from Cruising Map Montgomery 

Canal - Issue 103

River Trust, the Montgomery Canal 
Partnership and others to lobby 
for the restoration and re-watering 
of the Montgomery Canal to 
Newtown for navigable use. The 
line of the Canal including the dry 
bed and in-filled sections between 
Freestone Lock and the town is 
protected under LDP policy TD3 as 
identified on Inset Map P48F and 
Proposal Map PR08. 

Attractions that have been completed 
recently or are currently in 
development include:
• The destination playpark
• The mountain bike trail
• The BMX pump track
• The Riverside Venue (in 

development) 

P
age 95



88

What did you tell us? 

P
age 96



89

How Will We Address The Issues?
Tourism,	Culture	&	Attractions												
Planning Policies

The Town Council will use these Policies when responding to consultations about 
local planning applications. If adopted as Supplementary Planning Guidance they 
will also be used by Powys County Council when assessing planning applications. 

No. POLICIES SUGGESTED LOCATIONS? (where applicable):
T-a The Place Plan supports development proposals that actively encourage tourism 

within Newtown and Llanwchaiarn including: 
• Hotels and holiday rental accommodation (particularly where they re-use 

existing 
• buildings and cater for families). 
• Facilities that promote arts, culture and our industrial and Welsh heritage. 
• New venues that cater for music, events, sports & recreation
• New Tourist Information / Resource Centre (Riverside Venue).
• The sensitive repair, sustainable restoration and protection of the line of 

the Montgomery Canal back to the town (beyond Freestone Lock), which 
will help promote the canal as an important tourism asset and recreational 
route (multi-functional resource) (see Appendix - Map: Character Areas - 
Development Types)

• Sports & recreation equipment hire . 
• Better signposting for tourists to venues, open spaces and activities (See TC6).

CA-a Development which involves the loss of key attractions (see list) will not be 
supported unless the current or previous use is no longer viable demonstrated by 
financial and marketing evidence over a 6 month period.

Key attractions includes: Robert Owen Museum,
Textile Museum, Hafren (Theatre), Oriel Davies Art Gallery, 
Leisure Centre, Historic urban architecture, Over 20 
published walking routes (Walking Newtown), River Severn 
and Severn Way,  Canal route, Dolerw Park, Skate Park, 
Bowling alley, Miniature railway, Glanhafren Market Hall, 
Pwll Penarth nature reserve,Escape Rooms, 
BMX Pump Track, Mountain Bike Trail, Town Heritage 
trailsThe Riverside Venue (in development), Trehafren Hill 
Activity Hub (in development)

CA-b Developments that facilitate the provision of events and attractions in Newtown 
will be supported.

Key events:  Park Run, Carnival, Outdoor Festival, Food 
Festival, Fireworks display, Christmas Lights Switch on, 
Marching Bands Open Air Competition.

P
age 97



90

Tourism,	Culture	&	Attractions	Projects	/	Actions
Town Council’s role: (D) = Delivering, (E) = Enabling others to deliver and (I) = Influencing others to deliver.

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

T1 Establish a unique brand and identity for Newtown; “Discover Newtown”. S Town Council (D), PCC, Mid Wales Tourism
T2 Develop and promote a year-round calendar of events with indoor and 

outdoor activities:
• Incorporating and adding to the annual events listed in CA-b and 
• Working with partners listed in Project CA4.

M See Project CA4

T3 Identify partners and funding to support the enhancement of the 
accommodation offer in the town (see project BL2).

M Town Council (E), PCC, Tourism Businesses 

T4 Deliver actions in “Finding A New Route” tourism plan until 2024, review and 
update the plan.

M Town Council (D), PCC, Tourism Businesses, 
Voluntary Sector / PAVO.

T5 Progress with the next stages of the Town Council’s Project Initiation 
Document for restoration of the canal back to the town including:
• Install canoe access points
• Repairs to Dolfor Lock Hut 
• seeking partners and funding
• Carry out a feasibility study
• Identifying a suitable location for a new terminal basin
• If Restoration goes ahead, consider an iconic structure as a tourist 

attraction similar to the Falkirk wheel

L Town Council (D,E), Canal & River Trust, 
Montgomery Canal Partnership, Natural 
Resources Wales, Montgomery Waterway 
Restoration Trust, River Severn Custodians

T6 Identify partners and funding for improved signage from the town centre to 
the canal path and illustrated signs promoting the heritage, along the former 
route of the canal. (links with Project AT11).

S Civic Society, Canal & River Trust

P
age 98



91

No. PROJECT / ACTION Timescale 
No. of years 
to complete 
S - up to 3 
M - up to 7 
L - up to 15

Suggested Collaborators

T7 Development of an Activity Hub at Trehafren Hill. To complement nearby 
Mountain Bike Trail and BMX Pump Track facilities, with development of 
canoe and bike hire enterprises, along with coaching opportunities, climbing 
wall development, youth and family recreation, tourist destination, with 
refreshments and welfare facilities available on site, with a secure compound 
area for maintenance teams and a visitor car park.

M Open Newtown and partners yet to be 
determined.

CA1 Increase the range of attractions for teens / young people:  (zipline, 
trampoline park, water park, climbing walls) (see Supporting Evidence: 
Community Comments)

L Town Council (E), Business Sector via Chamber 
of Trade / Chamber of Commerce, Magik 
Incorporated, PCC, Voluntary Sector C/o PAVO

CA2 Improve  attractions for other age groups: 
(indoor soft / play centre, improved miniature railway etc.) (see Supporting 
Evidence: Community Comments)

M Town Council (E), Business Sector via Chamber 
of Trade / Chamber of Commerce, Magik 
Incorporated, PCC, Voluntary Sector C/o PAVO 

CA3 Develop more  all weather attractions, particularly those that make use of 
existing buildings. (see Supporting Evidence: Community Comments)

M Town Council (E), Business Sector via Chamber 
of Trade / Chamber of Commerce, Magik 
Incorporated, PCC, Voluntary Sector C/o PAVO

CA4 Increase the number and range of regular  events to facilitate use of the 
town, park, canal and river for locals and tourism - e.g cycling training /
racing, music / arts events (links with Project AT13). (see Supporting Evidence: 
Community Comments)

M Town Council (E), Open Newtown, Walking 
Newtown, River Severn Custodians, Welsh 
Cycling, Scouts, Newtown Paddlers, Oriel 
Davies, Newtown Garden Club, Rotary Club, 
Food Festival CIC, Newtown Carnival, Wales 
GB Rally, Silver Band, Gregynog Festival, Magik 
Incorporated, Alliance Theatre, Celf Your Health.

P
age 99



92

The next
Local
Development
Plan

P
age 100



93

The next Local Development Plan

1. Review of Town Boundary (size)
Consider increasing the size of the 
settlement boundary as befits the 
town’s proposed status as a “regional 
centre” in Welsh Government’s 
draft Future Wales – the National 
Plan 2040. Expansion is possible for 
example, where land exists between 
the current boundary & the new 
bypass road.

2. Town Centre and Housing
Consider means of permitting change 
of use to residential, for vacant 
town centre properties, in order to 
mitigate the effects of the decline in 
high street retail & the impact of the 
covid-19 pandemic.

3.Inclusivity & Accessibility
There is increasing acknowledgement 
in planning policy that the design 
of the built environment can have 
health impacts.  For instance, 
Planning Policy Wales now requires 
Health Impact Assessments to be 
carried out at the LDP stage, and 
therefore this will be required for the 
next LDP.  

Re. Accessibility - Consider a wider 
definition than the current LDP policy 
DM13 (7) which requires proposed 
developments to be ‘inclusive to all, 
making full provision for people with 
disabilities.  Consider inclusivity, not 
limited to the physically disabled. 
For example, the needs of the 
elderly, people living with dementia 
and those with sensory loss. There 
are opportunities to work on this 
with Dementia Friendly Groups and 
Accessibility Powys.

4. Energy
Request that new developments 
incorporate electric charging points 
for properties with off street parking

5. Open Spaces of Importance To The 
Community
Several open spaces were highlighted 
by the community to be of value for 
recreation and wellbeing (Appendix: 
Open Spaces of Importance To The 
Community). The majority of those 
listed, already feature in Powys CC’s 
current Open Space Assessment 
(OSA). The following are not featured 

in the OSA and are intended to 
be submitted to Powys CC for 
consideration as part of the next 
Open Space Assessment – Project 
OS-1

For Consideration in the next 
Open Spaces Assessment – (see 
Appendix: Suggested Sites For Next 
Open Space Assessment Map)

1. Porthouse Woods, 
Llanllwchaiarn 
2. Cultivate Community Garden
3. Green space between 
Maesyrhandir estate and the 
Mochdre Industrial Estate (south 
of 18 on OSA map)
4. Infill South of Brimmon Road 
(land at Severn Hts)
5. The land containing the 
electricity sub-station between 
Mochdre roundabout and 
Mochdre Lane plus sections to 
west of Maesyrhandir primary 
school proposed as a green 
corridor / potential allotment site.
6. Woodland to east of pump 
house (in the Canal Area, as 

marked on Open Spaces Audit 
map)
7. Space between Brimmon Close 
and Meadow View.  
8. Small green at Cae Cymric, 
bordered by housing and lower 
Canal Road.
9. Land between Mochdre 
Industrial Estate (Heol Ashley) 
and Black Hall Hill (south of no. 
15 on OSA map).

6. Establish a requirement for 
developers of all multiple housing 
sites to work with the community 
to produce a design brief.

7. Land East of Dolfor Rd and 
North of Milford Road, identified 
as potential housing site. Both 
outside of current settlement 
boundary. Consider as candidate 
sites in the next LDP.

8. Car park next to Riverside / 
Halfpenny Bridge – if currently ear-
marked for housing development, 
change to parking in next LDP.

These	items	will	be	submitted	to	Powys	County	Council	for	Consideration	for	the	Next	LDP.

P
age 101



94

References
1. Office of National Statistics (2011) Census
2. Extracts from Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Town Council (2019), Finding A New Route
3. Understanding Welsh Places website, http://uwp.uksouth.cloudapp.azure.com/en/home/
4. Welsh Government (Oct 2020), COVID-19 Reconstruction: Challenges and Priorities
5. Welsh Government (2020), Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and Brighter Futures.
6. Powys County Council (2020), Understanding the Impact of Covid-19 in Powys (English version) 
 https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE
 (Welsh version)  https://sway.office.com/UHOXMtrYoviWADLB
7. Planning Aid Wales, www.placeplans.org.uk
8. Powys CC website (2020), LDP - Supplementary Planning Guidance
9. Welsh Government (2018), Planning Policy Wales Edition 10.
10. Welsh Government (2019) National Development Framework 2020-2040 - Consultation Draft
11. Powys Public Service Board (2018), The Wellbeing of Future Generations - Engagement Feedback
12. Disability Wales (2010) Planning for Inclusive Access in Wales: Good Practice Guidance Toolkit
13. Powys County Council (2020), Powys Common Housing Register
14. Powys Local Development Plan
15. Centre For Towns (2020). The Effect Of The COVID-19 Pandemic On Our Towns And Cities 
16. Office of National Statistics (2011) Census c/o Powys CC “Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Key Statistics” 
17. Powys CC Wellbeing Information Bank (Newtown locality includes Churchstoke, Dolforwyn & Kerry) 
 https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/5800/Wellbeing-Information-Bank
18. Powys CC (2020) COVID-19 Powys industries impact and recovery estimates
19. Powys CC (2020), #SupportLocalPowys with safe and resilient towns
20. Edge Foundation (2020). The Impact of Covid-19 on Education: evidence on the early impacts of lockdown.
21. Wales Centre for Public Policy website, https://www.wcpp.org.uk/commentary/what-will-brexit-mean-for-wales/
22. Powys County Council (2017). Data Source: Crime – Dyfed Powys Police 2015/16; Fuel Poverty – Welsh Government; Household Income – ONS;   
 Domiciliary Care – Powys CC; Comments – PSB Wellbeing Engagements Events; All other data – 2011 Census, ONS.
23. Powys Regional Partnership Board (PRPB) (Aug 2020), North Powys Wellbeing Programme, http://www.powyswellbeing.wales/
24. https://ukcrimestats.com/Neighbourhood/1163
25. Powys CC (2018), Powys Local Development Plan, Open Space Assessment, V2
26. The Land Trust (2017), The Hidden Value of Our Green Spaces

P
age 102



95

References

27. Open Newtown (2019), “Newtown Walking Project” (Draft Report)
28. Powys CC (2020), #SupportLocalPowys with safe and resilient towns
29. Natural Resources Wales, Flood Risk Assessment Wales Map https://naturalresources.wales/floodriskmap?lang=en
30. State of Nature Partnership (2019), State of Nature Report
31. Glasu (2012), Powys High Street Feasibility Study
32. Powys Public Service Board (2018) Towards 2040: Powys Well-being Plan

P
age 103



96

1. Map: Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Town Council Wards, MSOAs and LSOAs

2. Map: Conservation Area and Listed Buildings –Penygloddfa

3. Map: Conservation Area and Listed Buildings -Town Centre

4. List of Buildings of Significance To The Community

5. Map: Character Areas

6. Map: Character Areas -Development Types

7. Character Surveys Overview

8. Vacant Buildings And Buildings At Risk

9. Map: Housing Sites -Community Suggestions

10. Housing Sites To Take Forward

11. Map: Community Facilities

12. Map: Open Spaces & Play Areas Audit (See Supporting Evidence for accompanying notes)

13. Open Spaces of Importance To The Community

14. Map: Suggested Sites For Next Open Space Assessment

15. Map: Footpaths, Cycle Paths & Bike Rack Audit (See Supporting Evidence for accompanying notes)

16. AList Of Supporting Evidence Document

List of Appendices (links)

P
age 104



LIST OF APPENDICIES 

 
1. Map: Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn Town Council Wards, MSOAs and LSOAs 

2. Map: Conservation Area and Listed Buildings – Penygloddfa 

3. Map: Conservation Area and Listed Buildings - Town Centre 

4. List of Buildings of Significance To The Community 

5. Map: Character Areas 

6. Map: Character Areas - Development Types 

7. Character Surveys Overview 

8. Vacant Buildings And Buildings At Risk 

9. Map: Housing Sites - Community Suggestions 

10. Housing Sites To Take Forward 

11. Map: Community Facilities 

12. Map: Open Spaces & Play Areas Audit  
(See Supporting Evidence for accompanying notes) 

13. Open Spaces of Importance To The Community 

14. Map: Suggested Sites For Next Open Space Assessment 

15. Map: Footpaths, Cycle Paths & Bike Rack Audit  
(See Supporting Evidence for accompanying notes) 

16. A List Of Supporting Evidence Documents 

 

Page 105



P
age 106



CR

LB

/  Afon  Hafren
River  Severn

E
D

  
B

d
y

E
l  S

ub  S
ta

El  Sub  Sta

LB

Gorsedd  Circle

ED  Bdy

C
S

E
l  S

u
b
  S

ta

TCB

Long  Bridge

LB

Build
ers 

 Y
ard

112.0m
112.4m

110.0m

The  O
ld  M

alt  
House

6

M
o
nt

re
ux

Fra
nkw

ell  
Terr

Swn  yr  Afon

4

Cottage

1-1
0

2

2

10

PW

30

View

Wood

32

4

8

1
7

1
4

19

19

9

42

Cott

16

Rozel17

1

2  to
  8

Budleigh

The  Rest

Pleasant

15

44 10

1

4

Bay

3

1

Bodafon

Crescent
York  H

ouse

1

St  Mary's  Church

House

Severnside

Glan  Dwr

Rhaiadr

Villas

2

2
4

B
w
thyn

1

25

4

Hall

1to
40

Jaundrell  C
t

1

Weavers

2

M
o
n 

 y
  
R

ho
s

Theatre

1

W
estbury

17

15

2
1

1

7

-Bryn

12

C
rosslands

Lyndon

Brookside

Heatherly

Y

Bella

Vista

22

1

Nant  y  Ffridd

Hill  View
G

reenfields

Rose

PW

Llys  Glan

Bry
nfie

ld  H
ouse

W
ork

sh
op

The  O
ld

Lyngarth

8

6

1

4

2

18

4

3

5

2
2

37

1
5

O
akle

y

5

1
6
a

Y  Gorlan

3
4

H
ill  T

op

Vastre

Silver

1
4
a

1
5
b

Rhiwlas

1
6

G
oughs

1
1

27

4
4

5

9

HotelClose

1

1
0

Ho

29

37

1

6

331 23
8

Brymor

Rhosw
en

1

3

36

3

1-8

38

3

2
8

2

1

24

B
ay  V

illas

1

7

6

7

1

38  to  43

3

Bryn

4

Crescent

B
e
e
ch

le
a

Sub  Sta

A
ld

o
n

The

Pen-y-graig

The

Brid
gend

Church

Crescent

Ponthafren

Seve
rn

  T
erra

ce

7

Waterlo
o

Cantray

G
ilw

e
rn

Church

Highclere

D
e
n
b
ig

h
  H

o

House

2

C
a
rtre

f

Hafren

Masonic

M
in

-y-fro
n 1

51

The

5

1
8

The  O
ld  W

are
house

1

2
3

14

Delfr
yn

1

2

1

Hill 
 T

ops

High

S
er

e
ni

ty

Mount

25

Churc
h

Primary  School

All  
Saints

Penygloddfa  County

P
endre

Riverdale

8

57

1

Lynwood

3
5

8

Mus

T
h
e
  F

irs

El

3
6

28

2

Welstead

Hotel

1

Lynwood

2
1

16

3

C
ourt

Presbyterian

6

11

yr  Afon

(remains  of)

Arches

2

41to49
9

  
to

1
4

3

Ael-y

13

G
re

en
ba

nk

Francis  P
lace

Bali

Garden  Place

12

20

31

9

6

CRESCENT  G
ARDENS

UNIO
N  S

TREET

S
C

H
O

O
L  LA

N
E

L
O

N
G

  B
R

ID
G

E
  S

T
R

E
E

T

COMMERCIAL  STREET

CANAL  ROAD

LL
Y

S
IF

O
R

F
A
IR

F
IE

LD
  D

R
IV

E

B
R

Y
N

  S
T
R

E
E
T

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

  S
T
R

E
E

T

COM
M

ERCIA
L  S

TREET

B
R

Y
N

  S
T
R

E
E
T

C
R
O

S
S
  S

T
R
E
E
T

C
H

A
P
E
L  S

T
R

E
E
T

/  T
REM  V

ASTRE

MILFORD  ROAD

FRAN
KW

ELL  S
TREET

VASTRE  V
IEW

NEWTOWN
WAL/POWY/78





























































 
































































































@ A4

DATE :

1 : 1471

SCALE :

conservationareaandlistedbuildingsmapb.mpd

19/03/2020

MAP FILENAME :

Brisco House, The Cross, Broad St, Newtown, SY16 2BB

enquiries@newtown.org.uk

   Conservation area and listed buildings
                       Penygloddfa

‘

Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Town Council

Map data shown may contain Ordnance Survey ® products supplied by
Pear Technology Services Ltd; Email: info@peartechnology.co.uk
© Crown Copyright and database rights from date shown above

Ordnance Survey ® licence number 100023148

P
age 107



LB

CR

/  Afon  Hafren

El  S
ub

  S
ta

TCB

/  Afon  Hafren

LB

River  Severn

TCB

LB

FB

Slo
pi

ng
  m

as
on

ry

Gorsedd  Circle

TCBs

Bowling  Green

ESS

Playground

ED  Bdy

Long  Bridge

LB

Issues

Car  Park

TCB

Car  Park

TCBs

Bridge
Foot

TCB

LB

River  Severn

War  Memorial

Car  Park

LB

Statue

Issues

109.4m

112.5m

107.6m

111.3m

105.5m

105.6m

106.7m

107.6m

106.7m

107.2m

104.5m

105.2m

112.0m

106.8m

107.0m

106.4m

107.4m

PH

3

1
Ladywell

36

45

3

22

C
hurch

30

Bus  Station

30

20

23

14to25

31

4

4

Bryntirion

26

Market

14

Ty-

Newtown

28

B

22
5

10

9

1

Clifton

41Villa

8

1

Glas

12

C
otta

ge

Min-yr
-afon

11

12
a

Davies

Cen
tre

9

16

PH

46

El

9

16

1b

30

St  Mary's  Church

Offices

C

PC

18

23

9

6

Memorial  Gallery

Fernhill

Shopping

Canol

2

6

56

25

/  Ty  Dewi  Sant

10

8

17

31

Ty  Y  Bobl

2

Hospice

9

55
53

4

20

TyÌ‚'r  Bont

2

Y  Parc

Isaf

El  S
ub

  S
ta

Ty

19

El

39

4

13

5

E
PC

to  24

PH

36

10

Meddygfa'r  Drenewydd  /

61

Nythfa

19  to  21

35

18

32

47

7

62

2

16

1

25

48

7t
o1

3
26

1

Sycamore

7

1

2

Hafren
Llys

A
gricul ture  H

ouse

5

Room

8
7

PC

18

4

B
ry

n 
 L

le
w

el
yn

21

20

Tien-ho

15

29

25

7

36

2

2

1

5
Roseholme

13

12

Brethrens

54

2
2

28

2
3

Hillside  View

Siriol

Beechcroft

Noddfa
Bryn

1

Bella
Vista

17

13

Hall

12

4

27

PH

Sub  Sta

11

Club  House

Council

Elephant

Pen-y-graig

1

Sub  Sta

5

40
41

Hotel

B
ear  Lanes

Tk

Cinema

Club

PH

Pp  Ho

Bodlondeb

6

6

Glan-y-dwr

11

3Newtown  Medical  practice

Ty  Nant

2b

1a

D
ay

  C
en

tr
e

United  Reform
ed4(Govt  Bldgs)

C
ouncil

Hafren  Junior  School

Lodge

21a

22

1  2

12

Ysgol  Iau  Hafren  /

5

TyÌ‚  Ladywell  /

Clovelly

M
in

ha
fre

n

D
inam

Youth  a
nd

Community  C
entre

3

1

Queens  Court

Chapel  Offices

Ivy  Cottage

21

17

Arosfa

26

2
4

Hall

Cambria

Glendene

4

Lea

43

New

Werdd

22

O
ffices

Church

22

Albion  Ct

14

3

37

to
  5

1

38

31

PO

Bank

La
dyw

ell

Hotel

10

2

Bank

26

Bethel

Afon  House
52

21

3

5

Hotel

20

21

Sur
ge

ry

10
11

10

17

Sho
pp

ing

and  Castle

7

1

22

2

Pant

31

Willows

18

Club

32

2a

El  Sub  Sta

27

54

1t
o6

21

St  David's  House

Shelters

19

Ladywell  House

52

6

12

14

11

13

Isel

Frolic  St  Flats

19

20

11

12

13

53

A
dron

Glendale

Henllyn

9

6

5

6

27

25

19
17

13

16
15

Northcote

Maesh
afre

n

Kel
sto

n

R
osslyn

Avon

Hall

The

16

Aelwyd

A
bererave

Meeting

Maesgwyn

Penygamlas

Cedewain

Garage

1

Museum

14

3
4

1

11

10

11

Bank

50

1

9

9

3
2

12

Sub  Sta

(remains  of)

17

7

30

29

28

8

12

49

26

10

9

21

26

2

15

24

1

Rosemount

Gas  Gov

4

20

69

18

7

PH

4

1

70

PH

1

6

El  Sub  Sta

1

The

16

14

Meredith  Court

Cam
bria

n  S
quar

e

Lodge

26

Stone  Terrace

Depot

23

26

A

Hills

Church

A
shford

1

13

Hall

2

7

PH

31

38

66

Severnside  Centre

Chu
rc

h

65

Centre

Baptist

Green

St  
Dav

ids

25

8

2
31

11

12

10

8

PH

1

6

Sunlea

D

Severnside

House

Bronwydd

Sm
ithy  Court

4

7

16

59

Church

3

5

12

Bryn

DRENEWYDD/  Y
NEWTOWN

NEW
  CHURCH  STREET

Posts

O
LD

  C
HURCH  S

TR
EET

M
ARKET  S

T

FIELD

B
R

O
A

D
  S

TR
E

E
T

LOWER  CANAL  ROAD

MILL  C
LOSE

C
A

M
B

R
IA

N
  W

A
YPath  (um)

ST 
 M

ARY'S
  C

LO
SE

Posts

Posts

B
A

C
K

  LA
N

E

SQUARE

La
dy

w
el

l  
S

tre
et

CROSS

W
ESLEY  S

TREET

W
ES

LEY  PLAC
E

BUTTERFLY  LANE

MARKET  S
TREET

SEVERN

THE

ROAD

Posts

NEW  ROAD

STO
NE  STREET

A4811

CANAL  ROAD

Posts

Posts

LANE

P
A

R
K

  S
T

R
E

E
T

FROLIC  STREET

HEOL  LES  HERBIERS

CROSS  S
TREET

NEW
  R

OAD

Posts

BACK

C
R

O
W

N
  STR

EET

Post

HIG
H  S

TREET

SEVERN  S
TREET

CANAL  ROAD

SHORT  BRIDGE  STREET

CAMBRIAN  G
ARDENS

G
O

LW
G

Y
D

R
E  LA

N
E

CAM
BRIAN  GARDENS

Posts

PARKER'S  L
ANE

TURNER'S  L
ANE

PostsPosts

Posts

G
A

S
  S

T
R

E
E

T

ED
W

A
R

D
S

SHORTBRIDGE  STREET

OLD  KERRY

POOL  ROAD

THE  BANK

M
ARKET  S

TREET

NEWTOWN - CENTRE
WAL/POWY/79























































































 



























































@ A3
DATE :

1 : 1728
SCALE :

conservationareaandlistedbuildingsmapa.mpd

19/03/2020

MAP FILENAME :

Brisco House, The Cross, Broad St, Newtown, SY16 2BB

enquiries@newtown.org.uk

  Conservation area and listed buildings
                     Town Centre

‘

Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Town Council

Map data shown may contain Ordnance Survey ® products supplied by
Pear Technology Services Ltd; Email: info@peartechnology.co.uk
© Crown Copyright and database rights from date shown above

Ordnance Survey ® licence number 100023148

P
age 108



BUILDINGS & STRUCTURES OF SIGNIFICANCE TO THE LOCAL COMMUNITY, IN NEWTOWN 

& LLANLLWCHAIARN 
 

(Taken from comments made in the public survey and at community drop in events) 

 
Those that are either vacant and/or in need or attention are marked with a *  

 
● Glanhafren Market Hall, 

● Severn Square, 

● Broad Street, 
● Town Park gates, 

● The Cross, 

● Railway station building, 
● St Marys Close, 

● St Mary’s Church & grounds, 
● Oriel Davies Gallery, 

● The Exchange, 

● Pryce Jones Building / Royal Welsh Warehouse, 
● Sarah Brisco House, 

● “Croesawdy” building in Ffordd Croesawdy,  

● Textile Museum, 
● The Buck, 

● WH Smith building, 

● The Area around Pryce Jones buildings and Train Station 
● Garage in Severn Street 

● Hafren (Theatre) Flytower* 
● St David’s Church, New Rd* 

● Bethel Chapel, New Rd* 

● United Reform Church, Church St* 
● The Grapes, Commercial St* 

● No.2 Commercial St.* 

● Former Flannel Factory, Bryn Street* 
 

 
 

Page 109



Area 1
Town/
Town Centre

Area 7
Penygloddfa

Area 2 
Canal 
Road

Area 6
Barn�elds / Bryn Lane

Area 8
Milford Road

Area 5
Vastre & Dy�ryn

Area 16
TreowenArea 15

Trehafren

Area 9
Vaynor

Area 10
Mochdre Ind. Est & College

Area 11
Maesyrhandir / 
Maesydail

Area 13
Garth Owen

Area 14 Station & 

New Road

Area 12 Llanidloes Road

Area 3
Llanllwchaiarn

Area 4
Riverside

16 Character Areas
 LDP Town Centre Boundary
1 - Town / Town Centre
2 - Canal Road
3 - Llanllwchaiarn
4 - Riverside
5 - Vastre & Dy�ryn
6 - Barn�elds / Bryn Lane
7 - Penygloddfa
8 - Milford Road
9 - Vaynor
10 - Mochdre Ind. Est & College
11 - Maesyrhandir / Maesydail
12 - Llanidloes Road
13 - Garth Owen
14 - Station & New Road
15 - Trehafren
16 - Treowen

P
age 110



Area 1
Town/
Town 
Centre

Area 7
Penygloddfa

Area 2 
Canal 
Road

Area 6
Barn�elds / Bryn Lane

Area 8
Milford Road

Area 5
Vastre & Dy�ryn

Area 16
TreowenArea 15

Trehafren

Area 9
Vaynor

Area 10
Mochdre Ind. Est & College

Area 11
Maesyrhandir / 
Maesydail

Area 13
Garth Owen

Area 14 Station & 

New Road

Area 12 Llanidloes Road

Area 3
Llanwchaiarn

Area 4
Riverside

16 Character Areas

1 - Town / Town Centre
2 - Canal Road
3 - Llanllwchaiarn
4 - Riverside
5 - Vastre & Dy�ryn
6 - Barn�elds / Bryn Lane
7 - Penygloddfa
8 - Milford Road
9 - Vaynor
10 - Mochdre Ind. Est & College
11 - Maesyrhandir / Maesydail
12 - Llanidloes Road
13 - Garth Owen
14 - Station & New Road
15 - Trehafren
16 - Treowen

Historic Core

Residential 19th / 20th C

Residential 20th / 21st 

Mixed Residential  / Commercial

Industrial / Commercial

Green  / Blue Space

Character Areas MAINLY represet the following TYPES of development

LDP Town Centre Boundary

Route of the old canal

P
age 111



Character Surveys – Overview Notes 

• An updated map has been produced based on the survey information. 

• Detailed survey forms and photos have been completed for 10 areas: 

1: Town / Town Centre 

2: Canal Area 

3: Llanllwchaiarn 

5: Vastre & Dyffryn Industrial Estate 

6: Barnfields & Bryn Lane 

7: Penygloddfa 

8: Milford Road 

10: College & Mochdre Industrial Estate 

12: Llanidloes Road Area 

14: The Station & New Road 

 

Surveys for the following areas are yet to be completed: 

9: Vaynor 
11: Maesyrhandir / Maesydail 
13: Garth Owen 
15: Trehafren 
16: Treowen 
 
Area 4 is the riverside. 
 

• There are different ‘types’ of areas that can be identified eg 19th, 20th century residential / Mid-20th 

century residential / commercial & Industrial – these have been marked on an additional map. 

• Architecture in the town is varied and reflective of the various eras and stages of the town’s growth, but 

commonality in materials in noted across the various styles 

• Materials are noted to be important with red brick buildings and decorative (polychrome / yellow / blue) 

brick details to chimneys and façades, windows and door surrounds. Slate hung walls are noted as being 

distinctive particularly on west facing walls. 

• 21st C buildings are noted as having tiles of various colours whereas older buildings tend to have slate 

roofs. White render is also noted frequently as a material used for 21st C buildings. 

• Locally important / distinctive but unlisted buildings are noted in a number of surveys. 

• Example of modern terraces reflecting housing in older areas cited (Hendidley Way) – a good example 

• Views out to the valley sides are noted frequently – a key point to highlight in any guidance? 

• Green spaces and trees are noted to be key features in many areas, especially the town centre and Milford 

Road. 

 

Page 112



Building Name / 

Number

Address Postcode Conservation 

Area?

Associated Planning 

Permissions / Ref #
(As at July 2019)

Listed Buildings @ 

Risk  Register

 (Data from 2014). 

Listed Building? Record of Communications with Owner

St David's Church St Davids Church, New Road, 

Newtown

SY16 1EE N listed building consent granted 

in 2010 P/2010/0488

Category 4 - Vulnerable y Letter sent from Town Council August 2019 inquiring re 

intentions for building and inviting dialogue.

Bethel Chapel Bethel Chapel, New Road, Newtown SY16 1BD Town Centre No recent planning history on 

this building

N Letter sent from Town Council August 2019 inquiring re 

intentions for building and inviting dialogue.
United Reform Church Park United Reform Church, 

Newtown

SY16 1EE Town Centre No recent planning history on 

this building

Y Letter sent from Town Council August 2019 inquiring re 

intentions for building and inviting dialogue.
Old Fire Station Land on the South east side of New 

Road, Newtown

Sy16 1AS N Previous applications 

submitted

N Letter sent from Town Council August 2019 inquiring re 

intentions for building and inviting dialogue. Reply received.
The Grapes Commercial Street, Penygloddfa, 

Newtown 

SY16 2BL Penyglodffa No recent planning history on 

this building

y Letter sent from Town Council August 2019 inquiring re 

intentions for building and inviting dialogue.
No.2 Commercial St. 2 Commercial Street, Newtown SY16 2BL Penyglodffa No recent planning history on 

this building

N Letter sent August 2019 inquiring re intentions for building 

and inviting dialogue.
Former Flannel Factory, 

Bryn Street

The Old Handicraft Centre

Bryn Street, Newtown

SY16 2HW Penyglodffa unknown Category 3 - At Risk y Letter sent from Town Council August 2019 inquiring re 

intentions for building and inviting dialogue.

Other Buildings on the Buildings At Risk Register (Listed Buildings Only)

This data is from 2014, therefore may not be up to date

Tynybitfel, Llanllwchaiarn

LEVEL 3 RISK (At Risk) as at 2014

43 Crescent Street 

LEVEL 4 RISK (Vulnerable) as at 2014
30 Broad Street

AUDIT OF KEY VACANT BUILDINGS & BUILDINGS AT RISK

Agriculture House, Kerry Road

Cambrian House, Lower Canal Road

Gate, gate piers and walls around the perimeter of St. Mary’s Churchyard, Old Church Street

No. 8 Severn Street

Aberbechan Bridge, Llanllwchaiarn

Farm range attached to farmhouse and agricultural buildings at Black Hall Farm, Dolfor Road

Canal bridge at Llanllwchaiarn

P
age 113



P
age 114



 

 

Housing Sites: Community Suggestions To Take Forward 

These suggestions are illustrated on the depicted on the “Housing Sites: Community Suggestions” map. 

The full list of suggestions made by the community can be seen in the Supporting Evidence. 

 

Site Suggested By Community Summary of Analysis of the Site Outcome 

Rock Wood  
(suggested twice) 

This land lies within LDP housing commitment P48 HC5 – Rock Farm. 
The area was identified as the “unfinished end of Woodland Way”. 
 
 

Included. The future development of this site can be 
influenced by the community via a “Design Brief”. 
See Project HF3.  

Ladywell House, St Davids House and 
United Reform Church site. Suggestion 
for central living with access to park 
and amenities. 
 

Some buildings under PCC / Welsh Government ownership.  
 
United Reform Church is included in Vacant Buildings Surveys and the 
owners have been contacted by the Town Council (Town Centre 
Experience section)   
 

Included.  
 
Ladywell House & St David’s are currently 
functioning offices. Change of use to be pursued in 
Project HF2. Also referred to in the “Next Local 
Development Plan” section. 
 
 

Bethel Chapel, New Road. The chapel building is in the Conservation Area, therefore  
demolition would be subject to conservation area  
consent.  Proposals involving re-use of the building are  
likely to be more favourable. 
 
Bethel Chapel is included in the Vacant Buildings Surveys (Town 
Centre Experience section) and the owners have been contacted by 
the Town Council. 
 

Included.   
Change of use to be pursued in Project HF2. Also 
referred to in the “Next Local Development Plan” 
section. 
 

Site west of Bethel Chapel  – New 
Road (including former chip shop) 

Retail / food site and surrounding plot.   On the same title deed as 
Bethel  Chapel. 
 
 

Included. 

East of Dolfor Road  
 
 

Limited information available on this site and it is outside of the 
current settlement boundary. 
 

Included as a potential Candidate Site in next LDP. 
See “Next LDP” section. 
 
 

P
age 115



 

 

North of Milford Road 
& North of River to Nantoer. 
Suggestion: If there were more 
housing – it would complete the Oval 
and a footbridge could link it to the 
college and the playing fields.  
 
 
 
 

Limited information available on this site and it is outside of the 
current settlement boundary. 
 

Included as a potential Candidate Site in next LDP. 
See “Next LDP” section. 

Former Flannel Factory, Bryn Street 
opposite Malt House 
Suggestion: Potential for flats 

Former Flannel Factory is included in Vacant Buildings Surveys (Town 
Centre Experience section) and the owners have been contacted by 
the Town Council 

Included.   
Change of use to be pursued in Project HF2. Also 
referred to in the “Next Local Development Plan” 
section 
 
 

 

P
age 116



Community Centre / 
Meeting Hall

1 North Side Hall
2 Mill Close Hall
3 Trehafen Children’s Centre/
    Meeting Hall
4 Scout Hut
5 Treowen Community Hall

Neighbourhood Shop

Place of Worship

School / College

Museum / Gallery / Theatre

Cemetery

Other Meeting Room Hire

Public Toilets

Sports / Leisure

Public Swimming Pool

Hospital

Health / Dental Care

Allotments / Community
Gardens

Conference Facility

Government O�ces

Library

Train Station

Town Centre Area 
(Powys Local 
Development Plan)

Public Car Park

Community Facilities

3

4

5

2

1

P
age 117



Sport

P
age 118



 

Open Spaces of Importance To The Community 
 

The following open spaces were highlighted by the community to be of value for recreation 
and wellbeing. Several are already designated in the current LDP. Those that aren’t (*) will 

be submitted to Powys CC for consideration as part of the next Open Space Assessment – 

Project OS-1 
 

● Dolerw Park and the new orchard,  
● The Mound in the Town Hall Park,  

● The River and riverside, including picnic area by the black poplar tree / Heol Les Herbiers,  

● The canal path and canal dry bed 
● Playing fields south of Trehafren,  

● Trehafren Hill / “Sheep Fields” 

● Vaynor playing fields and adjacent riverside / woods,  
● Porthouse Woods, Llanllwchaiarn * 

● St Mary's Churchyard,  

● Allotments,  
● Cultivate Community Garden*,  

● Robert Owen gardens,  
● Barnfields (No.6) Churchill Close amenity open space,   

● Green space between Maesyrhandir estate and the Mochdre Industrial Estate, including 

what is locally known as “Alec’s Hill” (south of 18 on OSA map)*,  
● Green space to the east of Mochdre Brook and adjacent to Glandulas, Drive,  

● Section of land alongside Mochdre Brook and the Dulas Rail Bridge (No. 14 on OSA map), 

● Community garden, Treowen (between 50 & 51 on OSA map bordering field),  
● Millenium Wood, Lonesome Lane, 

● Riverside green space alongside Heol Vaynor 
● Land between Mochdre Industrial Estate (Heol Ashley) and Black Hall Hill (south of no. 15 

on OSA map). A petition on 38degrees.org.uk to “Save our Field on Heol Ashley” received 

393 signatures”* 
 

Page 119



Sport

P
age 120



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5 3.6

3.10

3.8

3.9

2.18

2.2

2.1

2.4b

2.17

2.3

2.4a

2.5

2.16

2.6

2.8

2.9

2.7

2.10

2.13

2.11

2.12

2.14

P
age 121



PLACE PLAN - LIST OF SUPPORTING EVIDENCE - BY TOPIC
Further items to be added

Introduction - About Newtown
Existing Evidence

Powys CC (2013), 2011 Census Key Statistics for Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn

Your Place Plan
New Place Plan Evidence

Consultants Reports on Community Engagement - multiple reports

Stakeholder Comments on Draft Plan

Children & Young People's artwork

Place Plan Themes & Objectives
New Place Plan Evidence

LDP Policies Relating To Each Topic - Full Description

Character & Heritage
New Place Plan Evidence

List of Listed Buildings in Newtown & Llanllwchaiarn
Character Area Surveys (Town Centre, Canal Area, Llanllwchaiarn, Vastre & Dyfffryn, Barnfields / Bryn Lane, 

Penygloddfa, Milford Rd, College & Mochdre Ind Est, Llanidloes Rd, Station & New Rd.)

Community Comments: Character & Heritage

Housing & Future Development 
New Place Plan Evidence

Housing Sites Suggestions - Full List

Treowen HA3 & HA4 - Stakeholder Comments and Site Ideas

Community Comments: Housing & Future Development

Community Facilities
New Place Plan Evidence

Community Facilities Surveys

Community Comments: Community Facilities

Business, Learning & Employment
Existing Evidence

Business Improvement District Survey Responses

New Place Plan Evidence

Community Comments: Business, Learning & Employment

Page 122



Health and Well Being
New Place Plan Evidence

Stakeholders Comments on the Health Hub
Community Comments: Health and Well Being

A Safe & Tidy Town
New Place Plan Evidence

Community Comments: A Safe & Tidy Town

Open spaces
New Place Plan Evidence

Open Space Audits

Play Areas Audits

Sport & Play Facilities

Community Comments: Open spaces

Active Travel 
Existing Evidence

Powys CC (2016) Active Travel: Existing Route Map (ERM)

Powys CC (2016) Active Travel: Integrated Network Map (INM)

Powys CC Active Travel:  Draft programme of improvements work for Newtown (INM Scores)

Powys CC Active Travel: Pedestrian footpath and cyclepath audit records

New Place Plan Evidence

Footpaths, Cycle Paths & Bike Rack Audit Map ( (See Supporting Evidence for accompanying notes) 

Footpaths & Cycle Paths Audit Summary

Footpaths & Cycle paths Audits - original notes and maps

Stakeholder Active Travel proposals

Community Comments: Active Travel 

Climate Change and Biodiversity 
Existing Evidence

Town Council Climate Emergency Declaration

Draft Newtown Climate Emergency Plan

SharEnergy (2017), Draft Report: Options For Land Based Community Energy Projects in Newtown

New Place Plan Evidence

Community Comments: Climate Change and Biodiversity 

Page 123



Town Centre Experience
New Place Plan Evidence

Accessibility Survey Responses

Community Comments: Town Centre Experience

Tourism, Culture & Attractions  
Existing Evidence

Waterway Routes (2020),  Extract from Crusing Map Montgomery Canal - Issue 103

New Place Plan Evidence

Community Comments: Tourism, Culture & Attractions  

Other:
Public survey responses - raw data?

Page 124



1 
 

Local Development Plan [LDP] Working Group  
10 December 2020 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Principal Planning Officer – Planning Policy 
  
REPORT TITLE: The Town and Country Planning (Strategic 

Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2021  
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision   

 
Background summary: 
 
The Welsh Government is currently consulting on regulations which will establish the 
procedure for the preparation of regional Strategic Development Plans (SDPs) and 
associated matters. Powys, together with Ceredigion and the Brecon Beacons National 
Park are within the proposed Mid-Wales Region, one of four Welsh regions identified in the 
forthcoming Future Wales document (previously called the National Development 
Framework (NDF)), and which can be found at: 
https://gov.wales/working-draft-future-wales 
 
The preparation of SDPs will be the responsibility of the Corporate Joint Committee (CJC); 
the Regulations for the establishment of these committees are also currently out to 
consultation. 
 
The SDP Regulations 2021 consultation document can be read at: 
 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2020-10/consultation-document-town-and-
country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021.pdf 
 
A draft Council Response to the SDP Regulations Consultation has been prepared for 
consideration by the LDP Working Group prior to submission. 
 
Note for LDP Working Group Members: 
The Draft SPG Regulations Consultation Response circulated with the agenda may be 
subject to ongoing final revision should the Council also submit a CJC consultation 
response [report to follow] and with which it may need to align. Any such changes will be 
undertaken before submission deadline of 4 January 2021.  If there are any significant 
changes these will reported to the Working Group. 
 

 

Page 125

5

https://gov.wales/working-draft-future-wales
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2020-10/consultation-document-town-and-country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/consultations/2020-10/consultation-document-town-and-country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



CONSULTATION FORM 
 

The Town and Country Planning (Strategic Development Plan) 
(Wales) Regulations 2021  
 
This consultation is seeking your views on the policy approach for the subordinate 
legislation required to establish the procedure for Strategic Development Plans 
(SDPs) to be prepared across Wales by Corporate Joint Committee (CJCs) and 
associated matters. The Regulations will be called the Town and Country Planning 
(Strategic Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2021.       
 
If you have any queries on this consultation, please email: 
  
planconsultations-b@gov.wales or telephone: 0300 025 3882. 
 

Data Protection 

Any response you send us will be seen in full by Welsh Government staff dealing with 
the issues which this consultation is about. It may also be seen by other Welsh 
Government staff to help them plan future consultations. 
 
The Welsh Government intends to publish a summary of the responses to this 
document. We may also publish responses in full. Normally, the name and address (or 
part of the address) of the person or organisation who sent the response are 
published with the response. This helps to show that the consultation was carried out 
properly. If you do not want your name or address published, please tick the box 
below. We will then blank them out. 
 
Names or addresses we blank out might still get published later, though we do not 
think this would happen very often. The Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the 
Environmental Information Regulations 2004 allow the public to ask to see information 
held by many public bodies, including the Welsh Government. This includes 
information which has not been published. However, the law also allows us to withhold 
information in some circumstances. If anyone asks to see information we have 
withheld, we will have to decide whether to release it or not. If someone has asked for 
their name and address not to be published, that is an important fact we would take 
into account. However, there might sometimes be important reasons why we would 
have to reveal someone’s name and address, even though they have asked for them 
not to be published. We would get in touch with the person and ask their views before 
we finally decided to reveal the information. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127

mailto:planconsultations-b@gov.wales


 

 

2 

 

 CONSULTATION FORM 
 

The Town and Country Planning (Strategic Development Plan) 
(Wales) Regulations 2021  

Date:  

Name        

Organisation  Powys County Council 

Address  County Hall 
Spa Road East 
Llandrindod Wells 
Powys 
LD1 5LG 

E-mail address  ldp@powys.gov.uk 

Telephone  

Type 
(please select 
one from the 
following) 

Business  

Local Planning Authority  

Government Agency / Other Public Sector  

Professional Bodies / Interest Groups  

Voluntary sector (community groups, volunteers, self-
help groups, co-operatives, enterprises, religious, not for 
profit organisations) 

 

Other (other groups not listed above)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



 

 

3 

 

Q1 Do you agree the SDP Regulations should broadly mirror 

the key stages and plan preparation requirements set out 

in the LDP Regulations, subject to the exceptions 

referred too?   

  

 To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.1 - 4.4 

of the consultation document    

 

Agree  

Disagree X 

If not, please explain why  

Council Response:  Whilst the principle of following the established LDP preparation 

process could form the basis of the SDP regulations, simply mirroring them is not 

considered sufficient. As noted in the consultation document, there is a key difference in 

scale together with a new organisation lead (i.e. the CJC rather than the Local Authority) 

and this will impact through all the preparation stages. Given the need to highlight the 

differences in requirements of an SDP compared to the lower tier LDP plan, carry out 

engagement over a wider area and establish a new governance structure and regional 

evidence base, the anticipated time frame to develop and approve an SDP (four years) is 

not considered sufficient. Given the 25-year life of an SDP, the Council consider that a 

minimum five year timescale would be more realistic. 

 

Rather than prevent the preparation of joint SDPs as indicated by the exceptions referred to 

in the consultation, the Council consider that instead it may be appropriate to enable the 

ability to have joint SDPs, given the extra-regional approach taken with some important 

issues, such as Minerals and Waste and some economic factors. This would allow for the 

option of, for-example, a joint Mid and South-west Wales SDP in relation to minerals and 

waste if the CJC considered it appropriate. The Council would welcome additional clarity 

in the SDP guidance and regulations on the different regional and sub-regional footprints, 

and the conformity required between SDPs and cross-border matters. 

 

 

Q2 Do you agree with the proposed approach to the 

Community Involvement Scheme (CIS) and Delivery 

Agreement (DA)?  

 

 To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.6 - 4.7 

of the consultation document on SDP Stage 1  

 

Agree  

Disagree X 

If not, please explain why  
Council Response:  Given that there will be additional logistical, governance and 

engagement challenges for an SDP area, it is a flawed assumption that there is simply a 

Page 129



 

 

4 

 

difference in scale between an LDP and an SDP. For example, the resources required by 

the CJC to deliver an SDP may be significantly more than those of a Local Authority 

preparing an LDP and given the rural nature of the Mid Wales region, significant 

investment may be required to ensure access opportunities to communities and groups 

away from the main centres. Lack of adequate engagement may undermine public and 

political support for the SDP process. 

 

Further consideration / guidance is required with regards the references to the principal 

offices of the CJC. Given the current environment, is it guaranteed that the CJC will have 

an office and supporting executive? The Council notes that at present there is no reference 

in the CJC regulations to suggest that there must identify a principal office. In which case, 

how would the depositing of documents take place?  Despite potentially excluding a 

proportion of the population of the CJC area, would having the documents only available 

on-line be sufficient? The consultation document refers to ‘principal locations’ and the 

Council would welcome additional clarification on this and the intent of the regulations / 

guidance. 

 

 

 

Q3 Do you agree with the list of general and specific 

consultation bodies listed in Annex 1?  

 

 To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.6 - 4.7 

and Annex 1 of the consultation document    

 

Agree  

Disagree X 

If not, who else do you think should be considered for inclusion and why? 
Council Response:  Given the strategic and regional nature of SDPs the consultation bodies 

list is too small. There will of necessity be a need for greater consultation with regional and 

national (UK) bodies which operate at a strategic level and which potentially includes: 

 Estate/Development Agents 

 RSLs/Housing Associations 

 Emergency services 

 Infrastructure providers 

 MOD/Defence Infrastructure 

 Crown estate 

 Cross-border authorities including local authorities, Highways England, NATs etc. 

 Growth Deal bodies/organisations 

 Regional/national business groups 

 Regional/national environmental groups 

 Professional bodies 

 

The Council notes that Community Councils are included in Annex 1 but not Town 

Councils, so there is a concern that it is unclear whether a clear demarcation is now being 

sought between organisations commenting at SDP level and those at LDP level. Such a 

demarcation would not be supported. 

Page 130



 

 

5 

 

 

 

 

Q4 Do you agree with the two stage preparation and 

consultation approach proposed at Preferred Strategy 

and Deposit?  

 

 To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.11 - 

4.13 of the consultation document on SDP Stages 2 - 4  

 

Agree X 

Disagree  

If not, please explain why and what alternative approach you would 

suggest? 

Council Response:  The Council does not object to the principle of the two-stage approach 

which has worked for the LDP preparation and adoption. 

 

However, given the regional significance of an SDP, it may be appropriate to insert 

additional stages, such as examining the soundness of the Preferred Strategy for the SDP 

region prior to progressing to later stages – such as an interim examination or review  

which would confirm the principles underpinning the SDP are sound before progressing to 

Deposit stage. 

 

 

Q5 Do you agree with the particular elements of the 

procedures and requirements proposed for SDP 

preparation including proposals from pre-deposit to 

deposit stage?   

 

To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.8 - 

4.13 of the consultation document on SDP Stages 2 - 4 

 

 Agree  

 Disagree X 

If not, please explain why 
 

Council Response:  It will be for the CJC to determine the scale and scope of the SDP and 

as such paragraph 3.3 of the consultation document is ambiguous. Much greater 

clarification of the status and content of the SDP guidance would be welcomed. 

 

Given the greater geographic extent of the regional footprint, it is not clear how the CJC 

will carry out effective public involvement in preparing the SDP. Significant resources 

may be required to establish an SDP team to initiate the establishment of a regional 

Page 131



 

 

6 

 

evidence base, library / consultation venues, and subsequently engage with communities 

across the region. 

 

Greater clarity is required around the candidate site process, for example what will be 

defined as strategic sites for the SDP and indeed if it is necessary for the SDP to have 

them? In rural authorities, the possibility arises that there may be no housing sites which 

are considered to be of a strategic nature. Should strategic sites be limited to transport 

infrastructure and economic needs only which are within the remit of the CJC? 

 

Similarly, further guidance is needed on whether there is a requirement to plan for and 

identify search/ priority areas for Renewable Energy (RE) development at the regional 

scale. It should clarify whether the RE Strategic Sites Assessment as referenced in PPW 

should be done at the local or regional level. Strategic Search Areas, Priority Areas and 

Pre-assessed Areas for Renewable Energy have been identified at the national level 

through PPW, TAN8 and the NDF and LPAs have the ability to identify Local Search 

Areas at the local level.  

 

The regulations and guidance should clarify the requirements of SA/SEA and whether an 

integrated assessment is advocated as there is inconsistency in the consultation document. 

Further clarification is also needed around the position of Integrated Assessments between 

the different tiers of plan making of SDP and LDP-lites. 
 

It is not clear how the other functions of the CJC – Transport and Economy – will relate to 

and support the preparation of an SDP. For example, it may be necessary for the CJC to 

begin and complete work on the preparation of a Regional Transport Infrastructure Plan to 

identify the infrastructure needs to support the strategic economic growth being proposed 

for the SDP. Guidance may be needed on prioritisation of the CJCs responsibilities to 

enable an SDP to be progressed in the most efficient manner. 

 

Further consideration should be given to the relationship between an emerging SDP and 

where LPAs are with LDPs or reviews. It has to be assumed by LPAs that  they will have 

to await the preparation and adoption of an SDP to set the context for the preparation of the 

first generation of LDP-lites, particularly as an SDP will carry no weight until examined 

and adopted. This could lead to local ‘policy gaps’ if existing LDPs pass their “drop-dead” 

dates and lead to pressure for speculative un-planned development. Further guidance will 

be needed on clarifying and assessing the impacts of the relationship between the tiers of 

plan. 

 

 

Q6 Do you agree with the proposed approach for 

submission, examination and adoption of an SDP? 

 

 To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.14 - 

4.20 of the consultation document on SDP Stage 5 

 

Agree X 

Disagree X 

If not, please explain why 

Page 132



 

 

7 

 

Council Response:  These again mirror the present LDP process and again the main 

concern is with the assumption that these stages and processes will operate as for an 

individual LDP now, as the only difference is one of scale. The reality is there could be a 

significant difference not least arising at Preferred Strategy stage and as such it is re-

iterated that examining / reviewing the Preferred Strategy in its own right before 

progressing to Deposit should be given serious consideration. 

 

 

Q7 Do you agree with the proposed approach to monitoring, 

review and revision of an SDP? 

 

 To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.21 - 

4.23 of the consultation document on SDP Stage 6 

 

Agree  

Disagree X 

If not, please explain why     
Council Response:  The process as proposed mirrors present practice for LDPs and whilst 

the principle of monitoring is acceptable in principle, SDP monitoring should be different 

from that for LDPs and LDP-lites. 

 

Consideration needs to be given to a more outcome / strategic focused monitoring regime 

rather than one aimed at understanding the performance of individual policies.  

 

There are increased uncertainties, even if an SDP is examined and found sound, 

particularly in the delivery of strategic sites which may occur over longer timescales and 

have longer lead-in times. As such, annual monitoring may be inappropriate and a longer 

monitoring and review timescale should be actively considered. Biennial monitoring with 

review every eight years would be considered an effective use of resources at SDP level, 

given the annual monitoring regime of LDP/LDP-lites. 

 

 

Q8 Do you agree with the proposed approach for SDP 

withdrawal?   

 

 To assist with your response please see paragraphs 4.24 - 

4.27 of the consultation document on SDP withdrawal  

 

Agree  

Disagree X 

If not, please explain why  
Council Response:  There is concern in respect to the relationship between an emerging 

SDP and the position with any emerging LDPs or ‘LDP-lites’ within the CJC area. What 

would be the consequences for those lower-tier plans if an emerging SDP were withdrawn 

prior to submission? Would an existing adopted LDP be permitted to extend beyond its 

Page 133



 

 

8 

 

drop-dead date in such a scenario? Will the preparation of LDP-lites not be permitted to 

proceed before an SDP is adopted, and so create a potentially lengthy linear process? The 

Council would welcome clearer guidance on these issues and the relationship of SDPs 

prepared under the aegis of the CJC to LDPs /LDP-lites prepared by LPAs to prevent 

policy vacuums emerging. 

 

There is a potential risk that should an SDP fail to be adopted, then the region may 

potentially find itself with only partial LDP coverage, or no up-to-date LDPs, or any LDP-

lites in place which leaves only the NDF in place as a development plan.  

 

 

Q9 We have asked a number of specific questions.  If you have any 

related issues which we have not specifically addressed, please 

report them 

Council Response:  Whilst the Council is generally supportive of the principle of carrying 

out an SDP across the Mid-Wales region, the proposed regulations and guidance give rise 

to a number of concerns which it considers need to be addressed. 

 

Of particular concern is the resourcing of an SDP, both in terms of cost and staffing. For 

example, to carry out SA/SEA of both SDP and LDP-lites will reflect a cost increase 

compared to LDPs alone. With staff committed to monitoring and review of LDPs/LDP-

lites, this will limit the ability for transfer to an SDP team, so a new team of policy 

planners may be required to deliver and monitor an SDP. 

 

The Council would welcome clarification as to whether the CJC and SDP regulations and 

guidance will include having regard to purposes of National Parks and the respective 

National Park Management Plans. 

 

It is also unclear whether there will be a need for a regional Well-being Plan to which the 

SDP will have regard and the Council would welcome additional clarification on this. It is 

recognised that individual local authorities across a region may not have Well-being Plans 

that are aligned as they reflect local needs and as a consequence an SDP could not readily 

draw on them. 

 

Consideration should be given to updating the Development Plan Manual so that it clearly 

defines what happens at each level of plan making and the expected requirements of each 

plan, be it, the NDF/Future Wales, an SDP or an LDP/LDP-lite. 

 

Consideration should be given to removing the drop-dead date for LDPs in case an SDP 

cannot be completed within time.  

 

Given the longer Plan period of SDPs, consideration should be given to a longer review 

period of at least five years and preferably eight, otherwise the different tiers of Plan get 

caught up in a continuing cycle of review. The Council consider that the SDP should be 

sufficiently robust to cover two LDP-lite review cycles and if monitoring indicates that is 

not the case, then short-form review of the SDP or elements within it should be an option 

within the regulations. 

 

Page 134



 

 

9 

 

 

 
 
Responses to consultations are likely to be made public, on the internet or in a 
report.  If you would prefer your response to remain anonymous, please tick here     
 
How to respond 

Please submit your comments by 4 January 2021 in any of the following ways:  

 

Email Post 

Please complete the consultation 
form and send it to:  

planconsultations-b@gov.wales 
 
[Please include ‘Strategic 
Development Plan (SDP) 
Regulations Consultation’ in the 
subject line] 

Please complete the consultation form and 
send it to: 

Strategic Development Plan (SDP) Regulations 
Consultation 
Plans Branch 
Planning Directorate  
Welsh Government  
Cathays Park  
Cardiff  
CF10 3NQ 

 

Page 135

mailto:planconsultations-b@gov.wales


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Number: WG41053 

 

The Town and Country Planning (Strategic 
Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2021  

 

Regulations establishing the procedure for the preparation of 
Strategic Development Plans and associated matters   

Date of issue: 12 October 2020  

Action required: Responses by 4 January 2021  

Mae’r ddogfen yma hefyd ar gael yn Gymraeg.  
This document is also available in Welsh. 
 

 
  © Crown Copyright 

Welsh Government  

Consultation Document 

Page 137



 

1 
 

Overview This consultation is seeking your views on the policy 
approach for the subordinate legislation required to 
establish the procedure for Strategic Development Plans 
(“SDPs”) to be prepared across Wales by Corporate Joint 
Committees (“CJCs”) and associated matters. The 
Regulations will be called the Town and Country Planning 
(Strategic Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2021.  
 
 

How to 
respond 

This consultation includes a set of specific questions to 
which the Welsh Government would welcome your 
response. 
 
Responses are welcome in either English or Welsh and 
should be sent by e-mail or post to arrive no later than 4 
January 2021. 
 

You can reply in any of the following ways:  
 
Online:   
Please complete the online questionnaire on the 
consultation page of the Welsh Government website: 
 
https://gov.wales/consultations  
   
Email:   

Please complete the consultation response form available 
on the consultation page of the Welsh Government website 
and email to:  
 
planconsultations-b@gov.wales 
 
Post:  
Please complete the consultation response form available 
on the consultation page of the Welsh Government website 
and post to:  
  
Strategic Development Plan (SDP) Regulations Consultation 
Plans Branch 
Planning Directorate  
Welsh Government  
Cathays Park  
Cardiff  
CF10 3NQ 
 
 

Further 
information 
and related 
documents 
 
 

Large print, Braille and alternative language versions of 
this document are available on request. 
 
Development Plans Manual (Edition 3) March 2020: 
 

Page 138

mailto:planconsultations-b@gov.wales


 

2 
 

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-
03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf 
 

Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) 
(Wales) Regulations 2005: 
 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2005/2839/contents/made 
 
Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) 
(Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 2015: 
 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2005/2839/contents/made 
 
Consultation on Regulations to establish Corporate Joint 
Committees (CJC)  
 
https://gov.wales/consultations  
 

Contact 
details 

For further information: 
 
Email: planconsultations-b@gov.wales 
 
Tel: Candice Myers on 0300 025 3882   

Also available 
in Welsh at: 

https://llyw.cymru/ymgyngoriadau 

Page 139

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2005/2839/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2005/2839/contents/made
mailto:planconsultations-b@gov.wales


 

3 
 

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 

The Welsh Government will be data controller for any personal data you provide as part of 
your response to the consultation. Welsh Ministers have statutory powers they will rely on to 
process this personal data which will enable them to make informed decisions about how 
they exercise their public functions. Any response you send us will be seen in full by Welsh 
Government staff dealing with the issues which this consultation is about or planning future 
consultations. Where the Welsh Government undertakes further analysis of consultation 
responses then this work may be commissioned to be carried out by an accredited third party 
(e.g. a research organisation or a consultancy company). Any such work will only be 
undertaken under contract. Welsh Government’s standard terms and conditions for such 
contracts set out strict requirements for the processing and safekeeping of personal data. 

In order to show that the consultation was carried out properly, the Welsh Government 
intends to publish a summary of the responses to this document. We may also publish 
responses in full. Normally, the name and address (or part of the address) of the person or 
organisation who sent the response are published with the response. If you do not want your 
name or address published, please tell us this in writing when you send your response. We 
will then redact them before publishing. 

You should also be aware of our responsibilities under Freedom of Information legislation 

If your details are published as part of the consultation response then these published reports 
will be retained indefinitely. Any of your data held otherwise by Welsh Government will be 
kept for no more than three years. 

 

Your rights 

Under the data protection legislation, you have the right: 

 to be informed of the personal data held about you and to access it 

 to require us to rectify inaccuracies in that data 

 to (in certain circumstances) object to or restrict processing 

 for (in certain circumstances) your data to be ‘erased’ 

 to (in certain circumstances) data portability 

 to lodge a complaint with the Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) who is our 
independent regulator for data protection. 

 
 
For further details about the 
information the Welsh Government 
holds and its use, or if you want to 
exercise your rights under the GDPR, 
please see contact details below: 
Data Protection Officer: 
Welsh Government 
Cathays Park 
CARDIFF 
CF10 3NQ 
 
E-mail: 
Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales 

The contact details for the Information 
Commissioner’s Office are:  
Wycliffe House 
Water Lane 
Wilmslow 
Cheshire 
SK9 5AF 
 
Tel: 01625 545 745 or  
0303 123 1113 
Website: https://ico.org.uk/ 

Page 140

mailto:Data.ProtectionOfficer@gov.wales
https://ico.org.uk/


 

4 
 

Contents Page    
 

Section Page Paragraph 

1. What is this consultation about?   
 

5 1.1 

2. What is the current position?  
 Strategic Development Plans – the current legal 

framework  
 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill 

(LGEB) – context and implications for SDPs 
 Why are the SDP regulations required? 
 

 
5 
 

6 
 

6 

 
2.1 - 2.4 

 
2.5 - 2.7 

 
2.8 

3. Future work and consultation 

 SDP Guidance Document 
 Local Development Plan ‘Lites’  

 

 
6 - 7 

 

 
3.2 - 3.4 
3.5 - 3.6 

4. What are we proposing? The policy intent, broad scope, and 
principles of the SDP regulations 
 
Stage 1: The Community Involvement Scheme (incorporating a 
timetable for plan preparation) 
 
Stage 2: Pre-Deposit Engagement  

 The call for candidate sites 
 Generating issues and options and engagement 

 
Stage 3: Preferred Strategy – Pre-Deposit Public Consultation 
& Summary of Responses Received 
 
Stage 4: The Deposit Plan – Public Consultation and Summary 
of Responses Received  
 
Stage 5: Submission of the Deposit Plan for Public 
Examination & Adoption 
 
Stage 6: Monitoring, Review and Revision  

 Annual Monitoring Reports 
 The Review and Revision Process 

 
Other procedural matters and considerations  

 Withdrawal of an SDP 
 Withdrawal in the absence of a direction 
 Intervention of the Welsh Ministers 

 

7 - 8 
 
 

8 - 9 
 
 

9 - 10 
 
 
 

10 - 11 
 
 

11 - 12 
 
 

12 - 13 
 
 

 13 - 14 
 
 
 
 

14 
14 - 15 

15 

4.1 - 4.4 
 
 

4.6 - 4.7 
 
 

4.8 - 4.11 
 
 
 

4.12 
 
 

4.13 
 
 

4.14 - 4.20 
 
 

4.21 - 4.23 
 
 
 
 

4.24 
4.25 - 4.27 

4.28 

Annex 1 : Proposed Definition of Specific and General 
Consultation Bodies  
 

16 - 

 
 
 

Page 141



 

5 
 

1. What is this Consultation About?  
 
1.1 This consultation is seeking your views on our policy intent for the subordinate 
legislation required to establish the procedure for SDPs to be prepared across Wales by 
CJCs. The Regulations will be called the Town and Country Planning (Strategic 
Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2021 (“the SDP Regulations”).  
 
2. What is the current position? 
 
Local Development Plans and Strategic Development Plans – the current legal 
framework  
 
2.1 Local Development Plan (“LDP”) preparation and adoption is governed by provisions 
in Part 6 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (“the PCPA”). The Town 
and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2005, as amended 
(“the LDP Regulations”), made under that Part, set out the procedure for the preparation 
of local development plans (“LDPs”) by local planning authorities (“LPAs”). The LDP 
Regulations have to date facilitated the adoption of 22 initial LDPs and 3 LDP first 
revisions in Wales. 
 
2.2 The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 (“PWA”) gained Royal Assent on 6th July 2015. 
Amongst other things, it amends Part 6 of the PCPA for the purpose of introducing SDPs, 
to be prepared by governance bodies called Strategic Planning Panels (“SPPs”) on the 
basis of either a voluntary approach by two or more LPAs or a Ministerial direction. It also 
makes additional provision so that LDPs must be in general conformity with the National 
Development Framework for Wales (“the NDF”) and any SDP prepared in relation to the 
geographical area in question, while the SDP itself must similarly be in conformity with 
the NDF. 
 
2.3 The policy intent in respect of SDPs is to introduce a more strategic approach to plan 
making at a scale greater than individual LDPs. There is an identified need to improve 
how the planning system addresses issues that cross local authority boundaries, to 
reflect how people live their lives today and in the future. SDPs will provide a more 
consistent, cost effective and efficient approach to plan making, with key decisions taken 
once at the strategic level. This will allow larger than local issues such as housing 
numbers, strategic housing allocations, strategic employment sites, strategic green 
infrastructure routes, supporting transport infrastructure which cuts across a number of 
LPA areas to be considered and planned for in an integrated and comprehensive way. 
This will result in more efficient and effective planning outcomes for communities.   
 
2.4 The provision in Part 6 of the PCPA which is related to SDPs is made up of 
procedural provision and powers conferred on the Welsh Ministers for the purposes of 
making further procedural provisions in regulations. In summary, the key provisions are: 
 

 Section 60H (survey) 

 Section 60I (duty to prepare, plan objectives, conformity requirements of an 
SDP, issues to which the SPP must have regard, Sustainability Appraisal 
requirements, adoption/when the plan has effect, end date provisions) 

 Section 60J (application of various provisions applicable in the context of LDPs 
to SDPs).  

Page 142



 

6 
 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill (LGEB) – context and 
implications for SDPs  
 
2.5 The Local Government Elections Bill (“LGEB”) was introduced into the Senedd in 
November 2019. It introduces CJCs as the Welsh Ministers’ preferred means of 
preparing an SDP, in place of SPPs. Accordingly, the Welsh Ministers intend to 
introduce amendments to the LGEB which will in turn amend Part 6 of the PCPA, so 
that the provisions relevant to SDPs are replicated in all material respects, albeit in a 
new context where the CJC is the sole body responsible for their preparation. 

 
2.6 The LGEB confers a power on the Welsh Ministers to establish CJCs via 
regulations. The Minister for Housing and Local Government has confirmed the Welsh 
Government’s intention to establish the first CJCs as soon as possible. These CJCs will 
exercise functions relating to the preparation of an SDP, to the development of Regional 
Transport plans and in addition, will include a power to promote or improve the 
economic well-being of its area. 
 
2.7 A consultation on the draft regulations establishing the CJCs is being undertaken in 
parallel with this consultation. This consultation seeks comments on the SDP 
Regulations alone. Should you wish to make any views on the regulations establishing 
CJCs, please do so via the link below: 
 
https://gov.wales/consultations  
 
Why are the SDP Regulations required?  
 
2.8 The SDP Regulations are necessary for the purpose of making procedural 
provisions which supplement and bolster that which is set out in Part 6 of the PCPA. 
This will enable SDPs to be prepared by CJCs and given full effect in accordance with 
Welsh Government policy. 
 
3. Future work and consultation 
 

3.1 This consultation is concerned with the proposed approach for the drafting of SDP 
Regulations (see Section 4). It is important to note that there will be future opportunities 
to engage and influence future guidance and legislation that will assist in the preparation 
and implementation of an SDP.   
 
SDP Guidance Document   
 
3.2 Welsh Government guidance in the Development Plans Manual ‘the DPM’ gives 
detailed practical and procedural guidance to LPAs, expanding on and explaining the 
regulations and procedural issues where relevant. The DPM was subject to a 12 week 
public consultation and was published in March 2020. The DPM (Chapter 10) contains 
guidance on the Government’s vision, expectations and policy priorities for SDPs. It also 
provides the context for the preparation of the SDP Regulations as set out below:  
 

 The development plan hierarchy, definition of ‘general conformity’ and the 
relevant legislation applicable to plan preparation (paras 2.3-2.21) 

 Tests of Soundness – applicable to SDPs (Table 27 page 166) 

Page 143



 

7 
 

 Chapter 10: ‘Strategic Development Plans’ sets out the Government’s intention 
that the Regulations will largely mirror the LDP process. The DPM indicates 
(Table 36, DPM) that subject to public consultation which LDP Regulations are 
unlikely to apply to an SDP, as well as key aspects, both in legislative terms and 
expected plan content.  
 

3.3 The DPM gives a strong steer on the content of an SDP and much of the guidance 
in terms of the key plan stages, preparation and examination procedures, SEA 
requirements, the ‘soundness’ tests and evidence base requirements will continue to 
remain relevant to the process we are proposing for an SDP. It is the intention to 
prepare specific SDP guidance to assist the CJC relevant to the scale of an SDP and 
the regulations when they come into force.  
 
3.4 Welsh Government will produce guidance relevant to the preparation of an SDP that 
will be the subject of public consultation and engagement with CJCs / LPAs and key 
stakeholders before it is formally published. In addition, a revised Development Plan 
Community Guide setting out the development plan hierarchy, preparation process and 
the timings and methods of engagement is also due to be published in summer 2021 for 
use by local communities, businesses and stakeholders. 
 
Local Development Plans prepared underneath an SDP 
 

3.5 In areas with an adopted SDP, an LDP will still need to be prepared. LDPs prepared 
under an adopted SDP will be more focussed in nature, dealing with local issues and 
policies, and will identify site specific allocations, prepared in general conformity with the 
adopted SDP. They will be shorter and more focused in nature and will be prepared and 
adopted in around two years. For this purpose, fresh regulations will be required. For the 
purposes of differentiation in this document and future guidance the LDPs prepared 
under an SDP are called Local Development Plan ‘Lites’ (LDPL).   
 
3.6 Welsh Government currently anticipates that work will start on these regulations in 
spring 2021 with a view to the regulations coming into force by spring/summer 2022. A 
specific consultation and engagement with LPAs on the ‘LDP Lite’ regulations will be 
undertaken before the regulations are finalised.  
 
4. What are we proposing? The policy intent, broad scope, and principles of the 
SDP regulations 
 
4.1 The purpose of this consultation is to seek comments on the policy intent of the SDP 
Regulations. All comments received will assist us to shape and finalise those 
Regulations.  
 
4.2 It is considered that the current statutory process works effectively and is generally 
well understood by all users of the system. It is the policy position that it is appropriate 
that the SDP Regulations should largely mirror (expect those contained in paragraph 
4.4) the key stages and plan preparation requirements of the PCPA and associated 
LDP Regulations, where relevant and applicable to do so. A link to the LDP regulations 
has been provided on page 2. The key difference between an LDP and an SDP is one 
of scale and this principle will be reflected in the SDP Regulations.   
 

Page 144



 

8 
 

4.3 In addition, a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating a Welsh Language 
Assessment and Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) are statutory requirements 
of the plan making process. All plans are subject to the principles and ways of working 
of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act (WBFGWA) 2015. These 
provisions will apply equally to an SDP as they do an LDP.  
 
Provision in the LDP Regulations which is not intend for inclusion in the SDP 
Regulations 
 
4.4 Due to the strategic nature of an SDP the following stages of LDP preparation will 
not be taken forward:  
 

 It is proposed not to have a short form procedure to prepare an SDP equivalent 
to that set out in Part 4A of the LDP Regulations. This procedure is considered 
appropriate where there are very limited alternatives to the strategy of a plan, 
options, policies etc. However, due to the strategic nature of an SDP, its 
complexity, degree of influence, breadth of potential options, strategies and 
locations for change, this approach would not be appropriate. 

 Joint plan provisions equivalent to those in Part 6 of the LDP Regulations will not 
be applied to an SDP, as by its nature an SDP is a strategic approach to 
planning covering several LDPs areas. 

4.5 This document sets out the proposed key stages and plan preparation requirements 
for the SDP regulations and asks relevant questions. When responding to the 
questions, can you please be clear on why you are agreeing or disagreeing and the 
changes you propose. 
 
Q1 Do you agree the SDP Regulations should broadly mirror the key stages 

and plan preparation requirements set out in the LDP Regulations, 
subject to the exceptions referred too?    
 
If not, please explain why     
  

 
Stage 1: The Community Involvement Scheme (incorporating a timetable for plan 
preparation) 

 
4.6 A core aim for the development plan system in Wales is early, effective and 
meaningful community involvement in the process with the aim of building a broad 
consensus on the spatial strategy, policies and proposals. This principle applies to both 
LDPs and SDPs.   
 
4.7 Before work on the SDP formally commences, the CJC must engage with its 
communities, including general and specific consultation bodies, on the content of a 
Community Involvement Scheme (“CIS”) and timetable for plan preparation, collectively 
called the Delivery Agreement (“DA”). This will be the key mechanism setting out how 
and when communities will be involved in the SDP process so they can effectively 
shape and influence their area. A proposed list of the general and specific consultation 
bodies is contained within Annex 1. The following principles will be reflected in the SDP 
Regulations:  

Page 145



 

9 
 

 

 The DA and any subsequent revision must be agreed by resolution of the CJC 
and submitted to the Welsh Ministers for approval. A CJC cannot commence 
formal plan preparation until a DA has been agreed. The regulations will specify 
that Welsh Government must respond within 4 weeks of a request to agree the 
DA. Agreement of the DA marks the formal start of the plan preparation / revision 
process. The CJC is committed to the stated timescales and consultation 
processes.  

 The DA must set out how, when and where communities can engage in the SDP 
process, including engagement in the SA and monitoring procedures.  

 The DA will set out the timescales for each stage in the plan preparation process. 
The stages proposed are explained in this consultation document.  

 The DA must set out how any responses and representations received at each 
stage of engagement / consultation will be published and taken into account by 
the CJC.  

 Publication arrangements for the DA and where it can be accessed.  

 There will be an emphasis throughout the regulations on the use of electronic 
communications. However, provision will still be made for key documents to be 
available in hard copies at principle offices and key locations specified by the 
CJC in the CIS.  

 
Q2 Do you agree with the proposed approach to the Community Involvement 

Scheme (CIS) and Delivery Agreement (DA)?  
 
If not, please explain why 
 

Q3 Do you agree with the list of general and specific consultation bodies 
listed in Annex 1?   
 
If not, who else do you think should be considered for inclusion and why? 
 

 
What are the key stages of engagement on the emerging plan?  
 

4.8 It is proposed that an SDP should be capable of being prepared and adopted within 4 
years, similar to the current LDP process. The only difference is one of scale on the 
issues being considered. The key aim is to devise a legislative process that is not unduly 
long or complicated, and provides opportunities for communities and stakeholders to 
influence and make representations at key stages of the emerging SDP.  
 
4.9 In addition, the requirements in respect of sustainable development provided for by 
the WBFGWA will also be central to the preparation of an SDP. The requirements of the 
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) incorporating a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
and impacts of development on the Welsh language will form an integral part of SDP 
preparation and engagement. It is proposed that the statutory SA/SEA requirements will 
be fully integrated into the SDP process and provide the framework, options and 
evidence necessary to help inform the SDP spatial strategy and policy choices.  
 
4.10 Four years is considered a reasonable time to prepare a robust evidence base and 
allow opportunities for public engagement to test and seek views on the issues and 

Page 146



 

10 
 

options, spatial strategy, proposed allocations and supporting evidence in a robust and 
transparent manner, including alignment and integration with SA and Welsh language 
requirements. On this basis, it is proposed to retain a two stage approach as set out in 
the current LDP regulations. There will be a preferred strategy and a deposit plan before 
the SDP is submitted for public examination.  
 
Stage 2: Pre-Deposit Engagement – the CJC will ask for sites to be included and 
consider a range of strategies and options  
 

4.11 Effective public involvement at the preferred strategy stage is essential for 
meaningful community and stakeholder involvement. Early discussion on the evidence 
base, strategic options, strategy and related proposals, including strategic locations and 
sites, will be critical for consensus building and to ensure there are no major 
impediments to the delivery of the preferred strategy. Consultation with specific and 
general consultation bodies is essential. The following principles will be reflected in the 
regulations: 
 

 The call for strategic locations and sites will form the initial building blocks of 
the SDP. The regulations will specify that a ‘call for strategic locations and sites’ 
must be undertaken before a CJC can formally consult on its Preferred Strategy. 
Strategic locations and sites can either be proposed by the CJC or by other 
interested parties. All strategic locations and sites received will be published in a 
‘Candidate Strategic Locations and Sites Register’, which will be published 
alongside the Preferred Strategy, enabling people to comment. The CJC must 
consider any strategic locations and sites submitted before determining the 
content of the Deposit Plan. The SDP Regulations will not preclude a further ‘call 
for strategic locations and sites’ before the Deposit Stage if the CJC consider it 
appropriate.  

 

 Generating issues and options and engagement – The regulations will set out 
that before a CJC finalises and formally consults on its Preferred Strategy, it 
must engage with specific and general consultation bodies, and others as the 
CJC thinks appropriate (as set out in the CIS) on the range of strategies and 
options considered and seek views on them. The regulations will be flexible in 
this respect and it will be for the CJC to decide on the specific detail on what it 
consults on at this stage in the process. However, compliance with the 
participation and public consultation requirements of the SDP Regulations must 
also meet the requirements of the SEA Regulations to ensure reasonable 
alternatives to the plan are identified and evaluated.   

 
Stage 3: Preferred Strategy – Pre-Deposit Public Consultation & Summary of 
Responses Received 
 
4.12 The Preferred Strategy is the first statutory consultation stage in the SDP process.  
The Preferred Strategy and supporting evidence will be subject to a minimum of 6 
weeks statutory consultation. It sets out the broad approach to the scale and location of 
growth and ensures development is planned in a sustainable manner. It provides the 
strategic framework for more detailed policies, proposals and specific land use 
allocations, which will subsequently be included in the Deposit SDP. The regulations will 
specify that it must contain a preferred spatial strategy, options and proposals for the 

Page 147



 

11 
 

SDP and the implications of these, with earlier alternatives and implications made 
explicit (See also SA and Stage 2). The following principles will be reflected in the 
regulations: 
 

 Publication arrangements and locations where people can access documents, 
i.e. electronically or in hard copy at principal offices of the CJC and the LPAs 
within the CJC geographical area.  

 Minimum content and documentation requirements including; the Preferred 
Strategy, supporting evidence as the CJC considers appropriate, initial SA report, 
strategic locations and sites register and any review report. The Preferred 
Strategy will contain policies and reasoned justification.  

 A list of general and specific consultees to be engaged (see Annex 1) in addition 
to any general consultation body that the CJC considers have an interest in 
matters relating to the development of the CJC area. This will also include 
mandatory consultation with any neighbouring CJC and LPA.  

 Details about the submission and handling of representations which must be 
made in the timescales set out by the CJC and sent to the address specified, 
either in hard copy or electronically.  

 The CJC must consider any representations made in relation to the Preferred 
Strategy before determining the content of the Deposit Plan.  

 Following consultation on the Preferred Strategy, the CJC must prepare a 
Consultation Report setting out the number of representations received, including 
who it has engaged and notified, and summarise the main issues raised in and 
responses from all engagement and consultations up to this point. The 
Consultation Report must set out to what extent the issues raised have been 
addressed before finalising the content of the Deposit Plan. This ensures there 
will be a transparent audit trail for communities to understand how their 
comments have been taken into account in the SDP process.  

 
Stage 4: The Deposit Plan – Public Consultation and Summary of Responses 
Received  

 
4.13 The Deposit Plan is the plan the CJC considers ‘sound’ and intends to submit for 
examination following consultation and is able to be adopted. The Deposit Plan must be 
consulted on for a minimum of 6 weeks. It will include the final spatial strategy for all 
land uses, including strategic site allocations. It will be supported by a proposals map / 
maps. It will be accompanied by a supporting evidence base and final SA/SEA reports. 
All policies and proposals that have a spatial implication will be reflected on an OS 
based proposals map / maps. The Deposit Plan will contain policies and reasoned 
justification for the range of topic areas relevant to the CJC area. The following 
principles will be reflected in the regulations: 
 

 Publication arrangements and locations where people can access documents 
and representations received, i.e. electronically or in hard copy at principal 
offices of the CJC and LPAs within it.  

 Minimum content and documentation requirements including the Deposit Plan, 
supporting evidence as the CJC considers appropriate, SA report, Habitats 
Regulations Assessment report, updated strategic locations and sites, the 
consultation report and any review report.  

Page 148



 

12 
 

 Details about the submission of and handling of representations which must be 
made in the timescales set out by the CJC, and sent to the address specified, 
either in hard copy or electronically.  

 Following consultation on the Deposit Plan and before the plan is submitted for 
examination, the CJC must update the Consultation Report setting out which 
bodies the CJC has engaged, consulted or notified at Deposit stage. A summary 
of the main issues raised, responses and representations made as a result of the 
engagement, consultations or notification. The total number of representations 
received and the CJCs recommendations as to how it considers the main issues 
raised through each of the representations received should or should not be 
addressed in the SDP. This will be considered during the examination process. 
The report will set out if there has been any deviation from the community 
involvement scheme and robust explanation and justification for doing so.  

 
Q4 Do you agree with the two stage preparation and consultation approach 

proposed at Preferred Strategy and Deposit?  
 
If not, please explain why and what alternative approach you would 
suggest?  
 

Q5 Do you agree with the particular elements of the procedures and 
requirements proposed for SDP preparation including proposals from 
pre-deposit to Deposit stage?     
 
If not, please explain why 
 

 
Stage 5: Submission of the Deposit Plan for Public Examination & Adoption 
 

4.14 The CJC must not submit the SDP to Welsh Ministers unless it has considered all 
the representations made at Deposit Stage. The CJCs response to the representations 
received at Deposit will be documented in the updated Consultation Report.  
 
4.15 The Consultation Report will be considered as part of the examination process, 
during which the Planning Inspectorate will consider the plan and supporting evidence 
on behalf of Welsh Ministers. When a plan is submitted for examination, the plan is 
within the remit of the Planning Inspectorate.   
 
4.16 The SDP regulations will specify the notification, publication and documentation 
requirements for submitting the plan for examination. This will ensure that all interested 
parties are aware of the examination procedures, the name of the appointed inspector 
and the timescales and venue/s for the examination hearings. The specific examination 
submission documents are: 
 

 The Deposit Plan and supporting proposals map/s 

 All relevant supporting evidence relating to the preparation of the SDP 

 Updated Consultation Report containing the summary of issues raised and 
representations received at Stages 2-4 and the CJC response (see paragraphs 
4.12 - 4.13)  

 Updated SA and HRA reports 

Page 149



 

13 
 

 Any relevant Review Report 

 ‘Strategic locations and sites’ register 

 Copy of the representations received at Deposit Stage  

 The Delivery Agreement 
 

4.17 The appointed inspector must consider all ‘duly made’ representations and 
determine if the SDP is ‘sound’. The function of the examination is to assess whether 
the preparation requirements have been followed and whether the submitted LDP 
meets the tests of soundness. The soundness tests are contained in Table 37 of the 
DPM and will remain relevant for an SDP, albeit they will be updated in the guidance 
produced in respect of the preparation of an SDP.   
 
4.18 When the examination process has concluded, the Inspector will make binding 
recommendations (in the Inspectors Report), either to adopt the plan as it is or with the 
changes set out. The CJC may adopt the plan, based on the Inspectors changes, within 
8 weeks of receiving the report. The CJC must publish the Inspectors report (on its 
website and at principal locations) on or before the day the SDP is adopted.  
 
4.19 Following adoption of the SDP, the CJC must prepare an Adoption Statement 
which will state the date the SDP is adopted and make clear that if a person is 
aggrieved by the SDP they may make an application to the High Court under Section 
113 of the PCPA. This section provides that a person can make a legal challenge in the 
6 weeks following the date of adoption. The CJC will publicise the adoption and notify all 
those who have asked to be notified and set out the availability of key documents. The 
CJC will make the following documents available online and at the key locations 
identified by the CJC:  
 

 The SDP & Proposals Map/s 

 Adoption Statement 

 The SA Report 

 The Inspectors Report 
 

4.20 The CJC must send one hard copy of the SDP and Adoption Statement to Welsh 
Ministers.  
 

Q6 Do you agree with the proposed approach for submission, examination 
and adoption of an SDP?  
 
If not, please explain why     
 

 
Stage 6: Monitoring, Review and Revision  
 

4.21 Monitoring is a continuous process and does not end once a plan is adopted. It 
represents an essential feedback loop within the cyclical process of achieving 
sustainable development. Monitoring and review should be an ongoing function of the 
plan led system and is a vital aspect of evidence based policy making.  
 
Annual Monitoring Reports 
 

Page 150



 

14 
 

4.22 The CJC (following resolution) must publish and send an Annual Monitoring Report 
(“AMR”) to the Welsh Ministers by 31st October each year following adoption.  The SDP 
regulations will state: 
 

 That the AMR must set out what policies are not being implemented, including 
any remedial actions to address any deficiencies. 

 The AMR will conclude on whether a revision of the SDP is required.  

 The AMR should be published on the CJC website.  
 
The Review and Revision Process 
 
4.23 The AMR should assess the extent to which the plan’s strategy and key policies, 
sites and infrastructure requirements are being delivered. Each AMR will be based on 
the results and commentary of the preceding financial year. This will enable trends to 
become clear with more refined commentary and analysis. This will assist the CJC in 
having documentation to inform the review and revision of the SDP. The SDP 
regulations will specify that: 
 

 The CJC must review its LDP no longer than 4 years from the date of adoption. A 
CJC can decide to review its plan earlier if evidence from the AMR, or publication 
of the National Development Framework suggests this is the most prudent 
course of action to deal with the issues, or to make the SDP in conformity with 
the NDF.   

 When the CJC commences a review of its SDP it must, within 6 months of 
commencing a review, submit a Review Report to Welsh Ministers. The Review 
Report must be agreed by resolution of the CJC before it is submitted to Welsh 
Ministers.  

 The content of the Review Report will be set out in guidance, currently the DPM.  
 

Q7 Do you agree with the proposed approach to monitoring, review and 
revision of an SDP?  
 
If not, please explain why     
 

 
Other procedural matters and considerations  

 
Withdrawal of an SDP 

 
4.24 The SDP regulations will contain detail about the application, notification and 
publication procedures in respect of withdrawal of an SDP.  
 
Withdrawal in the absence of a direction 
 
4.25 A CJC may withdraw an emerging SDP before it is submitted for examination. The 
CJC must notify Welsh Ministers of its intention to withdraw the plan prior to the actual 
withdrawal. The SDP Regulations will state that if a CJC intends to withdraw and cease 
work on its SDP, within 7 days of the CJC resolution to withdraw, the CJC must supply 
Welsh Ministers with the following: 
 

Page 151



 

15 
 

 Planning reasons for withdrawal of the SDP 

 A copy of the report to the CJC recommending the proposed withdrawal 

 A copy of the resolution to withdraw the SDP  
 
4.26 The Welsh Ministers can by direction ask for additional information if what is 
provided is not sufficient or does not comply what is required, and extend the time 
period to respond beyond the 6 weeks that is specified.  
 
4.27 Where an SDP is withdrawn, the SDP Regulations will also specify the notification 
and publication arrangements for the withdrawal to make clear to stakeholders that the 
plan is withdrawn. As soon as reasonably practical after an SDP is withdrawn, the CJC 
must publicise the fact and remove all documents relating to the plan from the public 
domain.  
 

Q8 Do you agree with the proposed approach for SDP withdrawal?   
 
If not, please explain why   

 
Intervention by the Welsh Ministers 
 

4.28 The SDP Regulations will set out the procedures, publication and notification 
arrangements for the application of the Welsh Ministers’ powers of intervention. If in 
exceptional circumstances powers of intervention are used in the SDP process, Welsh 
Ministers will operate in a transparent manner and the regulations will make provision 
on: 
 

 Publicising the reasons and rationale for using intervention powers 

 The procedures to be followed in the remaining plan process 

 Where and how people can make comments and the timescales for doing so 

 How and where documentation can be accessed 

 Welsh Ministers must give due consideration to any representations received 

 If a person is required to be appointed to examine the plan, this will follow a 
transparent process, akin to current examination procedures, and a report will be 
published setting out the conclusions and rationale for them.   

 
Q9 We have asked a number of specific questions.  If you have any related 

issues which we have not specifically addressed, please report them 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152



 

16 
 

Annex 1: Proposed Definition of Specific and General Consultation Bodies  

 
The SDP Regulations will define the minimum specific and general consultation bodies 
to be engaged in the SDP process.  Note that these are the minimum requirements and 
the CJC through its CIS will specify the specific and general consultation bodies and 
other interest groups as it considers appropriate and relevant to the CJC area. The 
proposed definition is as follows: 
 
Specific Consultation Bodies: 

 
 Any other CJC whose area adjoins the area of the CJC 

 Any LPA whose area is in or adjoins the area of the CJC 

 The Natural Resources Body for Wales – NRW 

 Network Rail Infrastructure Limited – where relevant 

 Welsh Ministers  

 Any Community Council whose area is in or adjoins the area of the CJC 

 A person to whom a license has been granted under section 6(1)(b) or (c) of the 
Electricity Act 1989  

 A person to whom a license has been granted under section 7(2) of the Gas Act 
1986 

 Local Health Board 

 Sewerage Undertaker 

 Water Undertaker  
 

General Consultation Bodies: 

 

 Voluntary bodies, some or all of whose activities benefit any part of the CJC area 

 Bodies which represent the interests of different racial, ethnic or national groups 
in the CJC area 

 Bodies which represent the interests of different religious groups in the CJC area 

 Bodies which represent the interests of disabled persons, within the meaning of 
the Equality Act 2006 in the CJC area 

 Bodies which represent the interests of persons carrying on business in the CJC 
area 

 Bodies which represent the interests of Welsh culture in the CJC area 

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Local Development Plan [LDP] Working Group  
10 December 2020 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Principal Planning Officer – Planning Policy 
  
REPORT TITLE: Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Consultation 

on their LDP2 Revised Delivery Agreement and 
Revised Preferred Strategy 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision   

 
Background summary: 
 
The original Local Development Plan 2 (LDP2) Delivery Agreement (DA) between the 
National Park Authority and the Welsh Government was agreed by the Welsh Government 
in September 2018. Since then considerable work has been done by the Park to progress 
the LDP2 in accordance with the agreed DA. However, the occurrence of the Covid 19 
pandemic has seen the Park Authority unable to meet some of the requirements of their 
own Community Involvement Strategy (CIS). Consequently the Deposit LDP could not be 
published this year either. 
 
Due to the above and as required by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) 
the Authority is seeking to agree an amended Delivery Agreement with the Welsh 
Government and this amended version is the subject of consultation. 
 
Whilst the timings of the revised DA have obviously had to be altered to reflect the 
circumstances created by the pandemic, the content remains substantially the same as the 
original. However, with regards to the contents, there is one important alteration; the virus 
has transformed many of the socio-economic conditions that future land use policy will need 
to operate within. Hence the revised DA includes an additional stage of stakeholder 
engagement to enable the Park to collaboratively reassess and amend the Preferred 
Strategy (PS). This amended PS is also included in this consultation: 
 
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Revised-Delivery-Agreement-for-
consultation.pdf 
 
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Prefered-Strategy-Revisited-for-
uploading.pdf 
 
 
Note for LDP Working Group Members: 
The BBNPA is seeking views and comments from the Council regarding the above 
consultation. Details of the documents were circulated to all Powys Members and Heads of 
Service on 16 November 2020 inviting comments, prior to the meeting of the LDP Working 
Group. A number of responses were received and these have been collated. The Draft 
Response circulated with the agenda may be subject to ongoing final revision should any 
further comments be received. Any such changes will be undertaken before submission 
deadline of 14 January 2021.  If there are any significant changes these will reported to the 
Working Group. 

 

Page 155

6

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Revised-Delivery-Agreement-for-consultation.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Revised-Delivery-Agreement-for-consultation.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Prefered-Strategy-Revisited-for-uploading.pdf
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/Prefered-Strategy-Revisited-for-uploading.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Powys County Council Consultation Response  

From: 

Powys County Council 

County Hall 

Spa Road East 

Llandrindod Wells 

Powys 

LD1 5LG 

 

Email: ldp@powys.gov.uk 

 

 

Reponse to BBNPA’s Revised Preferred Strategy Consultation Document 

Comments relating to the Economic Context;  
 
The Council note the intention to stop the protectionist policies linked to employment and retail. 
However, there is still a need to provide, and protect provision for, live/work units and this element 
of the local employment sector must not be ignored. 
 
The Council welcomes the intention to focus on green growth outcomes, and the importance of 
improving flexibility with regards to fostering the renewal of town centres and retail functions in 
settlements. 
 
 
Comments relating to the Social Context; 
 
The Council welcome the focus on 20 Minute Neighbourhoods however there are concerns about 
the viability of such a focus given other details in the revised PS (see below). 
 
 
Comments relating to the Strategy for Future Homes; 
 
The intention to meet the need for housing within the Park by apportioning housing growth to areas 
outside of the Park needs more thought and clarification and the Council would welcome further 
discussion.  
 
Taken as read this undermines the viability of 20 minute neighbourhoods as the provision of day to 
day services within 20 minutes of people’s homes relies on the viability of those services being 
maintained and improved which new housing achieves. It also removes any agency that the Park has 
to influence housing provision as well as potentially increasing a reliance on transport and carbon 
use if people have to travel in and out of the park between their homes and places of work.     
 
 
Other Comments from PCC 
 
Countryside Access and Recreation;  

From a Countryside Access and Recreation perspective, the Council welcome the recognition that 

access to the countryside plays an important part in the local economy and that it is proposed that 

Page 157



‘Growing tourism and outdoor recreation’ be one of the guiding principles. We also welcome the 

proposals to develop ’20-minute places’ with the aim of residents and visitors being able to walk and 

cycle to make amenity journeys. Maintaining and enhancing the public rights of way network is key 

to achieving both of these aims; we note that there is a focus on improving the accessibility of public 

rights of way in the National Park Authority’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan, which will support 

delivery of these outcomes.  

The Countryside Access and Recreation team’s work includes management and enhancement of 

public greenspaces, taking opportunities to enhance biodiversity as well as amenity wherever 

possible. This will contribute to the aspiration to ‘Offer high quality public realm and open spaces’ in 

the 20-minute places.  

 

Page 158



LDP2
Preferred 
Strategy 
Revisited

Autumn 2020

Planning for the Brecon 
Beacons post COVID-19 
recovery

Brecon Beacons
NATIONAL PARK

Page 159



CULTURAL ECOSYSTEM SERVICES

The vision and aspirations for LDP2 are framed 
around the guiding principles

Landscapes for Everyone 
Exemplars of the sustainable 
management of Natural Resources
Halting loss of biodiversity
Green energy and decarbonisation
Realising the economic potential of 
landscape
Growing tourism and outdoor recreation
Thriving Welsh language
All landscapes Matter
Delivering through collaboration
Innovation in resourcing.

Building Better Places [2]Valued and Resilient [1]

20 Minute Places 
Sustainable 
Management of 
Natural Resources [3]

Using natural resources in a way and at a 
rate that maintains and enhances the 
resilience of ecosystems and the benefits 
they provide 

animals, plants and other organisms;
air, water and soil;
minerals;
geological features and processes
physiological features;
climactic features and processes

.
 
 

Staying local:creating neighbourhoods
Active travel: exercise and rediscovered 

transport modes
Revitilaing our town centres

Digital places - the lockdown life
Changing working practices: our future need for 

employment land
Reawakening Wales'tourism and cultural 

sectors
Green infrastructure, health and well-being and 

ecological resilience
Improving air quality and soundscapes for 

better health and well-being 

[4]

20 Minute Places are those which provide for 
the day to day needs of residents within a 
twenty minute walk. They should be

Safe and accessible, well connected for 
pedestrians and cyclists to optimise 
active travel.
Offer high quality public realm and 
open spaces
Provide services and destinations that 
support local living
Delivery affordable housing 
Facilitate thriving economies.

 

Page 160



Foreword 

This document is something of an anomaly in terms of planning policy development.  It is not 
a policy document, nor is it presenting a detailed evidence base. It sets out our rationale for a 
shift in policy focus, making the case to revisit the Preferred Strategy phase of LDP2 
development. We regard this document as vital to the statutory phases of plan production, 
which is why we are publishing it now.   
 
As coronavirus took hold in 2020, the need to revisit Preferred Strategy phase of LDP2 became 
increasingly apparent.  The associated environmental, economic and societal impacts of the 
virus have had far reaching consequences that go well beyond public health and raise 
significant issues for future policy making, both nationally and here within the Park. 
 
The virus was a stark reminder of the human impacts on nature.  Coronavirus is a zoonotic 
disease which originated in the animal world and spread to humans with devastating rapidity 
and widespread impacts.  The UN Environment Programme tells us that such diseases will only 
increase as natural habitats are further degraded by human action and the changing climate. 
 
We watched and listened from our new makeshift home offices as our air become cleaner, 
and birdsong drowned out the sound of cars on streets.  These new ‘offices’ on various sofas, 
kitchen tables and in garden sheds brought new perspectives, giving us time and space to 
refocus on what our priorities must be if we are to build a better future.  We know we are not 
alone as we join a growing chorus of voices calling to build back better, build back greener, 
more equal, and more aware of the value of nature.   
 
We have attempted in the following pages to define how our outlook has shifted through the 
lens of Covid-19, and sketch out a policy framework which seeks to build hope of a better 
future for all. 
 
We would welcome your thoughts. 

James Marsden

Chair of Policy Forum

 

Julian Steadman

Chair of

 Planning and Rights of Way

 

Page 161



CONTENTS
CHANGE IS VITAL
In this section we set out why we are 
proposing changes to the LDP2 Strategy.

EVIDENCE FOR CHANGE
This section looks at the wider social, economic 
and environmental drivers that are shifting the 
policy agenda

BEING THE CHANGE
A new strategic development option for the 
National Park which focuses on delivering 
within social and planetary boundaries for the 
benefit of future generations.

This document sets out the National Park's strategic planning priorities 
for our new Local Development Plan in response to the changes 

brought about by Covid-19.  It is intended to recreate for the reader 
the change journey that we as an Authority have been on in response 

to the crisis.  This document is intended to be read, understood and 
spark the imagination of a wide range of stakeholders.  For those of 

you who wish to know more about the things we say, there are links to 
evidence sources and policy drivers within the text.

 
We welcome your thoughts on our vision 

#bethechangebreconbeacons

2

3

1

Page 162



This is a once in a generation opportunity for 

us to reset the clock and think again about the 

places we want to live, work and play in. 

 

We need to rebuild a greener, cleaner society 

with decarbonisation and social justice at its 

heart which respects our environment, whilst 

giving people good places to live in, which are 

accessible on foot, bike and public transport.

Julie James MS

 

Minister for Housing and Local Government

Welsh Government (July 2020)

 
 

[5]

Page 163



CHANGE IS VITAL
  A once in a generation opportunity 

The Local Development Plan is an 
important document in defining the 
levels of growth and forms of 
development that are needed in the 
National Park[6].  By nature LDPs are 
forward facing,  planning for future 
need, typically periods of 10-15 years 
ahead.   Despite their long-term vision, 
the legislation governing the 
production of Local Development Plans 
highlights the importance of 
monitoring and review to ensure the 
continued relevance of policy.  To that 
end we must review our Local 
Development Plan every four years.  If 
the review finds that things have 
changed  significantly we must write 
another LDP [7].
 
This legislative framework highlights 
the importance of ensuring that policy 
development is a dynamic process,  
flexible enough to enable adaptation 
should circumstances require such 
change. 
 
The National Park Authority is currently 
preparing our first replacement Local 
Development Plan (LDP2).  The first 
stage was the publication of a 
Preferred Strategy[8].  The Preferred 
Strategy sets out the key issues, vision 
and objectives considered necessary 
to support well-being and place-
making within the National Park up until 
2033.
 
 
  

 We published our Preferred Strategy 
for LDP2 in the Summer of 2019 [9].   
Since then things have changed to the 
extent that we believe it is important to 
revisit elements of our Preferred 
Strategy.
 
There are a myriad of reasons for the 
shifts in the evidence base that we see 
before us, however it is safe to say that 
the coronavirus has had the most 
significant impact forcing the need for 
change[10].

 
The coronavirus forced global 
restrictions in movement creating 
profound consequences in our ability 
to conduct ordinary life. The break in 
the norm brought the challenges of the 
everyday into clearer focus.  The lens of 
the pandemic, at once both tragic and 
hopeful, drew attention to some pretty 
fundamental issues.  Issues such as 
social inequity [11], economic resilience 
[12] , clean air [13], carbon usage [14] health 
[15], well-being [16], citizen action [17], 
access to services [18], digital 
connectivity [19], and the fundamental 
value of the natural world [20]. In 
response, there emerged a significant 
new narrative from policy advisers 
framed around the concept of Build 
Back Better, or rather, a call to reject 
business as usual post lock-down [21].   
The implication being that the existing 
policy narrative was insufficient for the 
future.
 

Page 164



Responding to the new narrative the 
Welsh Government issued policy 
guidance setting out their policy priorities 
that they feel are necessary in order to 
Recover Better. [22]  In this guidance and 
reiterated in Ministerial correspondence [21], 
Welsh Local Planning Authorities are to:- 
 

ensure that all emerging policies 
improve the well being of people and 
the resilience of the environment as 
they plan for recovery; and
ensure that LDPs are made in 
accordance with evidence that takes 
into consideration the impacts of the 
pandemic 

The Welsh Government set out that in the 
short and medium term policy will need to 
act as a catalyst for recovery across the 
pillars of sustainable development.  These 
considerations fall in to one of  three 
categories which can be summarised 
through the following questions:
 

1. What are the positive outcomes of 
the pandemic to act on?

2. What has the pandemic taught us to 
stop doing?

3. What actions are needed to create 
and sustain a better recovery [24]

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

The WG policy priorities for Post-
Pandemic recovery focus on the 
following  issues.  These will act as 
touchstones in our assessment of the 
shifting context of our policy for the 
post-covid National Park.
 

Staying local: 
creating neighbourhoods
Active travel:
exercise and rediscovered 
transport methods
Revitalising our town centres
Digital places ‒ the lockdown 
lifeline
Changing working practices:
our future need for employment 
land
Reawakening Wales’ tourism and 
cultural sectors
Green infrastructure, health and 
well-being and ecological 
resilience
Improving air quality and 
soundscapes for better health 
and well-being

 
Throughout this paper we will be using 
these questions and policy objectives 
to make sense of the changing policy 
context before us.
 
  

Photo credit: Clarrissa Price

 
 
This report provides a synthesis of the policy assessment and highlights key 
evidence and recommendations for the Spatial Strategy of LDP2 [26]

 
 
  

Page 165



Since the publication of the 2019 Preferred 
Strategy the Welsh Government have 
formalised their vision for Wales into a 
finalised version of Future Wales- The 
National Plan 2040 (formally the National 
Development Framework).  At time of 
writing Future Wales is under 
consideration by the Senedd prior to 
formal adoption by Welsh Government.  
 
As with the LDP, upon adoption Future 
Wales will have development plan status 
and therefore it is a significant document 
to the future of development in the 
National Park.
 
Unsurprisingly given all that has occurred 
since the publication of the Draft National 
Development Framework in the Summer 
of 2019 there have been significant 
changes which have implications for the 
way we frame our future strategic policy 
making within the National Park. 
 
Of primary significance is the creation of a 
fourth spatial plan region, the Mid Wales 
region, with the identification of Brecon 
and the Border Regional Growth Areas.
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 

Future Wales - The National 
Plan 2040 
(a development plan for wales)
 
  

The contextual change this brings to LDP2 
is of great importance. Firstly it urges us to 
understand the role and function of the 
National Park within a wider spatial 
grouping requiring us to contribute to a 
wider vision for the region as a whole.  But 
also seeks to ensure that future growth is 
considered at the regional level, and is not 
about individual aspirations of local 
planning authorities.
 
I
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

A vision for Rural Wales
 
Future Wales sets out the following vision for Rural Wales, LDP2 will seek to ensure that our 
policies and proposals work towards delivering on this shared goal.
 
... vibrant rural places with access to homes, jobs and services
In rural areas, job opportunities and community services will be supported to help attract and retain people.  A 
balance will be found between development and preserving the character of rural Wales, ensuring our small towns 
and  villages have bright futures as attractive places to live and  work. The rural economy will be thriving and 
communities will  be well connected digitally and physically. There will be
support for the agricultural sector and its supply chains to boost resilience through diversification
 
 
 

Page 166



The NPA welcomes the opportunity to work 
with our partners within the region to 
develop a Strategic Development Plan.  It 
is a region with much to capitalise on in 
terms of nature based solutions to 20th 
century problems, but is also facing 
significant population aging, outdated 
infrastructure and diminishing public 
services.  The future need for housing 
identified within Future Wales highlights 
that the majority (61%) is needed as 
affordable homes.  The challenge for a 
future SDP will be creating growth in an 
area that is naturally slowing down.
 
Whereas it is universally recognised that 
National Parks are not suitable locations 
for regional scale growth, we as a National 
Park believe we are of regional 
significance in terms of the natural 
resource we provide (both regionally and 
nationally). Our contribution to a Strategic 
Development Plan is through the varied 
ecosystem services we provide the region, 
both tangible (eg clean water) and 
intangible (enjoyment of the outdoors).
 
 
We therefore proceed with the 
development of LDP2 seeking to provide 
for the needs of our residents through the 
provision of housing sites to meet a 
known need for future housing types.   
Provision of land to meet aspirational 
growth beyond identified need will be 
addressed through the SDP and will be 
subject to the Silkin test within the 
National Park.
 
We support the recognition of Brecon  as 
a focal point within the region for 
commercial and public services.  Our 
LDP2 aims to conserve and enhance the 
regional significance of Brecon through 
land allocation and policy.
 
.
 
 
 

 
 

Future Wales 

Page 167



We need to turn the 
recovery into a real 
opportunity to do things 
right for the future– 
United Nations 
Secretary-General [27]

With this restart, a window of 
hope and opportunity opens… 
an opportunity for nations to 
green their recovery packages 
and shape the 21st century 
economy in ways that are 
clean, green, healthy, safe and 
more resilient – UN Climate 
Chief  [28]                   

Recovery means investing in new jobs, 
cleaner air and improved health. The 
actions needed to tackle climate 
change are central to rebuilding our 
economy. The Government must 
prioritise actions that reduce climate 
risks and avoid measures that lock-in 
higher emissions - Chairman  UK 
Climate Change Committee [31]

Wales’ recovery from the pandemic 
is an opportunity to enact change 
and build back better....is is a once 
in a generation opportunity to 
remedy past failures and we need 
bold, collaborative,
inclusive thinking - Future 
Generations commissioner  [29]

Even in this time of economic hardship 
for many in the development industry, 
we cannot fall back on quick-build, poor 
quality  development on sites which are 
not sustainable. We must learn from the 
past and ensure that a post Covid world 
has people’s well-being at its heart. - 
Julie James MS Minister for Housing and 
Local Government  [32]

The impact of coronavirus is vast 
and wide reaching but it could be a 
moment for fundamental change in 
our economy so we can build back 
better to ensure our future is fairer, 
more inclusive and more 
sustainable. Ken  Skates MS 
Minister for Economy, Transport 
and North Wales. [30]

Page 168



BEHIND THE 
CHANGE 

This section looks at the wider social, 
economic and environmental drivers that 
are shifting the policy agenda

It is a key component of the plan led 
planning system that any policy must be 
based on a robust and up to date 
evidence base.  Policy must be developed 
in response to demonstrable social, 
economic or environmental phenomenon 
which require active intervention to 
produce favourable outcomes for all [33].  
The preferred strategy as published relies 
on an evidence base that was mostly 
developed in 2018 early 2019 [34].  Based on 
this evidence we set out a plan that 
envisioned housing growth significantly 
beyond the demographic needs of the 
area [35]. 
 
We wanted to promote land to provide for 
more houses than the projections showed 
we needed.  The aim of this proposed 
oversupply was two-fold :
 

to attract and retain a younger 
demographic to counteract the 
negative consequences of the aging 
population predicted.  

 
to support the number of workforce 
jobs within the National Park. 

 
 
 

This we believed was an intervention to 
produce a more equitable outcome.
 
Since the time of publication, we have 
observed changes in the data which 
raise doubts as to deliverability of 
these principle objectives [36]  and a 
different story has begun to emerge.
 
The following pages provide an 
overview of the contextual changes 
observed during the first 6 months of 
the coronacrisis.  For ease of discussion 
we provide commentary on three 
distinct contexts – social, economic, 
environmental.  We do this whilst 
acknowledging that in reality there is 
no neat boundary of separation. The 
interconnections of such concepts is 
addressed in more detail in the 
Sustainability Appraisal of the strategic 
option which accompanies this 
consultation document [37].

Page 169



ECONOMIC CONTEXT

-20.4%
UK monthly GDP fell by 

in the Month of April 2020 - the biggest fall ever 
recorded 

47%
In a survey of UK businesses

of those asked foretasted reduced growth 
over the coming year 

-12.4%
Real GDP in 2020 will fall

according to central scenario estimates 
from the Office for Budgetary 

Responsibility

156%
increase in the number of 

applications for Job Seekers 
Allowance 

in the County of Powys from March to May 2020 

[38]

[39]

[40]

[41]

[42]

Page 170



The connection between jobs and 
houses in an area as rural as the 
National Park is not a simple equation.  
[44].  The theory of the jobs housing 
balance, which our initial position relied 
upon to some degree, has come to 
dominate policy guidance. This was an 
attempt to connect housing and 
economic policy, but linking jobs to 
houses depends on reducing travel to 
work areas so as to manage inward 
commuting and prevent outward 
'leakage' of wealth from an area [45].  
 
For the National Park several elements 
create a challenge to the standard 
relationship between jobs and houses 
and these started to come to light 
following our initial consultation.  Firstly, 
there is a disconnect between wages 
and house prices in the area.  The 
affordability ratio in the National Park 
stands at around 9:1 significantly beyond 
the wages of the principal (mostly public 
service) employment sectors [46].   
Digging down into the data reveals that 
for every one job supported through a 
programme of house building we would 
need to attract multiple other 
households to move to the park.[47]  This 
appears to be a disproportionately 
resources intensive means of ensuring 
equilibrium (not growth) within the 
economy.  Moreover, it seems a 
questionable exercise for an area 
charged with being exemplars of 
sustainable development and en-actors 
of the sustainable management of 
natural resources [48].

 
 
 
 

Meanwhile global events have 
proved that thinking about the 
economy as a stable and equalising 
system is increasingly problematic [49].  
When we were drafting the Preferred 
Strategy the data had showed that 
we were essentially planning for 
recession, we had, in no way 
envisioned a downturn as huge as 
the coronavirus pandemic created. 
 
One early report in March suggested 
that the coronavirus wiped  $23 
trillion from the market practically 
overnight [50]. Despite government 
protection packages aimed at 
keeping jobs secure, many millions of 
jobs simply ceased to be.  In Powys 
applications for Jobs Seekers 
allowance, the primary 
unemployment benefit in the UK 
increased by 156% year on year in the 
months between March and May. (for 
Wales the increase was 97%, UK 111%) 
[51]. 
 
In May the records show an 
additional 2,215 claimants for JSA in 
Powys from March 2020. This was  the 
highest increase in claimants from 
March to May among all Welsh Local 
Authorities.  The OBR believes that 
long run unemployment will remain 
at record levels well beyond the point 
of herd immunity.  The job forecasts 
we were pinning our strategy to, all of 
a sudden felt like a tragic fiction.
 

The Preferred Strategy asserted that providing for housing growth beyond 
demographic needs was (in part) necessary to  support the level of workforce 
jobs within the National Park Economy. 
 
Economic forecasts provided by Experian in 2019 suggested that the number of 
jobs within the National Park would grow very slowly up until 2033. Sectors such 
as  education, health and social care were projected to increase whereas the 
number of jobs in retail agriculture and defence were projected to fall [43] .

Page 171



In observing these shifts in global and 
local economies, the question for us as 
policy makers becomes, what now?  If 
we are to continue to oversupply 
housing land beyond the requirements 
of natural change, would this create the 
circumstances whereby these jobs could 
return to the economy?  In our 
assessment of the data, it is a sad truth, 
the answer is no.  The primary sectors of 
the National Park are some of those 
facing the biggest challenges from the 
pandemic, retail, tourism, agriculture  
and hospitality [54]. 
 
 This moves us onto fundamental 
questions, how many houses does the 
area actually need?  And how do we 
create a local economy that is resilient 
to future shocks?
 
 
In answering this fundamental question, 
we must start to abandon the old story 
of job housing balance and consider the 
new post-pandemic vision in which the 
commute no longer dominates and we 
seek to provide for the most vulnerable 
within society.  To do this we must look 
both at the evidence, and shifting 
behavioural traits.
 
In terms of evidence of future need for 
housing, our emerging Local Housing 
Market Assessment highlights the 
significance of the aging demographic 
within the National Park identifying that 
by the end of our plan period (2033) the 
number of people aged over 75 living 
within the Park will increase by 62% to 
7,100 people.  This rise is attributed to our 
population aging in situ.  And as these 
members of our community age, their 
housing needs change.  This is reflected 
within the data as a growing need for 
one and two bed properties and a 
release of 3 and 4 bed plus sized 
properties back onto the market.
 
This release of housing back onto the 
market has potential significant benefits 
to meet emerging behavioural shifts.
 

The trauma of lockdown has 
generated an increased appreciation 
for the benefits of the natural 
environment [60].  Access to open 
countryside for recreational activity 
of growing benefit to health and 
wellbeing [61].  If this interest is 
sustained and if it is coupled with an 
ability to undertake the majority of 
work from home the National Park 
may experience increased levels of in 
- migration from working age 
population. 
 
 
 
This change in behaviour, an 
increasing de-urbanisim, creates 
even more uncertainty in the  
relationship between household 
numbers and jobs supported .  
Perhaps more interestingly it also 
provides a very strong steer that 
resilience in the local jobs market will 
rely more on digital connectivity than 
it will on having a ready supply of 
resident workers [62].    
 
 
 

One of the most significant behaviour 
shifts that the pandemic has 
engendered, moves the concept of 
work from the physical (eg going to 
the office) to the digital (home 
working using internet technology)[55].  
Emerging data appears to support 
the analysis that this will be a lasting 
change in working practice [56].  What 
is uncertain however is how that will 
affect housing need in the National 
Park.  Traditionally the housing 
market in the National Park is 
dominated (and inflated) by the in-
migration of retirees who, free from 
work place attachments, are willing 
and able to pay a premium to move 
to a high-quality environment [57]. This 
freedom from need to be close to a 
place of work now applies to a much 
greater proportion of the working age 
population than before experienced 
[58].  Will this result in their entrance to 
the housing market in the National 
Park?  Some trend analysis would 
suggest that this is a likely outcome 
for some at least  [59]

 
 

Page 172



One of the most challenging data to 
emerge from the pandemic was the 
increase in the average hourly wage 
[63].  This isn’t because suddenly 
everyone received pay rises, but 
rather, the mean rose because the 
lowest levels of income were lost from 
the equation.  Put simply the lowest 
paid in the economy were also the 
most likely to lose their job in the 
pandemic [64].   Park had many.  So 
what to do?
Two things can be understood by this 
rise in average income:-  the jobs 
that can be undertaken from home 
are at the better paid end of the 
spectrum [65] and that an increased 
working age population with jobs 
undertaken from home could result in 
a significant boost to the local 
economy, raising net income and 
spending power within the locale [66]. 
 
 Secondly there is a need for policy 
intervention to support those whose 
jobs are currently displaced into roles 
which are sustainable and resilient 
into the future.  If these jobs involve 
working in place, then  these jobs 
should be supported by housing in 
the locality that is accessible and 
affordable.
 
But what would that look like.?  The 
old story would centre on B class 
employment land provision 
concentrated in the net increase in 
industrial sheds.
 
The National Park area has its fair 
share of enterprise zones, industrial 
estates and business parks [67].  All 
had reasonable occupation rates 
pre-pandemic although pressure 
was shifting to diversify uses due to a 
slow down in demand for traditional 
employment space [68].  Analysis 
undertaken for the National Park prior 
to the pandemic suggested that  
there was limited need for future 
growth [69].  Some speculation around 
additional land in Brecon had been 
posited but not proven [70].

 
 
Of which the National Park had 
many.  So what to do?

Our strategy focused on protecting 
the existing supply rather than 
needing to increase it.  As we move 
through the pandemic that picture 
has shifted.  The need for additional 
space to be generated by the market 
alone is likely to have fallen as units 
are released by firms no longer 
operational post-pandemic. 
 
 The new narrative looks at this land 
differently.  Analysis suggests that old 
story solutions centred around 
traditional manufacturing both takes 
us beyond acceptable environmental 
limits and is less effective in 
delivering economic growth when 
compared against their greener 
counterparts [71] 

 
 

green fiscal recovery 
packages can act to 
decouple economic 
growth from GHG 
emission and reduce 
existing welfare 
inequalities that will 
be exacerbated by 
the pandemic in the 
short term and 
climate change in 
the long term…. 
Recovery packages 
that seek synergies 
between climate and 
economic goals 
have better 
prospects for 
increasing national 
wealth, enhancing 
productive human, 
social, physical, 
intangible, and 
natural capital

Hepburn et al 2020 [72]

Page 173



Summary
 
Building back better is likely to require a 
focus on the scope and nature of future 
non-residential development, more than 
preserving employment sites for B class 
uses alone. Building back better suggests  
the primacy of diversity and flexibility  
with a focus on the nature of future non-
residential development.  support should 
centre around the following key policy 
interventions:-
 

1. Training for transition to zero 
carbon and beyond  [73]

2. Clean infrastructure provision and 
development [74]

3. Building efficiency research and 
development [75]

4. Natural capital investment [76]

There is no way at present to quantify the 
amount of development land this 
transition will require.  Again we have to 
acknowledge the uncertainty in the 
future.   We should therefore build in 
flexibility within policy to meet these 
green growth needs within the economy 
whilst resisting development that doesn't 
meet the objectives for regenerative 
green growth 

 
 
 

 
The retail sector is facing significant 
impacts post-pandemic .  A sector already 
facing fundamental challenges from 
shifting patterns in shopping the high street 
has been decimated by lockdown 
restrictions in movement [77].  
 
The challenge will be to retain the strategic 
social function that a town centre provides 
to a region, whilst allowing for shifts in the 
uses beyond retail, which ordinarily would 
benefit from  protectionist policy.
 
There is potential for town centres to 
transition to become the foci of local supply 
chains - providing space for the distribution 
of goods and services, including community 
events and collaborative projects.
 
Again we are aiming at flexibility to inspire 
creativity to regenerate our towns whilst 
working with our partners to deliver.

Economic Context 
What are the positive 
outcomes?
 
The shift towards homeworking 
with the associated potential 
for increasing working age 
population and associated 
benefits without the need to  
develop large areas of the 
National Park.

what will we stop doing?
 
Our housing figure will no longer 
be linked to job projections 
alone.
 
We will stop protectionist 
policies linked to B and A class 
development (employment 
and retail)

What actions are needed to 
create and sustain a better 
recovery?
 
Policy developed to focus on 
green growth outcomes  whilst 
addressing redundant building 
stock
 
Robust flexibility developed to 
meet the challenge of an 
unknown future

Building better places objectives supported:
Staying local: creating neighbourhoods- 
Revitalising our town centres - Changing 
working practice: our future need for 
employment land - Reawakening Wales' 
tourism and cultural sectorsPage 174



SOCIAL CONTEXT

103%
Number of food parcel 
requests increased by 

year on year in the months March to May 2020 
[82]

450%
the total volume provided 

by local food banks 
increased by 

year on year in the months March to May 2020 
[83]

Welsh index of Multiple Deprivation Income Demain for
LOSAs within the National Park [78]

2

6

15

15

0-25%( most deprived) 25 – 50% 50 – 75%
75 – 100% (least deprived)

Welsh index of Multiple Deprivation Access to Services
Demain for LOSAs within the National Park [79]

21

4

9

4

0-25%( most deprived) 25 – 50% 50 – 75%
75 – 100% (least deprived)

% of premises unable to
receive 30Mbit/s
broadband [80]

17

28

20

18

Wales (average)

Powys

Carmarthenshire

Monmouthsire

0 10 20

% of premises with no 4G
indoors [81]

1.5

2.8

1.6

0.9

Wales (average)

Powys

Carmarthenshire

Monmouthsire

0 1 2

53%
Self reported impacts on 

Well-being were 
recorded at 

of all surveyed by the ONS in May 2020 [84]

Page 175



By national measures the National Park 
appears relatively prosperous, 
demonstrating relatively low levels of 
deprivation [87].   The concern, as we 
move post-pandemic is the extent to 
which the economic shocks experienced 
in the area (remember the 156% increase 
in JSA claims) will shift this picture.  Initial 
evidence would suggest that these 
concerns have substance.  Discussions 
with foodbank operators within the 
National Park have indicated a doubling 
in the number of food vouchers being 
processed at the height of the first 
lockdown, equivalent to a 450% increase 
in the quantity of food and goods being 
delivered in the locality [88].  This serves as 
a good indicator that there is a growing 
inability in the National Park for people to 
meet basic bills.  This we can assume will 
in turn suggest that people will be 
unable to meet rent and mortgage 
payments, increasing the need for 
subsidised housing in an areas where 
social housing need outstrips market 
housing need [89]. 
 
Business as usual would have been to 
increase housing supply to allow the 
market to deliver more affordable 
housing.  This was the strategy of the 
existing LDP.  We can see how this played 
out in comparison of the following two 
charts [90].  The first chart shows number 
of houses built on large sites enabled 
trough the the current LDP.  We are 
showing large sites as these are those 
which are most likely to be required to 
provide affordable housing on site. 
 
 
 
 

This chart below shows instances of 
the need for affordable housing, 
highest recorded needs data is 
shown in red and correlates 
significantly with those areas which 
has seen increase in the number of 
houses delivered on the ground.

The coronavirus epidemic and associated social distancing measures have 
highlighted existing levels of social inequity on a national and local level [85].  The 
data demonstrates a correlation between levels of income and levels of mortality 
from coronavirus to the extent,  that if you live in economic deprivation or are of 
BAME origin you are more likely to  have increased exposure to the virus, and then 
either be taken seriously ill or die as a result of infection [86].  These are tragic facts 
that we must not ignore.
 
The challenge for us as policy makers is to help break this link, firstly by creating the 
circumstances by which incomes can rise within the locality and secondly by 
ensuring that all residents are assured of healthy homes with access to healing 
green space for mental and physical well being.  
 
 

What does this show us?  That 
increasing supply of houses by itself 
has little impact on affordable 
housing demand.  It may actually 
inflate it (although this is a complex 
relationship) [91]. To counter some of 
these impacts would be to have 
permissive policies for delivery 

Page 176



Summary
 of affordable housing (of all tenures 
including intermediate buy to own).  
Again, this is part of the old story picture.  
But the new story will take an active 
driving force to deliver affordable housing 
without reliance on private housebuilders.  
This is in part being met through a reboot 
to council house building which the NP 
looks to enable where it can [92].  But we will 
also be looking to capitalise on other 
phenomena observed as part of the 
pandemic, that being the growth in social 
capital within communities.
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Community support groups formed over social 
media or messaging apps demonstrated the 
willingness of communities to work together to 
address the immediate hardships of the 
coronavirus [93].  Collectively they brought a 
message of hope and wellbeing to those in 
need.  There is potential to work with these 
groups to help foster a better recovery for the 
National Park through collaborative action to 
drive the delivery of community owned and 
run affordable housing schemes.  This was 
already envisioned by LDP2, the pandemic has 
underlined its necessity and given us faith in 
our communities to deliver.

Social Context 
What are the positive 
outcomes?
 
The growth in social capital to 
provide tangible support at the 
local level 

what will we stop doing?
 
We can no longer rely on 
private house-builders to 
address the need to provide 
affordable homes for National 
Park residents.  Although they 
are still part of the puzzle they 
are not the sole answer.

What actions are needed to 
create and sustain a better 
recovery?
 
Work with communities to help 
them build the types of houses 
needed to support future vitality in 
the right place supported by 
essential services such as growing 
space, digital connectivity and 
local shops - with the aim of 
creating 20 minute 
neighbourhoods 
 
Identification within policy 
initiatives the health and well-
being benefits of the National Park 

More than just meeting physical needs of 
our residents in terms of housing and jobs, 
we know that the pandemic has had 
profound impacts on more intangible needs 
related to mental health and wellbeing [94].  
 
The levels of national anxiety being reported 
is akin to those ordinarily observed at times 
of war and conflict. with the same potential 
for long term mental health impacts [95].  The 
last time the UK was facing such challenges 
was in 1945 at the close of the second world 
war, then the Government’s response was 
to create the  National Health Service and  
crucially for us the National Parks  which 
were envisioned as essential in providing a 
form of ‘’spiritual value’ to young people 
complimentary to physical medicine [96].  If 
we are looking to build back better for the 
nation, this is where the National Park can 
be a significant resource to support 
recovery for the 21st century
 
 

Building better places objectives 
supported:
Staying local: creating neighbourhoods-
Digital places the lockdown life - Green 
infrastructure, health and well being and 
ecological resilience

Page 177



ENVIRONMENTAL CONTEXT

CO2

17%
The amount of CO2 being 

released by human activity 
fell by as much as

during the height of the corona-
virus crisis [98]

5.5%
Scientists are projecting a 
fall in gloabal CO2 by as 

much as 

compared with 2019 outputs  [99]

20%
Google analytics 

uncovered that there 
visits to Parks were up by 

for the period 22nd July to July 3rd 
above average levels [100]

120

Minutes in Nature
spending just 120 minutes in a natural setting 
(including a garden) every week is demonstrated to 
equate significant benefits to health and well-being 
[97]

13%
Of Brecon residents don't 
have access to a garden.  

In accordance with ONS data

Page 178



 
Lock down has created circumstances 
whereby we are witnessing a reversal in 
the global trend for human 
disassociation with the natural world [104].  
This in turn is predicted to have 
significant benefits to environmental 
conservation objectives.  Researchers 
have found links between time spent in 
nature and adoption of behaviours that 
positively impact on climate change 
reversal [105].
 
The connection between people and 
nature is diverse, and brings different 
benefits to different people.  For some 
being on top of a mountain engenders a 
spiritual experience.  For others enjoying 
the view from the window of their 
bedroom helps form their sense of home 
and security [106].
 
We can identify these connections 
through the term cultural ecosystem 
services, that is the non-material 
benefits people obtain from their 
environment through spiritual 
enrichment, intellectual stimulation, 
reflection, enjoyment, and aesthetic 
experiences. [107] 
 
The National Park provides a natural 
resource to provide these services to the 
nation and any future development 
must seek to capitalise on these benefits 
whilst ensuring their future survival for 
the well-being of all.
 
 

In many ways these non-material 
benefits can be considered as the 
products of our special qualities. As 
they are invisible it is exceptionally 
hard to value them in the traditional 
sense of the word [108]. We could look 
at our house prices and see that they 
are on average 25% higher than 
outside of the boundary [109]. We could 
look at the level of income 
deprivation and start making 
linkages that hint at opportunity that 
can be capitalised - but - only as 
long as there is an equal level of 
investment in the resources 
maintenance ie. the natural 
environment itself.

 
On the day before lock down was imposed in the UK,  people were queuing to stand 
on the top of Pen y Fan it was so crowded with visitors .  We witnessed a resurgence 
of interest in our places which was being repeated across the country as people 
turned to areas of natural beauty for solace.
 
The connection between well-being and proximity to nature is a well researched 
phenomena [102], however what the coronavirus showed us  was that in times of 
stress people need to feel connected to natural environments.  
 
The power of nature has become part of the lockdown zeitgeist. 

Page 179



Summary

 
 
 

 
It therefore follows that the Natural Resources 
and Historic Environment on which cultural 
ecosystem services depend need to be 
sustainably managed in order to provide 
opportunities for future economic development 
(housing and jobs) within our environmental 
and carbon limits.

Environmental Context 
What are the positive 
outcomes?
 
A renewed interest in the 
National Park as a provider of 
non-material benefits to health 
and well being.  Which we refer 
to as cultural ecosystem 
services. 

what will we stop doing?
 
There has been a tendency in 
the past to think of the 
designation in constraining 
terms.  This undermines the 
myriad of opportunity the park 
actually presents.

What actions are needed to 
create and sustain a better 
recovery?
 
Provide detailed design 
guidance linked to the 
Landscape Character 
Assessment.
 
Define the environmental and 
carbon limits and opportunities 
within the Naitonal Park. 

 
If our special qualities are our USP , and 
the benefits they bring have a value it is 
imperative for us as a National Park that 
these benefits are maintained in the 
interest of national and local well being.

Building better places objectives supported:
Staying local: creating neighbourhoods- 
Reawakening Wales’ tourism and cultural 
sectors - Green infrastructure, health and
well-being and ecological resilience - 
Improving air quality and soundscapes for
better health and well-being

 
the pandemic has also brought wider 
environmental issues into starker focus, 
issues such as climate change and 
biodiversity loss.   In a first person editorial 
for UN News, Inger Anderson, head of the 
United Nations Environment Programme 
(UNEP), stated that in no way should we 
see the coronavirus as any sort of ‘silver 
lining’ for the environment. Rather she 
drew attention to the role humans have 
played in creating the conditions which 
allow extreme virus episodes such as 
COVID-19 to transfer from animals to 
humans and spread. The emergence of 
zoonotic diseases is often associated with 
environmental changes or ecological 
disturbances, such as agricultural 
intensification and human settlement, or 
encroachments into forests and other 
habitats.
 
Regardless of the reality of the situation, 
there was a perception of environmental 
renewal brought about by lockdown.   A 
MORI poll found that the majority of 
people say that the environment is an 
important consideration in the economic 
recovery after the coronavirus crisis 
passes.  66% of those Britons surveyed 
believe that climate change is as serious 
a crisis as COVID-19, and 58% believe that 
it is important that climate change is 
prioritised in the economic recovery after 
coronavirus.   

Page 180



BE  THE 
CHANGE 

This section sets a new strategic 
dvelopment option for the National Park 
focused on delivering within social and 
planetary boundaries for the benefit of 
future generations 

This landscape which was once 
designated for its value in healing a nation 
after the second world war is once again 
valued for the nature-based assets it can 
offer to a nation in recovery. 
This strategy focuses on delivering our 
purposes of designation through the 
sustainable management of Natural 
Resources.  Our aim is to achieve happy 
and healthy places which have a direct 
and dependent relationship with their 
surroundings and the value of the National 
Park.
 
We aim to use the planning system to help 
restore the integrity of people’s interaction 
with nature across the National Park.  This 
includes the reframing of our economic 
strategy to ensure business can capitalise 
on the competitive advantage the 
designation brings.  It is through this 
action that we aim to help foster the 
economic and social well-being of local 
communities within the National Park.
 
This strategy will ensure that development 
over the Plan period meets both local (eg 
housing) and national (eg sustainable 
recreation facilities) needs.
 

We aim to enhance the existing built 
form of the National Park to make it 
resilient to future shocks, be it future 
health, nature or climate emergencies.  
We aim to capitalise on the rich 
opportunities that present themselves 
in the re-use and redevelopment of 
existing built structures on all scales.  
Through this action we seek to limit the 
release of un-developed land seeking 
to retain this for the provision of other 
vital ecosystem services.   We want to 
engender in our developers a 
constructive approach to conservation, 
renovation and redevelopment in a 
way which reflects the climate and 
biodiversity emergencies appropriate 
to the special qualities of the National 
Park.
 
Development enabled by this plan for 
general needs will be focused on the 
towns of the National Park.  Outside of 
the towns we will work with 
communities to write Place Plans which 
will look in detail at the local drivers for 
action and where necessary help 
deliver affordable housing to meet a 
locally derived need.

Page 181



Respond positively and 
effectively, in concert with key 

partners, to the twin 
emergencies of climate 

change and biodiversity loss 
through achieving 

demonstrable improvements in 
the condition of the National 
Park's natural environments 
and building capacity and 
understanding within our 

communities and our visitors 
which sustains their long-term 
well-being in the face of future 

uncertainties 

VISION
Brecon Beacons 

Page 182



Preferred Strategy Objective New Story Objective

To ensure Sustainable Development is 
carried out

The National Park will seek to maximise benefits 
derived through and for the ecosystems of the 
National Park .  By this action we will deliver 
sustainable development for the benefit of all.

To ensure the Sustainable Management 
of Natural Resources

We will seek to ensure that resiliance of our 
ecosystems  is enhanced through the development 
process .    We will seek to ensure that  through this 
action our communities and visitors will be able to 
benefit from the services resilient  ecosystem 
provide.

To conserve and enhance the natural 
beauty of the National Park

All development enabled by this plan will respond 
positively to the natural beauty of the national park 
whilst maximising and enhancing the benefits the 
connection to natural beuaty brings to all future 
users.

To conserve and enhance the wildlife of 
the National Park

All development  enabled by this plan will  provide 
enhancements to biodiversity.  Development will be 
expected to contribute demonstrable benefits to the 
ecosystems of their location.

To conserve and enhance the cultural 
heritage of the National Park

All development enabled by this plan will contribute 
to the sustainable managment of the cultural and 
historic environment through positive enhancement 
measures

To promote opportunities for 
understanding and enjoyment of the 
special qualities of the National Park

All development enabled by this plan will derive 
benefits from cultural ecosystem services the park 
provides.  We will ensure that all future development  
is designed so as to enhance the special qualities of 
their location.

Through working in partnership to 
conserve, enhance and promote the 
National Park, to foster the economic 
well-being of local communities

The National Park Authority will collaborate with our 
partners to promote economic benefits derived 
from cultural ecosystem services for local 
communities.

Through working in partnership to 
conserve, enhance and promote the 
National Park, to foster the social well-
being of local communities.

The National Park Authority will collaborate with our 
partners to promote social benefits derived from 
cultural ecosystem services for local communities.

Page 183



OUR STRATEGY FOR
 FUTURE HOMES

We have a significant amount of land 
within the National Park that has 
already been earmarked for 
development but has yet not come to 
fruition.  This is enough to meet the 
projected population growth.  There is 
little need to identify new sites for LDP2 
for general market growth.   These sites 
are all within existing towns or could be 
easily connected via active travel 
routes to our sustainable settlements.
 
 We will not be seeking affordable 
housing contributions from all 
development.  Allocated and large 
windfall sites will still provide some 
contribution at a level that is viable 
without constraining the ability for 
other policy priorities such to be 
enacted (such as carbon neutrality, 
green infrastructure enhancements, 
digital connection, EV charging, 
provision for walking and cycling, etc).
 
With the uncertainty of economic 
futures and the shift to homeworking 
we anticipate that many buildings 
within the National Park will become 
vacant.  With careful design this has a 
significant potential to provide new 
housing but at the cost of local 
economic sustainability.  Our priority 
will to release this land for mixed uses.  
We see the benefit of housing 

We will aim to provide for the housing growth defined by national population projections 
whilst also considering household need generated through overcrowding and homelessness.  
We will work collaboratively with our constituent authorities to apportion housing growth to 
ensure that most of the need generated within the National Park can be accounted for 
outside of the National Park boundary.  This is because these areas have better connections 
to services, facilities and sustainable transport networks and therefore pose a more 
sustainable option for future living and working. 
 
In order to ensure that market housing within the towns supports community development we 
will aim to use occupancy conditions to ensure that most of the new housing is assigned as 
‘primary residence’ properties. 
 
 
 WORDS INTO DEEDS

co-located with new businesses which are 
taking advantage of opportunities in 
green growth.  We expect new businesses 
to understand their workforce’s 
accommodation needs and where 
necessary to build housing linked to 
places of work where a resident workforce 
can be comfortably housed.
 
We will work with communities to 
understand in detail their locally derived 
needs for housing which isn’t always 
captured at the scale of National data 
collection.  Where a need for housing is 
identified we will aim to enable 
community housing sites in accordance 
with WG policy for rural exception 
schemes.  Such housing schemes should 
ideally focus on a holistic vision of their 
future sustainability being supported by 
decentralised renewable energy 
generation, local shops, digital connection 
hubs and community growing spaces.

Page 184



OUR STRATEGY FOR 
PROSPERITY

 
 
 
 

WORDS INTO DEEDS
We will work with partners to enable 
superfast broadband
 
We will work with businesses to help them 
generate decentralised energy to meet 
their needs.
 
We will take a flexible approach to the 
provision of renewable energy maximising 
delivery within the capacity of the National 
Park landscape.
 
We will support rural enterprise in the 
countryside through appropriate 
conversion of existing redundant rural 
buildings where activity would not 
generate significant traffic movements 
 
 

 We acknowledge that the future of existing employment land within the National Park is 
uncertain.  We are planning for a transition as the need for some units decreases and 
other businesses emerge to capitalising on National support for Green Growth. On our 
existing employment sites, we will aim to look to support all employment generating 
businesses.  Understanding the need for flexibility we will look to enable extensions of 
these sites, where the development would support a future fit business which delivers 
against the rural green new deal.
 
We believe that a cornerstone of future economic growth is having a resident working 
population with the appropriate skills to service rural green growth.  We will therefore 
work with our partners to support the development of educational facilities which can 
contribute to this aim.
 
We will provide unlimited support for homeworking and ensure that all new housing is 
built accordingly.  We will enable the conversion of redundant rural buildings where this 
would create a live work unit which could sustainably support homeworking.
We will ensure that we have the foundational services embedded within the economy to 
support redevelopment of the park’s building stock.
 
Our retail centres will transition to ‘park centres’ which will have a dual function.  We will 
seek to ensure that towns are more clearly embedded into the landscape so as to serve 
as a hub from which active travel allows them to explore the many attractions of the 
area.  We will also seek to ensure that park centres act as service centres to provide for 
the basic needs of residents including providing communal space for recreation, 
through this action we aim to support the retail uses which remain for a sustainable 
future.
 

We will provide any support necessary for 
farmers to implement the Welsh 
Government’s future farming scheme 
whilst resisting development for 
agricultural practice which by virtue of its 
business model takes more environmental 
resource than is acceptable within 
planetary boundaries.
 
We will provide opportunities for additional 
employment sites to be located on the 
boundary of existing sites where they (a) 
support green growth (b) are supported 
by transportation study and can 
demonstrate a balanced interaction with 
the population and nature of the National 
Park.
 
 

Page 185



OUR SPECIAL QUALITIES 
SUPPORTED  

WORDS INTO DEEDS
 The planning authority will embrace a 
development management approach to 
working with developers to help achieve 
mutually beneficial outcomes.
 
We will aid in the delivery of the Nature 
Recovery Action Plan for the area.
 
We will aid in the delivery of the Historic  
Environment Action Plan for the area.
 
We will work with our local communities to 
help them deliver their potential to be 
happy and healthy places, fit for the 
future, with the aim of creating 20 Minute 
Neighbourhoods for all. 
 
 
 
 

Our primary aim is to ensure the sustainable management of natural resources in 
all our activity and all the development enabled by this plan.
 
We will utilise our Landscape Character Assessments to provide detailed design 
guidance for all places within the National Park so as to ensure that future 
development happens in harmony with our special qualities so as to enhance the 
experience of them
.
We will work towards a future that sees active travel and a sustainable public 
transport network becomes a reality in the National Park.  We realise that 
achieving this vision goes beyond the life and scope of this plan.
 
We will support development proposals which focus on nature recovery and 
education facilities linked to such.
 
We will work with our communities to gain greater understand what the park’s 
special qualities mean to them with the aim to create local level maps of special 
qualities to help guide the design of new development.
 
We will take a constructive approach to nature conservation, embedding 
biodiversity enhancement into the design of all new development.
 
We will support appropriate new visitor infrastructure aimed at providing high 
quality visitor experience and reducing the impact of visitors on high pressure 
areas.
 
 

 
 
 

Page 186



The places of the 
National Park

 
 
 
 

WORDS INTO DEEDS
 
 
 
 
Brecon is widely recognised as a strategic 
centre for the Brecon Beacons area, if not 
Mid Wales in general.  Brecon is supported 
by the towns of Crickhowell, Talgarth and 
Hay on Wye. Collectively these will be the 
focus of new developed engendered 
through LDP2 with the aim of supporting 
and developing the towns roles as 20 
Minute Towns.
 
Outside of Towns we will not be allocating 
any future development sites, but we will 
be working with our communities to 
develop their potential to be twenty 
minute neighbourhoods, with the aim of 
ensuring that all our places become more 
sustainable and resilient into the future.

The National Park holds within its boundaries an interrelated network of towns, 
villages and hamlets which collectively house our communities.  Where new 
development is located in relation to these towns and villages is important in 
ensuring a vibrant future for all.
 
Lockdown has taught us many lessons about what makes a place a good location 
to live.  We saw a renewed value placed to the provision of local services, local 
food, and local quality green space.  For many being able to walk to a shop to buy 
basics was a lifeline.  Such places are known as walkable neighbourhoods, also 
referred to as 20 minute towns/neighbourhoods.
 
Within the National Park we are lucky that many of our towns have the makings of 
becoming twenty minute neighbourhoods.  LDP2 will seek to ensure that we 
distribute new development to support our principle towns to be true twenty 
minute towns.  This will mean that we will need to work closely with our partners in 
transport, town centre regeneration and housing provision in Powys County 
Council to ensure that we are all contributing to this vital aim.
 
Outside of our towns our villages face real challenges to become twenty minute 
neighbourhoods.  The rural nature of the National Parks settlements means that 
there is significant reliance on the private car to access goods and services.  Some 
Settlements have no services and facilities within the community.  Our aim here 
will be to use Place Planning to work with communities to help them develop into 
twenty minute neighbourhoods.
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 187



The places of the 
National Park

 
 
 
 

The National Park holds within its boundaries an interrelated network of towns, 
villages and hamlets which collectively house our communities.  Where new 
development is located in relation to these towns and villages is important in 
ensuring a vibrant future for all.
 
Lockdown has taught us many lessons about what makes a place a good location 
to live.  We saw a renewed value placed to the provision of local services, local 
food, and local quality green space.  For many being able to walk to a shop to buy 
basics was a lifeline.  Such places are known as walkable neighbourhoods, also 
referred to as 20 minute towns/neighbourhoods.
 
Within the National Park we are lucky that many of our towns have the makings of 
twenty minute neighbourhoods.  LDP2 will seek to ensure that we distribute new 
development to support our principle towns to be true twenty minute towns.  This 
will mean that we will need to work closely with our partners in transport, town 
centre regeneration and housing provision in Powys County Council to ensure that 
we are all contributing to this vital aim.
 
Outside of our towns our villages face real challenges to become twenty minute 
neighbourhoods.  The rural nature of the National Parks settlements means that 
there is significant reliance on the private car to access goods and services.  Some 
Settlements have no services and facilities within the community.  Our aim here 
will be to use Place Planning to work with communities to help them develop into 
twenty minute neighbourhoods.
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 188



Allocate Future Development to 
support existing 20 minute places
 
Create allocations for future 
development to support our towns 
to retain goods, services and 
facilities so that residents of these 
towns can continue to have the 
benefits of a twenty minute town 
now and into the future.  
 
Places: Brecon, Talgarth, 
Crickhowell, Hay-on-Wye

 
 
 

 
 
 

We want to all our communities to be sustainable and resilient into the future.  We therefore seek to 
ensure that all our residents live within a 20 minute neighbourhood, that is one where residents can 
access shops, schools, green spaces, culture leisure and work all within a 20 minute walk of an 
affordable home.  We see a two step path towards this objective through LDP2

20 minute places
(c) Plan Melbourne

Develop Place Plans with 
communities to help them realise 
their 20 minute potential
 
To work with communities with the 
aim of creating a routemap to 20 
minute places.  Such as 
developing community led 
affordable housing, local 
community shops, community 
gardens, community transport and 
community energy
 
Places:  Llangattock, Llangynidr, 
Sennybridge, Gilwern, Govilon.Page 189



REFERENCES 
1. Welsh Government. (2018b). Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s Priorities for 

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks. 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-
beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf 

 
2. Welsh Government. (2020a). Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering 

Resilient and Brighter Futures: Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery. Retrieved from 
Cardiff: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-
places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf 
 

3. The Environment Act (Wales) (2016) 
 

4. The State of Victoria Department of  Environment, Land, Water & Planning (2018)  
Living Locally – 20 Minute Neighbourhood Victoria State Government, Melbourne 
https://www.planmelbourne.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/509736/Brochure-
January-20-min-neighbourhood-2019.pdf . 
 

5. Welsh Government. (2020a). Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering 
Resilient and Brighter Futures: Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery. Retrieved 
from Cardiff: https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-
places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf 
 

6. Welsh Government. (2018a). Planning Policy Wales Ed 10. Retrieved from 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-
10.pdf and Welsh Government. (2020b). Development Plans Manual. 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-
edition-3-m arch-2020.pdf  
 

7. The Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) Regulation 2005 
as amended 
 

8. Welsh Government. (2020b). Development Plans Manual. 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-
edition-3-march-2020.pdf  
 

9. Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. (2019). Local Development Plan 2018-
2033 Preferred Strategy. Retrieved from https://ldp.beacons-
npa.gov.uk/documents/LDP2_PS  
 

10. Nicola, M., Alsafi, Z., Sohrabi, C., Kerwan, A., Al-Jabir, A., Iosifidis, C., . . . Agha, R. (2020). 
The socio-economic implications of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): A review. 
International journal of surgery (London, England), 78, 185-193. doi: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.04.018 
 

11. Blundell, R., Costa Dias, M., Joyce, R., & Xu, X. (2020). COVID-19 and Inequalities*. 
Fiscal Studies, 41(2), 291-319. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-5890.12232 & 
Bowleg, L. (2020). We're Not All in This Together: On COVID-19, Intersectionality, 

Page 190

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://www.planmelbourne.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/509736/Brochure-January-20-min-neighbourhood-2019.pdf
https://www.planmelbourne.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/509736/Brochure-January-20-min-neighbourhood-2019.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-02/planning-policy-wales-edition-10.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-03/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.04.018
https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-5890.12232


and Structural Inequality. American journal of public health, 110(7), 917-917. 
doi:10.2105/AJPH.2020.305766 & Cullinane, C., & Montacute, R. (2020). COVID-19 
and Social Mobilitity Impact Brief #1: School Shutdown. Retrieved from 
https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-Impact-Brief-
School-Shutdown.pdf & Office for National Statistics. (2020a). Deaths involving 
COVID-19 by local area and socioeconomic deprivation: deaths occurring between 1 
March and 30 June 2020. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/d
eaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbet
ween1marchand30june2020 & Patel, J. A., Nielsen, F. B. H., Badiani, A. A., Assi, S., 
Unadkat, V. A., Patel, B.,Wardle, H. (2020). Poverty, inequality and COVID-19: the 
forgotten vulnerable. Public health, 183, 110-111. doi: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.05.006 
 

12. Helm, D. (2020). September 2020 (and March 2021): the temporary and the 
permanent impacts of coronavirus. Retrieved from 
http://www.dieterhelm.co.uk/publications/september-2020-and-march-2021-the-
temporary-and-the-permanent-impacts-of-coronavirus/ 
 

13. Fuller, G. (2020, Thursday 23rd April 2020). Pollutionwatch: why has particle pollution 
increased under lockdow? The Guardian. Retrieved from 
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/apr/23/pollutionwatch-why-has-particle-
pollution-increased-under-lockdown 
Ogen, Y. (2020). Assessing nitrogen dioxide (NO2) levels as a contributing factor to 
coronavirus (COVID-19) fatality. Science of The Total Environment, 726, 138605. 
doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138605 
Setti, L., Passarini, F., de Gennaro, G., Di Gilio, A., Palmisani, J., Buono, P., . . . Miani, A. 
(2020). Evaluation of the potential relationship between Particulate Matter (PM) pollution and 
COVID-19 infection spread in Italy Retrieved from http://www.simaonlus.it/wpsima/wp-
content/uploads/2020/03/COVID_19_position-paper_ENG.pdf 
Wu, X., Nethery, R. C., Sabath, B. M., Braun, D., & Dominici, F. (2020). Exposure to air 
pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States: A nationwide cross-sectional study. 
medRxiv, 2020.2004.2005.20054502. doi:https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.05.20054502 
 

14. Evans, S. (2020). Analysis: Coronavirus set to cause largest ever annual fall in CO2 emissions. 
Retrieved from https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-coronavirus-set-to-cause-largest-ever-
annual-fall-in-co2-emissions 
Ipsos MORI. (2020). EARTH DAY 2020: How do Great Britain and the world view climate change 
and Covid-19? Retrieved from 
https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2020-
04/earth_day_slide_deck.pdf 
 

15. Bibby, J., Everest, G., & Abbs, I. (2020). Will COVID-19 be a watershed moment for health 
inequalities? Retrieved from https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
05/Will%20COVID-
19%20be%20a%20watershed%20moment%20for%20health%20inequalities.pdf 
 

16. Allwood, L., & Bell, A. (2020). Covid-19: understanding inequlaities in mental health during the 
pandemic. Retrieved from https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
06/CentreforMentalHealth_CovidInequalities_0.pdf 
 

Page 191

https://www.suttontrust.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/COVID-19-
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.05.006
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.05.006
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/apr/23/pollutionwatch-why-has-particle-pollution-increased-under-lockdown
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/apr/23/pollutionwatch-why-has-particle-pollution-increased-under-lockdown
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138605
http://www.simaonlus.it/wpsima/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/COVID_19_position-paper_ENG.pdf
http://www.simaonlus.it/wpsima/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/COVID_19_position-paper_ENG.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.05.20054502
https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-coronavirus-set-to-cause-largest-ever-annual-fall-in-co2-emissions
https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-coronavirus-set-to-cause-largest-ever-annual-fall-in-co2-emissions
https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2020-04/earth_day_slide_deck.pdf
https://www.ipsos.com/sites/default/files/ct/news/documents/2020-04/earth_day_slide_deck.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-05/Will%20COVID-19%20be%20a%20watershed%20moment%20for%20health%20inequalities.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-05/Will%20COVID-19%20be%20a%20watershed%20moment%20for%20health%20inequalities.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-05/Will%20COVID-19%20be%20a%20watershed%20moment%20for%20health%20inequalities.pdf
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-06/CentreforMentalHealth_CovidInequalities_0.pdf
https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-06/CentreforMentalHealth_CovidInequalities_0.pdf


17. Covid-19 Mutual Aid. (2020). Retrieved from https://covidmutualaid.org/ 
Springer, S. (2020). Caring geographies: The COVID-19 interregnum and a return to mutual 
aid. Dialogues in Human Geography, 10(2), 112-115. doi:10.1177/2043820620931277 
 

18. Charlesworth, A., Watt, T., & Thorlby, R. (2020). Early insight into the impacts of COVID-
19 on care for people with long-term conditions.  Retrieved from 
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/early-insight-into-the-impacts-of-covid-
19-on-care-for-people-with-long-term 
Thorlby, R., Tinson, A., & Krainder, J. (2020). COVID-19: Five dimensions of impact.  
Retrieved from https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/covid-19-five-
dimensions-of-impact 
Women and Equalities Committee. (2020). Unequal impact? Coronavirus, disability and access to 
services.  Retrieved from https://committees.parliament.uk/work/320/unequal-impact-
coronavirus-disability-and-access-to-services/ 

 
19. Holmes, H., & Burgess, G. (2020). Coronavirus has highlighted the UK’s Digital Divide. Retrieved 

from https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/Research/Start-
Year/2017/building_better_opportunities_new_horizons/digital_divide/presentation_slides/vi
ew 
 

20. Natural England. (2020). Official Statistics The People and Nature Survey for England: Monthly 
interim indicators for May 2020 (Experimental Statistics). Retrieved from 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-
monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics/the-people-and-nature-
survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics 
 

21. CCC., U. (2020). Take urgent action on six key principles for a resilient recovery. Retrieved 
from https://www.theccc.org.uk/2020/05/06/take-urgent-action-on-six-key-principles-for-a-
resilient-recovery/ 
Ellen MacArthur Foundation. (2020). A solution to build back better: The Circular Economy 
a joint statement [Press release]. Retrieved from 
https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/assets/downloads/emf-joint-statement.pdf 
Guterres, A. (2020). Secretary-General's Message on Mother Earth Day 2020 [Press 
release]. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/en/observances/earth-day/message 
Hepburn, C., O’Callaghan, B., Stern, N., Stiglitz, J., and Zenghelis, D. . (2020). Will COVID-
19 fiscal recovery packages accelerate or retard progress on climate change. Smith School 
Working Paper, 20. Retrieved from 
https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/wpapers/workingpaper20-02.pdf 
Howe, S. (2020). Future Generations Commissioner urges Welsh Government to deliver on 
a green recovery budget. Retrieved from https://futuregenerations.wales/news/future-
generations-commissioner-urges-welsh-government-to-deliver-on-a-green-recovery-budget/ 
Minister for Housing and Local Government. (2020). Ministerial Letter MA-JJ-2099-20. 
Retrieved from 
Stern, N., Unsworth, S., Valero, A., Zenghelis, D., Rydge, J., & Robins, N. (2020). Strategy, 
investment and policy for a strong and sustainable recovery:  An action plan. Retrieved from 
http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-005.pdf 
Welsh Government. (2020c). Written Statement: One year anniversary following the Declaration 
of a Climate Emergency.  Retrieved from https://gov.wales/written-statement-one-year-
anniversary-following-declaration-climate-emergency 

 
22. Welsh Government. (2020a). Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and 

Brighter Futures: Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery. Retrieved from Cardiff: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-

Page 192

https://covidmutualaid.org/
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/early-insight-into-the-impacts-of-covid-19-on-care-for-people-with-long-term
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/early-insight-into-the-impacts-of-covid-19-on-care-for-people-with-long-term
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/covid-19-five-dimensions-of-impact
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/covid-19-five-dimensions-of-impact
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/320/unequal-impact-coronavirus-disability-and-access-to-services/
https://committees.parliament.uk/work/320/unequal-impact-coronavirus-disability-and-access-to-services/
https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/Research/Start-Year/2017/building_better_opportunities_new_horizons/digital_divide/presentation_slides/view
https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/Research/Start-Year/2017/building_better_opportunities_new_horizons/digital_divide/presentation_slides/view
https://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/Research/Start-Year/2017/building_better_opportunities_new_horizons/digital_divide/presentation_slides/view
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics/the-people-and-nature-survey-for-england-monthly-interim-indicators-for-may-2020-experimental-statistics
https://www.theccc.org.uk/2020/05/06/take-urgent-action-on-six-key-principles-for-a-resilient-recovery/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/2020/05/06/take-urgent-action-on-six-key-principles-for-a-resilient-recovery/
https://www.ellenmacarthurfoundation.org/assets/downloads/emf-joint-statement.pdf
https://www.un.org/en/observances/earth-day/message
https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/wpapers/workingpaper20-02.pdf
https://futuregenerations.wales/news/future-generations-commissioner-urges-welsh-government-to-deliver-on-a-green-recovery-budget/
https://futuregenerations.wales/news/future-generations-commissioner-urges-welsh-government-to-deliver-on-a-green-recovery-budget/
http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-005.pdf
https://gov.wales/written-statement-one-year-anniversary-following-declaration-climate-emergency
https://gov.wales/written-statement-one-year-anniversary-following-declaration-climate-emergency
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf


system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf 
 

23. Minister for Housing and Local Government. (2020). Ministerial Letter MA-JJ-2099-20. 
Retrieved from 
 

24. Welsh Government. (2020a). Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and 
Brighter Futures: Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery. Retrieved from Cardiff: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-
system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf 
 

25. Ibid, 
 

26. Brecon Beacons Naitonal Park. (2020a). Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on policy 
making in the National Park, an early perspective: Research Paper #1 Economy.  
Brecon Beacons Naitonal Park. (2020b). Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on policy 
making in the National Park, an early perspective: Research Paper #2 Environment.  
Brecon Beacons Naitonal Park. (2020c). Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on policy 
making in the National Park, an early perspective: Research paper #3 Society.  

27. Guterres, A. (2020). Secretary-General's Message on Mother Earth Day 2020 [Press 
release]. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/en/observances/earth-day/message 
 

28. Muhammad-Bande, T. (2020 ). General Assembly President's Message on Mother Earth Day 
2020 [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/en/observances/earth-day/message 
 

29. Howe, S. (2020). Future Generations Commissioner urges Welsh Government to deliver on 
a green recovery budget. Retrieved from https://futuregenerations.wales/news/future-
generations-commissioner-urges-welsh-government-to-deliver-on-a-green-recovery-budget/ 
 

30. Welsh Government. (2020). Press Release: Driving up skills and employability vital for 
Wales’ economic recovery [Press release]. Retrieved from https://gov.wales/driving-skills-
and-employability-vital-wales-economic-recovery 
 

31. CCC., U. (2020). Take urgent action on six key principles for a resilient recovery. Retrieved 
from https://www.theccc.org.uk/2020/05/06/take-urgent-action-on-six-key-principles-for-a-
resilient-recovery/ 
 

32. Welsh Government. (2020a). Building Better Places: The Planning System Delivering Resilient and 
Brighter Futures: Placemaking and the Covid-19 recovery. Retrieved from Cardiff: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-
system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf 
 

33. Welsh Government. (2020b). Development Plans Manual. Retrieved from Cardiff:  
 

34. Evidence base for the LDP2 Preferred Strategy is available here https://ldp.beacons-
npa.gov.uk/documents/LDP2_EVI 
 

35. Brecon Beacons Naitonal Park. (2019). Housing Topic Paper. Retrieved from Brecon: 
https://api.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ldp/download?doc=685776 
 

36. Office for National Statistics. (2020c). Statisitical First Release: Local authority population 
projectsions for Wales: 2018 based (revised). Retrieved from 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-08/subnational-population-

Page 193

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EYY5NE47d11GmgwpVVUEeTMBgrD_zAE3HiXGe5CE3QJWZQ?e=GnLOxD
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EYY5NE47d11GmgwpVVUEeTMBgrD_zAE3HiXGe5CE3QJWZQ?e=GnLOxD
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EY-fRQqwmf5BvOLzj8HygWYBhssyVwsx8UdWsiIMOTIYAA?e=2WgGE1
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EY-fRQqwmf5BvOLzj8HygWYBhssyVwsx8UdWsiIMOTIYAA?e=2WgGE1
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EV-LH7N-5PJHhZX2oVT1cIgBHijzPIJMHYI6Ichh5Wnw1w?e=dcaMAa
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EV-LH7N-5PJHhZX2oVT1cIgBHijzPIJMHYI6Ichh5Wnw1w?e=dcaMAa
https://www.un.org/en/observances/earth-day/message
https://www.un.org/en/observances/earth-day/message
https://futuregenerations.wales/news/future-generations-commissioner-urges-welsh-government-to-deliver-on-a-green-recovery-budget/
https://futuregenerations.wales/news/future-generations-commissioner-urges-welsh-government-to-deliver-on-a-green-recovery-budget/
https://gov.wales/driving-skills-and-employability-vital-wales-economic-recovery
https://gov.wales/driving-skills-and-employability-vital-wales-economic-recovery
https://www.theccc.org.uk/2020/05/06/take-urgent-action-on-six-key-principles-for-a-resilient-recovery/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/2020/05/06/take-urgent-action-on-six-key-principles-for-a-resilient-recovery/
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/building-better-places-the-planning-system-delivering-resilient-and-brighter-futures.pdf
https://ldp.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/LDP2_EVI
https://ldp.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/LDP2_EVI
https://api.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ldp/download?doc=685776
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-08/subnational-population-projections-2018-based-280.pdf


projections-2018-based-280.pdf 
 

37. <IN PREPERATION> 
 

38. https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bu
lletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand
30june2020 
 

39. Office for National Statistics. (2020b). GDP monthly estimate, UK: May 2020. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/gdpmonthlyestimateuk/
may2020 
 

40. Office for Budgetry Responsibility. (2020). Coronavirus Analysis. Retrieved from 
https://obr.uk/coronavirus-analysis/ 
 

41. YouGov (Producer). (2020, June 26). How businesses in the UK expect to change after 
COVID. YouGov. Retrieved from https://yougov.co.uk/topics/economy/articles-
reports/2020/06/26/how-businesses-uk-expect-change-after-covid 

42. Powys County Council. (2020). Understanding  the Impact of COVID-19 in Powys. 
Retrieved from https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE?ref=Link&loc=play 
 

43. Experian. (2020). Brecon Beacons National Park Employment Forecast.  
 

44. Milbourne, P., & Cloke, P. (2006). Rural homelessness in the UK. In P. Milbourne & P. Cloke 
(Eds.), International Perspectives on Rural Homelessness. London: Routledge. 
Nick Gallent , Iqbal Hamiduddin , John Kelsey & Phoebe Stirling (2020): 
Housing Access and Affordability in Rural England: Tackling Inequalities Through Upstream 
Reform or Downstream Intervention?, Planning Theory & Practice, DOI: 
10.1080/14649357.2020.1801820 

45. Cervero, R. (1989). Jobs-Housing Balancing and Regional Mobility. UC Berkeley: University of 
California Transportation Center. Retrieved from https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7mx3k73h 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government. ([2015] 2019). Planning Practice 
Guidance on Housing and economic development needs assessments. Gov.uk Retrieved from 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments 
Welsh Government. (2020b). Development Plans Manual. Retrieved from 
https://gov.wales/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020  
 

46. Brecon Beacons Naitonal Park. (2020d). State of the Park Report. <in preperation> 
 

47. Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (2019b) Housing Topic Paper  
 

48. Welsh Government. (2018b). Valued and Resilient: The Welsh Government’s Priorities for Areas 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty and National Parks. Retrieved from Cardiff: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-
national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf p.18 
 

49. Altig, D., Baker, S. R., Barrero, J. M., Bloom, N., Bunn, P., Chen, S. Thwaites, G. (2020). 
Economic Uncertainty Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic. National Bureau of 
Economic Research Working Paper Series, No. 27418. Retrieved from 
http://www.nber.org/papers/w27418.pdf 
 

Page 194

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-08/subnational-population-projections-2018-based-280.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/gdpmonthlyestimateuk/may2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/gdpmonthlyestimateuk/may2020
https://obr.uk/coronavirus-analysis/
https://yougov.co.uk/topics/economy/articles-reports/2020/06/26/how-businesses-uk-expect-change-after-covid
https://yougov.co.uk/topics/economy/articles-reports/2020/06/26/how-businesses-uk-expect-change-after-covid
https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE?ref=Link&loc=play
https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7mx3k73h
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-and-economic-development-needs-assessments
https://gov.wales/development-plans-manual-edition-3-march-2020
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-04/areas-outstanding-natural-beauty-national-parks-2018-report%20.pdf
http://www.nber.org/papers/w27418.pdf


50. Covid Carnage - Much of global commerce has ground to a halt - some companies will never 
restart. (2020). The Economist, Mar 21st 2020 edition. Retrieved from 
https://www.economist.com/business/2020/03/21/much-of-global-commerce-has-ground-to-
a-halt 
 

51. Powys County Council. (2020). Understanding  the Impact of COVID-19 in Powys. 
Retrieved from https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE?ref=Link&loc=play 
 

52. Ibid 
 

53. Office for Budgetry Responsibility. (2020a). Coronavirus Analysis. Retrieved from 
https://obr.uk/coronavirus-analysis/ 
Office for Budgetry Responsibility. (2020b). Fiscal sustainability report. Retrieved from 
https://obr.uk/fsr/fiscal-sustainability-report-july-2020/ 
 

54. Office for National Statistics. (2020a). Coronavirus and the impact on output in the UK economy: 
April 2020 Analysis of monthly growth for the production, services and construction industries in the 
UK economy between March 2020 and April 2020, highlighting the early impact from the 
coronavirus. Retrieved from London: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpac
tonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020 
How Covid-19 will change the global business climate. (2020, April 9th 2020). The Economist. 
Retrieved from https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2020/04/09/how-covid-19-will-
change-the-global-business-climate?utm_campaign=the-economist-
today&utm_medium=newsletter&utm_source=salesforce-marketing-
cloud&utm_term=2020-04-09&utm_content=article-link-4 
 

55. Covid-19 and the end of commuterland. (2020). The Economist, Sep 12th 2020 edition. 
Retrieved from https://www.economist.com/britain/2020/09/12/covid-19-and-the-end-of-
commuterland 
Covid-19 has forced a radical shift in working habits. (2020). The Economist, Sep 12th 2020 
edition. Retrieved from https://www.economist.com/briefing/2020/09/12/covid-19-has-forced-
a-radical-shift-in-working-habits 
Barker, G. (2020). How Might Buyer And Seller Priorities Change In The Post-COVID 
Housing Market? Forbes  May 15th 2020 Retrieved from  
https://www.forbes.com/sites/garybarker/2020/05/15/how-might-buyer-and-seller-priorities-
change-post-covid/#53cfb01548e4 
 
 

56. Office for Naitonal Statistics. (2020). Coronavirus and homeworking in the UK labour 
market: 2019. The extent to which different people in the labour market work from home, 
either on a regular or occasional basis. Office for National Statistics Article. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemploy
eetypes/articles/coronavirusandhomeworkingintheuklabourmarket/2019 
YouGov (Producer). (2020, June 26). How businesses in the UK expect to change after 
COVID. YouGov. Retrieved from https://yougov.co.uk/topics/economy/articles-
reports/2020/06/26/how-businesses-uk-expect-change-after-covid 

 

57. ORS. (2020). Mid and South West Wales Housing Assessment. Housing Market Summary for 
Brecon Beacons National Park DRAFT.  
Lichfields. (2019). Brecon Beacons National Park Employment Land Review. Retrieved from  
 

Page 195

https://www.economist.com/business/2020/03/21/much-of-global-commerce-has-ground-to-a-halt
https://www.economist.com/business/2020/03/21/much-of-global-commerce-has-ground-to-a-halt
https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE?ref=Link&loc=play
https://obr.uk/coronavirus-analysis/
https://obr.uk/fsr/fiscal-sustainability-report-july-2020/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2020/04/09/how-covid-19-will-change-the-global-business-climate?utm_campaign=the-economist-today&utm_medium=newsletter&utm_source=salesforce-marketing-cloud&utm_term=2020-04-09&utm_content=article-link-4
https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2020/04/09/how-covid-19-will-change-the-global-business-climate?utm_campaign=the-economist-today&utm_medium=newsletter&utm_source=salesforce-marketing-cloud&utm_term=2020-04-09&utm_content=article-link-4
https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2020/04/09/how-covid-19-will-change-the-global-business-climate?utm_campaign=the-economist-today&utm_medium=newsletter&utm_source=salesforce-marketing-cloud&utm_term=2020-04-09&utm_content=article-link-4
https://www.economist.com/graphic-detail/2020/04/09/how-covid-19-will-change-the-global-business-climate?utm_campaign=the-economist-today&utm_medium=newsletter&utm_source=salesforce-marketing-cloud&utm_term=2020-04-09&utm_content=article-link-4
https://www.economist.com/britain/2020/09/12/covid-19-and-the-end-of-commuterland
https://www.economist.com/britain/2020/09/12/covid-19-and-the-end-of-commuterland
https://www.economist.com/briefing/2020/09/12/covid-19-has-forced-a-radical-shift-in-working-habits
https://www.economist.com/briefing/2020/09/12/covid-19-has-forced-a-radical-shift-in-working-habits
https://www.forbes.com/sites/garybarker/2020/05/15/how-might-buyer-and-seller-priorities-change-post-covid/#53cfb01548e4
https://www.forbes.com/sites/garybarker/2020/05/15/how-might-buyer-and-seller-priorities-change-post-covid/#53cfb01548e4
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/coronavirusandhomeworkingintheuklabourmarket/2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/coronavirusandhomeworkingintheuklabourmarket/2019
https://yougov.co.uk/topics/economy/articles-reports/2020/06/26/how-businesses-uk-expect-change-after-covid
https://yougov.co.uk/topics/economy/articles-reports/2020/06/26/how-businesses-uk-expect-change-after-covid
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:f:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EqZZMgB7NmxLtJEfnB78fK8B6S1WxTlRec1H1VxagcByoA?e=ZVBAV2


58. Office for National Statistics. (2020e). Which Jobs can be done from home? Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemploy
eetypes/articles/whichjobscanbedonefromhome/2020-07-21 

59. Rightmove. (2020). Home-movers will carry on after lockdown & buyers look out-of-city. 
Property News. Retrieved from https://www.rightmove.co.uk/news/articles/property-
news/home-movers-determined-to-move-post-lockdown-buyers-look-out-of-city/ 
 

60. Lemmey, T. (2020). Connection with Nature in teh Uk during the COVID-19 Lockdown. Retrieved 
from University of Cumbria: 
http://insight.cumbria.ac.uk/id/eprint/5639/1/Nature%20Connection%20and%20Covid%20TL.
pdf 
 

61. See for example White, M. P., Alcock, I., Grellier, J., Wheeler, B. W., Hartig, T., Warber, S. 
L, Fleming, L. E. (2019). Spending at least 120 minutes a week in nature is associated with 
good health and wellbeing. Scientific Reports, 9(1), 7730. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-44097-3 
 

62. Office for National Statistics. (2020e). Technology intensity and homeworking in the UK: 
Recent trends and insightes into technology as an enabler for homeworking. Office for 
National Statistics Article. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemploy
eetypes/articles/technologyintensityandhomeworkingintheuk/2020-05-01 
 

63. Booth, R., & Ramwlinson, K. (2020, April 1st 2020 ). 950,000 apply for universal credit in 
two weeks of UK lockdown. The Guardian. Retrieved from 
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2020/apr/01/950000-apply-for-universal-credit-in-two-
weeks-of-uk-lockdown 
 

64. Strauss, D., & Parker, G. (2020). UK sheds nearly 750,000 jobs during coronavirus crisis. 
Financial Times. Retrieved from https://www.ft.com/content/c8ef84bf-0539-4281-b353-
d5b840d10b5e 
Voce, A. K., A, & Partington, R. (2020, 18 August 2020). UK coronavirus job losses: the 
latest data on redundancies and furloughs. The Guardian. Retrieved from 
https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/jul/31/uk-coronavirus-job-losses-the-latest-data-
on-redundancies-and-furloughs 
 

65. Office for Naitonal Statistics. (2020). Coronavirus and homeworking in the UK labour 
market: 2019. The extent to which different people in the labour market work from home, 
either on a regular or occasional basis. Office for National Statistics Article. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemploy
eetypes/articles/coronavirusandhomeworkingintheuklabourmarket/2019 
Office for National Statistics. (2020f). Which Jobs can be done from home? Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemploy
eetypes/articles/whichjobscanbedonefromhome/2020-07-21 
 

66. See the theory of community wealth building CLES. (2019). Community wealth building 2019 
Theory, practice and next steps. Retrieved from https://cles.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/CWB2019FINAL-web.pdf 
 

67. Lichfields. (2019). Brecon Beacons National Park Employment Land Review. 
 

68. BBNPA (2020) Annual Monitoring Report  <in preperaton> 
 

69. Lichfields. (2019). Brecon Beacons National Park Employment Land Review. 
 

Page 196

https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/whichjobscanbedonefromhome/2020-07-21
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/whichjobscanbedonefromhome/2020-07-21
https://www.rightmove.co.uk/news/articles/property-news/home-movers-determined-to-move-post-lockdown-buyers-look-out-of-city/
https://www.rightmove.co.uk/news/articles/property-news/home-movers-determined-to-move-post-lockdown-buyers-look-out-of-city/
http://insight.cumbria.ac.uk/id/eprint/5639/1/Nature%20Connection%20and%20Covid%20TL.pdf
http://insight.cumbria.ac.uk/id/eprint/5639/1/Nature%20Connection%20and%20Covid%20TL.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/technologyintensityandhomeworkingintheuk/2020-05-01
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/technologyintensityandhomeworkingintheuk/2020-05-01
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2020/apr/01/950000-apply-for-universal-credit-in-two-weeks-of-uk-lockdown
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2020/apr/01/950000-apply-for-universal-credit-in-two-weeks-of-uk-lockdown
https://www.ft.com/content/c8ef84bf-0539-4281-b353-d5b840d10b5e
https://www.ft.com/content/c8ef84bf-0539-4281-b353-d5b840d10b5e
https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/jul/31/uk-coronavirus-job-losses-the-latest-data-on-redundancies-and-furloughs
https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/jul/31/uk-coronavirus-job-losses-the-latest-data-on-redundancies-and-furloughs
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/coronavirusandhomeworkingintheuklabourmarket/2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/coronavirusandhomeworkingintheuklabourmarket/2019
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/whichjobscanbedonefromhome/2020-07-21
https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/whichjobscanbedonefromhome/2020-07-21
https://cles.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/CWB2019FINAL-web.pdf
https://cles.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/CWB2019FINAL-web.pdf


70. BRE (in preperation) Mid Wales Region Employment Land and Sites Review 
 

71. Stern, N., Unsworth, S., Valero, A., Zenghelis, D., Rydge, J., & Robins, N. (2020). Strategy, 
investment and policy for a strong and sustainable recovery:  An action plan. Retrieved from 
http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-005.pdf 
Hepburn, C., O’Callaghan, B., Stern, N., Stiglitz, J., and Zenghelis, D. . (2020). Will COVID-
19 fiscal recovery packages accelerate or retard progress on climate change. Smith School 
Working Paper, 20. Retrieved from 
https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/wpapers/workingpaper20-02.pdf 
 

72. Hepburn, C., O’Callaghan, B., Stern, N., Stiglitz, J., and Zenghelis, D. . (2020). Will COVID-
19 fiscal recovery packages accelerate or retard progress on climate change. Smith School 
Working Paper, 20. Retrieved from 
https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/wpapers/workingpaper20-02.pdf 
 

73. The development of traning facilities within the National Park which can assist in retraining 
of those who have lost their jobs throguh cornavirus related layoffs, and structural chagnes 
brought about by decarbonisation. 
 
 

74. The development of sustainable transport infrastructure for use by residents and visitors 
alike.  The development of digital connectivity to assist in shifts to home based working. 
 
 

75. Supporting local builders to retrofit existing homes to improve their energy efficency and to 
support research and development within this field through enabling policy. 
 
 

76. See for example National Parks of Wales Green Growth Strategy <in preperation> and 
Nature Based Solutions. Also Jepson, P., & Blythe, C. (2020). Rewilding: The Radical New 
Science of Ecological Recovery. London: Icon Books. 
 

77. Alvarez & Marsal. (2020). The Shape of Retail:  Consumers and the New Normal. Retrieved 
from 
https://www.alvarezandmarsal.com/sites/default/files/consumers_and_the_new_normal.pdf 
 

78. BBNPA (2018)  Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report and Baseline Evidence 
 

79. IBID 
 

80. BBNPA (in preperation) State of the Park Report 2020 
 

81. IBID 
 

82. Brecon Beacons Naitonal Park. (2020c). Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on policy 
making in the National Park, an early perspective: Research paper #3 Society. 
 

83. IBID 
 

84. Office for National Statistics. (2020a). Coronavirus and the impact on output in the UK economy: 
April 2020 Analysis of monthly growth for the production, services and construction industries in the 
UK economy between March 2020 and April 2020, highlighting the early impact from the 

Page 197

http://cep.lse.ac.uk/pubs/download/cepcovid-19-005.pdf
https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/wpapers/workingpaper20-02.pdf
https://www.smithschool.ox.ac.uk/publications/wpapers/workingpaper20-02.pdf
https://www.alvarezandmarsal.com/sites/default/files/consumers_and_the_new_normal.pdf
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EV-LH7N-5PJHhZX2oVT1cIgBHijzPIJMHYI6Ichh5Wnw1w?e=dcaMAa
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EV-LH7N-5PJHhZX2oVT1cIgBHijzPIJMHYI6Ichh5Wnw1w?e=dcaMAa


coronavirus. Retrieved from London: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpac
tonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020 
 

85. Xu, X. B., Richard. (2020). Covid-19: the impacts of the pandemic on inequality. Retrieved from 
https://www.ifs.org.uk/inequality/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Covid-and-inequality.pdf 
Blundell, R., Costa Dias, M., Joyce, R., & Xu, X. (2020). COVID-19 and Inequalities. Fiscal 
Studies, 41(2), 291-319. doi:10.1111/1475-5890.12232 
 

86. Office for National Statistics. (2020c). Deaths involving COVID-19 by local area and 
socioeconomic deprivation: deaths occurring between 1 March and 30 June 2020. Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bu
lletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand
30june2020 
Office for National Statistics. (2020d). Deaths involving COVID-19 by local area and 
socioeconomic deprivation: deaths occurring between 1 March and 31 July 2020. Retrieved 
from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bu
lletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand
31july2020 
Anderson, H. (2020a). JRF responds to ONS figures on coronavirus in deprived areas. 
Retrieved from https://www.jrf.org.uk/press/jrf-responds-ons-figures-coronavirus-deprived-
areas 
Anderson, H. (2020b). JRF responds to ONS figures on ethnicity and coronavirus. Retrieved 
from https://www.jrf.org.uk/press/jrf-responds-ons-figures-ethnicity-and-coronavirus 
 
 

87. BBNPA (in preperation) State of the Park Report 2020 
 

88. Brecon Beacons Naitonal Park. (2020c). Implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on policy 
making in the National Park, an early perspective: Research paper #3 Society. 
 

89. Earwaker, R. B., Darren. (2020). Build, build, build social housing: to stimulate our economy and 
unlock people from poverty and homelessness. Retrieved from 
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/build-build-build-social-housing 
 

90. BBNPA (in preperation) State of the Park Report 2020 
 

91. Gallent, N., Hamiduddin, I., Kelsey, J., & Stirling, P. (2020). Housing Access and Affordability 
in Rural England: Tackling Inequalities Through Upstream Reform or Downstream 
Intervention? Planning Theory & Practice, 1-21. doi:10.1080/14649357.2020.1801820 
Pettifor, A. (2018, Sat 27 Jan 2018). Why building more homes will not solve Britain’s 
housing crisis. The Guardian. Retrieved from 
https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/jan/27/building-homes-britain-housing-
crisis 
 

92. Both PCC and CCC have a programme of affordable housing buidling.  
 
 

93. Covid-19 Mutual Aid. (2020). Retrieved from https://covidmutualaid.org/ 
 
 

Page 198

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.ifs.org.uk/inequality/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Covid-and-inequality.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand30june2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand31july2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand31july2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/deathsinvolvingcovid19bylocalareasanddeprivation/deathsoccurringbetween1marchand31july2020
https://www.jrf.org.uk/press/jrf-responds-ons-figures-coronavirus-deprived-areas
https://www.jrf.org.uk/press/jrf-responds-ons-figures-coronavirus-deprived-areas
https://www.jrf.org.uk/press/jrf-responds-ons-figures-ethnicity-and-coronavirus
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EV-LH7N-5PJHhZX2oVT1cIgBHijzPIJMHYI6Ichh5Wnw1w?e=dcaMAa
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:w:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EV-LH7N-5PJHhZX2oVT1cIgBHijzPIJMHYI6Ichh5Wnw1w?e=dcaMAa
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/build-build-build-social-housing
https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/jan/27/building-homes-britain-housing-crisis
https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2018/jan/27/building-homes-britain-housing-crisis
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/3946/Affordable-Housing#:%7E:text=Powys%20County%20Council%20has%20made,of%20local%20communities%20across%20Powys.&text=A%203%2Dstorey%20development%20consisting%20of%2026%20one%20bedroom%20flats.
http://newsroom.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/2020/02/council-unveils-ambitious-housing-plan/#.X20zyWhKhPY
https://covidmutualaid.org/


94. Brooks, S et al (2020) The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid 
review of the evidence ‘The Lancet 395(10227) pp 912-
920https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30460-8/fulltext 
 
 

95. Ibid 
 
 

96. Dower, J (1945) National Parks in England and Wales Ministry of Town and Country 
Planning, London, HMSO 
Wilkinson, D. (2019). Fight for It Now: John Dower and the Struggle for National Parks in Britain. 
Oxford: Signal Books. 
 

97. White, M. P., Alcock, I., Grellier, J., Wheeler, B. W., Hartig, T., Warber, S. L Fleming, L. E. (2019). 
Spending at least 120 minutes a week in nature is associated with good health and wellbeing. Scientific 
Reports, 9(1), 7730. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-44097-3 
 

98. Evans, S (2020) ‘Analysis:  Cornoavirus set to cause largest ever annual fall in CO2 emissions Carbon 
Breif Clear on Climate https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-coronavirus-set-to-cause-largest-ever-annual-fall-in-
co2-emissions 
 

99. Quoted in ‘Clear thinking required’ The Economist March 26th 2020 edition 
https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2020/03/26/the-epidemic-provides-a-chance-to-
do-good-by-the-climate 
 

100. Office for National Statistics. (2020f). One in eight British households has no garden. 
Retrieved from 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhousehold
shasnogarden/2020-05-14 
 

101. BBC. (2020). Coronavirus: Six ways the lockdown has changed the UK. Retrieved 
from April 13th 2020 https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-51994504  
 

102. See for example, Twohig-Bennett, C and A Jones (2018) ‘The health benefits of the 
great outdoors:  A systematic review and meta-analysis of greenspace exposure and health 
outcomes’ Environmental Research 166 Octoer 2018 pp.628-
637https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0013935118303323 
BBC. (2020a). 'Biggest health care issues' affected by environmnet. Retrieved from 
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-wales-53315158/biggest-health-care-issues-affected-by-
environment 
Maddison, D., Rehdanz, K., & Welsch, H. (2020). Handbook on Wellbeing, Happiness and the 
Environment. 
Signal Books. 
Wilson, S. (2014). Investigating the impact of Naitonal Parks on Health and Wellbeing:  Findings 
from a survey of Mosaic Community Champians in Wales.  
Public Health England. (2014). Local action on health inequalities:  Improving access to green 
spaces  
 

103. Beatley, T. (2020). The Natureful City: Rediscovering Nature in a Pandemic Era. 
Biophilic Cities Journal, 3(2), 6-11. Retrieved from 
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bbd32d6e66669016a6af7e2/t/5eff41f647a3f573480192
57/1593786878101/Natureful+City.pdf 

Page 199

https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)30460-8/fulltext
https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-coronavirus-set-to-cause-largest-ever-annual-fall-in-co2-emissions
https://www.carbonbrief.org/analysis-coronavirus-set-to-cause-largest-ever-annual-fall-in-co2-emissions
https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2020/03/26/the-epidemic-provides-a-chance-to-do-good-by-the-climate
https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/2020/03/26/the-epidemic-provides-a-chance-to-do-good-by-the-climate
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/oneineightbritishhouseholdshasnogarden/2020-05-14
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-51994504
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0013935118303323
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-wales-53315158/biggest-health-care-issues-affected-by-environment
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-wales-53315158/biggest-health-care-issues-affected-by-environment
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bbd32d6e66669016a6af7e2/t/5eff41f647a3f57348019257/1593786878101/Natureful+City.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5bbd32d6e66669016a6af7e2/t/5eff41f647a3f57348019257/1593786878101/Natureful+City.pdf


Cosslet, R. L. (2020). It's our sanctuary: gardens in lockdown, as seen by drone. Retrieved 
from https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2020/may/16/its-our-sanctuary-gardens-in-
lockdown-as-seen-by-dro 
MacDonald, H. (2020). All across the land. Vogue, August.  
also August 2020 Vogue Magazine which featured a series of landscape images with the single 
word ‘Reset’ https://www.vogue.co.uk/news/article/mert-alas-august-cover  
Jones, L. (2020). Rethink: 'There has been a renaissance of love for nature,' says author Lucy 
Jones. Rethink. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-53181112 

 
104. See for example Louv, R. (2005). Last Child in the Woods: Saving our Children from 

Nature Deficit Disorder. New York: Algonquin Books. 
 

105.  Alcock, I., White, M., Pahl, S., Duarte-Davidson, R., & Fleming, L. (2020). Associations between pro-
environmental behaviour and neighbourhood nature, nature visit frequency and nature appreciation: 
Evidence from a nationally representative survey in England. Environment international, 136, 105441. 
doi:10.1016/j.envint.2019.105441 
 

106. Non-material benefits can be experienced from connections with nature across 
multiple scales see for example this research relating to the benefits of ‘views’ Chang, C.-c., 
Oh, R. R. Y., Nghiem, T. P. L., Zhang, Y., Tan, C. L. Y., Lin, B. B., Carrasco, L. R. (2020). Life 
satisfaction linked to the diversity of nature experiences and nature views from the window. 
Landscape and Urban Planning, 202, 103874. 
doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2020.103874 
 

107. Vasiljevic, N., & Gavrilovic, S. (2019). Cultural Ecosystem Services. In W. Leal Filho, 
A. M. Azul, L. Brandli, P. G. Özuyar, & T. Wall (Eds.), Life on Land (pp. 1-10). Cham: Springer 
International Publishing. 
 

108. Gómez-Baggethun, E., & Barton, D. N. (2013). Classifying and valuing ecosystem 
services for urban planning. Ecological Economics, 86, 235-245. 
doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.08.019 
 

109.  ORS. (2020). Mid and South West Wales Housing Assessment.  Housing Market Summary for Brecon 
Beacons National Park DRAFT. 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 200

https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2020/may/16/its-our-sanctuary-gardens-in-lockdown-as-seen-by-dro
https://www.theguardian.com/lifeandstyle/2020/may/16/its-our-sanctuary-gardens-in-lockdown-as-seen-by-dro
https://www.vogue.co.uk/news/article/mert-alas-august-cover
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-53181112
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2020.103874
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.08.019
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/ES17hxKgFJdAjNyRwpGJcwwB-3uMeIWzaBdL2EiDCIFlOg?e=NmTwMO


  

Page 201



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 2 

 
 

Contents 
Forward to the second edition of the Delivery Agreement ..................................................... 3 
1.0 Introduction ............................................................................................................................. 4 
2. The need for review .................................................................................................................. 4 
3.0 The Delivery Agreement ...................................................................................................... 5 
4.0 Review of Other Plans, Programmes and Policies .......................................................... 5 
5.0 Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of Local Development Plans (LDPs) .................... 9 
6.0 Principles of Project Management Timetabling ..............................................................10 
7.0 Principles of Community Involvement for the Local Development Plan .................10 
8.0 Test of Soundness ................................................................................................................10 
9.0 Local Development Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance ......................................11 
10 Project Management Timetable ........................................................................................12 
1 Staff Resources ..........................................................................................................................15 
12 Role of NPA Members & the Delegated Powers of Strategy and Policy Officers .16 
13.0 Financial Resources ..............................................................................................................16 
14 Local Development Plan and SA/SEA Integrated Project Management Timetable 17 
15.0 LDP Risk Management & Mitigation .................................................................................19 
16 Community Involvement Scheme (CIS) ..........................................................................20 
17 Monitoring and Review ..............................................................................................................33 
Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations ..........................................................................................34 
Appendix 1 LDP Risk Management & Mitigation .......................................................................38 
Appendix 2: What is Expected of the Consultation Bodies? ..................................................40 
Appendix 3: Consultation Techniques .........................................................................................42 
Appendix 4: Project Management Timetable ..............................................................................45 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 202



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 3 

Forward to the second edition of the Delivery Agreement 

 Review June 2020 – Responding to the Coronavirus Pandemic. 

The Delivery Agreement (DA) between the Brecon Beacons National Park (BBNPA) and the 
Welsh Government was first prepared in June 2018.  The timetable was agreed with Welsh 
Government in September 2018.  Since that time work has progressed on the development of 
the replacement Local Development Plan for the Brecon Beacons National Park area as per our 
published timetable (henceforth LDP2)  

The restrictions in movement brought about by COVID-19 pandemic have had a significant 
global impact, and unfortunately, the timetable of LDP2 has not been immune to such challenges.  
As this is written we find ourselves in unprecedented times, where the ability to meet the 
requirements of our Community Involvement Strategy (CIS) have been prevented by social 
distancing conventions.  It is therefore with regret that we were unable to publish the Deposit 
LDP in July of this year as set out in our agreed DA.  As per the requirements of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) the Authority is seeking to agree an amended Delivery 
Agreement with the Welsh Government.   

Of course, the coronavirus has not just impacted the timeline of LDP2 production.  The virus 
has in many ways transformed the socio-economic conditions into which future policy will play 
out.  It would be remiss of the Authority to roll forward a pre-covid strategy without critically 
examining its fitness to guide the National Park through a post-covid world.  Accordingly, this 
revised DA includes an additional stage of stakeholder engagement to enable the Authority to 
collaboratively reassess and rework our Preferred Strategy in light of shifting policy foci.  In 
reviewing our strategy we assert the unique position the National Park occupies in providing a 
resource for the benefit of the health and well-being of the nation. 
  

Page 203



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 4 

 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 
 Purposes of the National Park 
 
1.1 National Parks are internationally recognized protected areas which contain some of 

our most beautiful spectacular and dramatic areas of countryside. They are landscapes 
of national and international importance and their designation gives them the highest 
status for the conservation of landscape and scenic beauty. They contain fantastic 
opportunities for recreation and millions of visitors across the World who enjoy them 
every year.  
 

1.2 National Parks were designated under the 1949 National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act, but their current framework is the Environment Act 1995. Section 61 
of this act sets out the purposes of the National Park as:- 

 
 Conservation and enhancement: “to conserve and enhance the natural 

beauty, wildlife, and cultural heritage of the National Parks”. 
 
 Understanding and enjoyment: “to promote opportunities for the 

understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities [of the Parks] by the public”. 
 

1.3 These are underpinned by the Sandford Principle which asserts the primacy of the first 
purpose over the second in cases of conflict.  Meanwhile, in pursuing these purposes, 
the Authority has a duty to: 

 
 Take forward the National Park purposes [to] seek to foster the social and 

economic well-being its local communities within the National Park1. 
 

2. The need for review 
 
2.1 The Authority has a statutory duty to ensure our key strategic policy documents are 

kept under regular review. 
 
2.2 The BBNPA approved Management Plan (2015-2020) is currently being reviewed and a 

consultation/engagement process is being undertaken in 2020.  
 
2.3 BBNPA first commenced work on their Local Development Plan in 2007.  This plan was 

adopted by the National Park Authority for use in Development Control in December 
2012.  The Plan has been subject to yearly monitoring and review.  

 
2.4 In accordance with Local Development Plan regulation 41 a review of the Brecon 

Beacons National Park first and current Local Development Plan was commenced 
December 2017.  As part of this review process the Authority produced and published 

 
1  Appendix 3 summarises the Demographics of the National Park area 

Page 204



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 5 

‘The Review Report’2. This statutory document provided an overview of the key issues 
arising from the monitoring of the LDP and supporting evidence to identify the scope of 
necessary changes to the Local Development Plan.  The Review Report concluded that 
the LDP should be reviewed in full.  Preparation of a replacement LDP for the BBNPA 
area commenced in September 2018. 

 
2.5 The adopted Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (BBNPA LDP) 

(December 2013) remains extant and will continue to be the policy framework by which 
planning applications are determined up until December 2022 or the adoption of the 
LDP2 whichever arises sooner.    

 
 

3.0 The Delivery Agreement 
 
3.1 This Delivery Agreement (DA) is a public document of the BBNPA, incorporating its 

project plan and policy for involving the community in revision of the Local 
Development Plan and Management Plan.   

 
3.2 The DA is an agreement between the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

(BBNPA) and the Welsh Government (WG) and relates specifically to the Local 
Development Plan.  This second iteration of the DA provides detail in relation to the 
connection between the development of LDP2  and the NPMP review.  The agreement 
between the BBNPA and Welsh Government relates specifically to the development of  
LDP2, although the significance of the NPMP is acknowledged by the Welsh 
Government. 

 
 

3.3 The content of this Delivery Agreement specifically addresses the preparation processes 
of the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Management Plan (NPMP) and the Local 
Development Plan (LDP) and the associated Sustainability Appraisal/ Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SA/SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).  This 
Delivery Agreement commits BBNPA to revise the LDP according to the stated 
timescales and consultation processes.   

 
 

4.0 Review of Other Plans, Programmes and Policies 
 
4.1 The Park is recognised by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 

as a Category V [5] protected landscape which means that it is:  
 

“A protected area where the interaction of people and nature over time has produced an area 
of distinct character with significant ecological, biological, cultural and scenic value: and where 
safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the area and its 
associated nature conservation and other values.” www.iucn.org  

 

 
2 Endorsed by NPA 20th April 2018 https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s28711/Enclosure%201%20-
%20Draft%20Review%20Report.pdf  

Page 205

http://www.iucn.org/
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s28711/Enclosure%201%20-%20Draft%20Review%20Report.pdf
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/documents/s28711/Enclosure%201%20-%20Draft%20Review%20Report.pdf


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 6 

4.2 This definition acknowledges that the National Park landscape is one that is dynamic, 
shaped by human activity and natural processes over millennia3.  Such an understanding 
of the human influence of landscape is one that seems most pertinent at the time of 
strategic policy development - at a time when we are facing the twin challenges of 
biodiversity4 and climate crisis5.  We acknowledge that our landscapes continue to change 
in response to societal choices related to land use and land management.  The 
Environment Act (1995) places a duty on the National Park Authority to manage these 
processes of change through the development of the National Park Management Plan.  It 
is the duty of the NPMP to define a twenty year vision for the future of the National Park 
and to work with partners to implement and monitor delivery of this vision.   

 
4.3 This document is the single most important document for the National Park, it is the 

framework through which our statutory purposes and duty are implemented.  The LDP 
is the land use planning expression of the NPMP. 

 
 
4.4 Development of the NPMP is directed by guidance produced in 2007 by CCW which,  

despite its age,  remains relevant and is clear in the interconnectedness of the NPMP 
and LDP.   

 
 
4.5 The LDP is the mechanism by which the land use elements of the NPMP vision are 

implemented and monitored.  However in defining our LDP the Authority is required by 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) to have regard to current national 
planning policy and guidance in the development of the LDP.  A definitive list of relevant 
policies plans and programmes has been produced as part of the Scoping Report of the 
joint SA/SEA for the NPMP and LDP.  However, the principal documents are as follows: 

 
 Planning Policy Wales PPW (10th Ed)(December 2018); 
 Technical Advice Notes (Wales) (TANs); 
 Local Development Plan Manual (3rd Ed) (2019). 
 National Park Management Plans Guidance (Natural Resources Wales 2007).  
 Ecosystem Approach for Protected Landscapes Management Plan Reviews 

(Natural Resources Wales 2014).  
 
4.6 In addition to these planning policy and guidance documents, the NPA must also have 

regard to:  
 

 The Environment Act (1995) 

 
3 BBNPA (2012) Landscape Character Assessment Prepared By Fiona Fyfe Associates With Countryscape, 
Alison Farmer Associates and Julie Martin Associates  
4 IPBES (2019): Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental 
Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz, and 
H. T. Ngo (editors). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany 
5 IPCC, (2018): Summary for Policymakers. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the 
impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas 
emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, 
sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, H.-O. Pörtner, D. 
Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S. Connors, J.B.R. 
Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor, and T. Waterfield (eds.)]. 

Page 206

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/1.0_Executive-Summary_final_-120930.pdf
https://ipbes.net/global-assessment
https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/05/SR15_SPM_version_report_LR.pdf


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 7 

 The Wales Spatial Plan: People, Places, Futures; 
 The Waste Strategy for Wales and Regional Waste Plans; 
 The Environment Strategy for Wales; and 
 The Well-being of Future Generations Act (2015) 
 The Environment Act (Wales)(2016) 
 The Historic Environment (Wales) Bill 2016 

 
4.7 The position the Authority occupies as custodians of a National resource places a 

substantial obligation on future policy making to ensure the qualities for which we are 
designated are conserved and enhanced.  As such there is significant opportunity for 
policy making within the National Park to be unique, bold and above all relevant to our 
particular character and circumstances.   

 
4.8 The BBNPA is the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for the National Park area and is not 

directly responsible for highways, economic development and housing issues.  These 
responsibilities remain with the constituent Unitary Authorities and the respective 
Highways, Economic Development and Housing Authorities.  It is therefore essential 
that the NPA work in partnership with the constituent Unitary Authorities to achieve 
appropriate developments within the Park boundary.  With respect to this, and in 
accordance with S62(2) of the 1995 Environment Act, it remains imperative that our 
constituent Unitary Authorities have regard to National Park purposes and duty and 
NPMP in the drafting in their strategic plans and policies:- 

 
 Public Service Board Well-being Plans 
 Local Housing Strategies; 
 Local Transport Plans (and other policies prepared under the Transport Act 

2000); 
 Economic Strategies; 
 Local Air Quality Management Plans. 
 Area Management Plans 

 
4.9 The following BBNPA strategies will also provide an important influence on the 

production of the LDP (this list is not exhaustive): 
 Landscape Character Assessment 
 BBNPA Corporate Plan; 
 Rights of Way Improvement Plan 
 Historic Environment Action Plan 
 Local Biodiversity Action Plan; 
 Nature Recovery Action Plan; 
 Sustainable Tourism Strategy; 
 Sustainable Development Strategy, 
 Visitor Management Plan 
 Area based visitor management strategies 
 Interpretation Strategy 
 NPA Position Statements 
 River Wye Nutrient Management Plan 
 Social Inclusion Strategy; and, 
 BBNPA State of the Park Report (SoPR) 2014 and 2020. 

 
 

Page 207



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 8 

 
 
Well-Being of Future Generations Act 2015 
 
4.10 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act places a duty on public bodies to 

carry out sustainable development to improve the way in which we achieve the social, 
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales.  The NPA must act in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle and seek to ensure that the 
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to 
meet their own needs.  As part of this duty public bodies must set and publish 
objectives which are designed to maximise its contribution to achieving each of the well-
being goals.  The 7 goals areas are: 

• A prosperous Wales 
• A resilient Wales 
• A healthier Wales 
• A more equal Wales 
• A Wales of cohesive communities 
• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language 
• A globally responsible Wales 

 
 
BBNPA Well-being objective 
 
The National Park, a resource for the People of Wales and beyond, is recognised as an 
important place in the fight for the recovery of nature and the enhanced wellbeing of people.  
To that end: 
 
-  People will benefit from the Park’s resilient landscape, full of flourishing wildlife and valued 
heritage. 
 
-  People will be able to access, understand what makes the Park special 
 
-  People living and working in the Park will benefit from strong communities, sustainable 
livelihoods, healthy lifestyles and widespread decarbonization. 
 

 
 

4.11 The Act also defines five ways of working which are:- long term; integration; 
involvement; collaboration and prevention.   

 
4.12 The NPMP and LDP revision will embrace these concepts of sustainable development 

and the five ways of working and ensure that the goals of the Act underpin the 
reformulation of the two plans.  

 
 
 
Evidence Base Assessments 
 
4.13 The Local Development Plan review is an evidence led process.  Through yearly 

monitoring, the Authority has gained useful insight into how the LDP is functioning and 

Page 208



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 9 

where greater detail is necessary in order to implement effective policy making and 
planning decisions.  The following evidence sources are either under current review or 
planned review:- 

 
• Housing Needs Assessment 
• Affordable Housing Viability Assessment 
• Employment Land Review and Needs Assessment 
• Retail Assessment 
• Settlement assessment including capacity review 
• Amenity Open Space Review 
• Renewable Energy Assessment 
• Infrastructure Plan 
• Welsh Language Assessment 
• Green Infrastructure Review 

 
4.14  With regard to the Management Plan, the health of the Park is affected by many factors 

that fall outside the scope of the Management Plan, but the State of the Park Report will 
be used to measure the health of the Park and will be developed over time to ensure it 
continues to be an invaluable monitoring resource to be the primary evidence base for 
the NPMP review.  
 

 

5.0 Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of Local Development Plans (LDPs) 
 
5.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning authorities to 

undertake a Sustainability Appraisal of their LDP and report the findings as an integral 
part of the process of plan preparation.  Environmental, economic and social 
implications of the plan’s policies will be considered within a full appraisal of the 
interaction of policies within the plan.  In addition to this, the EU Directive 2001/42/EC 
(and resulting Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes (Wales) Regulations 
2004) requires planning authorities to undertake a formal Strategic Environmental 
Assessment of plans and programmes that are likely to have significant effects on the 
environment.  BBNPA intends to adopt an integrated approach to implementing these 
requirements. 

 
5.2 Finally, in accordance with the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC, the impacts of any land use 

plan against the conservation objectives of a European Site are to be assessed by means 
of a Habitats Regulations Assessment.  The possible need for an Appropriate 
Assessment (AA) will be established following a test of significance.  Any resulting AA 
will follow the same iterative process as that of the SA/SEA wherever possible.  
However it is worth noting at this stage that SA/SEA outputs will be clearly 
distinguishable and reported on separately.  

 
5.3 To be fully effective BBNPA will ensure that the SA/ SEA and HRA are fully integrated 

into the plan making process and will provide input at each stage when decisions are 
taken.  In developing the SA/ SEA and HRA, BBNPA will have regard to the specific 
objectives and principles of PPW. 

Page 209



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 10 

 
 

6.0 Principles of Project Management Timetabling  
 

6.1 Early consideration and adequate priority to plan preparation and handling of the 
process through effective leadership and project management is considered vital to the 
NPA.  This early consideration includes: 

 
 Considering how long the reviewed plan will take to reach adoption and the staffing 

resources and budgets that are needed at various stages in the process; 
 Agreeing a timetable at the start of the plan preparation process leading to the adoption 

of the Plan; 
 Using principles of good project management to enable monitoring and review of 

progress towards adoption against agreed milestones and; 
 Implementing a programme of monitoring and Plan review thereafter. 

 
 

7.0 Principles of Community Involvement for the Local Development Plan 
 
7.1 Key objective of the LDP system is to build greater consensus and strengthen 

community involvement.  The NPA is committed to early and effective community 
engagement in plan making and through the development of the LDP harboured 
innovative and meaningful techniques for including our community in development plan 
formation.  This is something that the Authority believes is essential to the effective 
review of the LDP.  The Delivery Agreement provides an opportunity to reiterate the 
Authority’s commitment to community involvement in plan making and set out the way 
in which we are to facilitate this. 

 
7.2 The key principles that underpin community engagement in the LDP process6 are: 

 Creating conditions for early involvement and feedback at a stage when people 
can recognise a chance to influence the Plan; 

 Encouraging the commitment of all participants to an open and honest debate 
on realistic development alternatives in the search for consensus and;  

 Recognising the need to adopt approaches for engaging the community, including 
business, which seeks the views of those not normally involved. 

 
 

8.0 Test of Soundness7  
 
8.1 The concept of ‘soundness’ is that against which the revised LDP will be assessed by an 

Independent Inspector appointed by the Welsh Government.  When we refer to a 
‘sound’ plan it is meant one that it is based on good judgement and can be trusted. 

 
6 These principles were included in the Statement on Planning Delivering for Wales by the Minister for     
Environment, Planning and the Countryside in November 2004 
7 PINS (2006) Guide to the Examination of LDPs 

Page 210



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 11 

There are three statutory tests of soundness as follows:- 
 

• Test 1 – Does the plan fit? The Inspector will consider whether the revised LDP is 
consistent with other plans and programmes  

• Test 2 – Is the plan appropriate? The Inspector will consider whether the plan provides 
the right policy response to the available evidence  

• Test 3 – Will the plan deliver? The Inspector will only consider a plan sound if it is likely 
to deliver the stated outcomes. 

 
8.2 The Inspector’s findings will be binding on the Authority  
 
8.3 Failure to produce a sound plan may result in the Authority having to repeat stages of 

the LDP preparation process. 
 
8.4 The NPMP does not undergo any independent examination and the tests of soundness 

are not applied in its assessment. 
 

9.0 Local Development Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance8 
 
9.1 The revised LDP will contain sufficient policies and proposals to provide the basis for 

deciding planning applications and for determining conditions to be attached to planning 
permissions.  However in certain circumstances Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
can be beneficial for defining how certain policies may be developed and implemented. 

 
9.2 Since adoption of the LDP in 2013 the NPA has endorsed a range of Supplementary 

Planning Guidance (SPG) as follows:-  
 

• Allotments 
• Affordable Housing Strategy (September 2019) 
• Householder Design Guide 
• Biodiversity and Development (September 2016) 
• Planning Obligation Strategy (July 2014) 
• Affordable Housing (September 2019) 
• Landscape and Development (October 2014) 
• Minerals Safeguarding (March 2015) 
• Obtrusive Lighting and Light Pollution (March 2015) 
• Farm Diversification (March 2015) 
• Low Impact Tourism Accommodation (March 2015) 
• Biodiversity in the Towns of the National Park (September 2016) 
• Small Scale Renewable Energy SPG (May 2015) 
• Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside (May 2015) (Revised June 2019) 
• Sustainable Development in the National Parks of Wales (May 2015)  
• Hay Town Plan (September 2016) 
• Crickhowell Community Plan (February 2017) 
• Cerrigcochion Road Development Brief (April 2016) 
• Hay Road Development Brief (March 2015) 

 
8  For BBNPA consultation processes on Supplementary Planning Guidance refer to page 27/ 28 

Page 211



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 12 

• Cwrt y Gollen Development Brief (July 2014) 
• Former Mid Wales Hospital, Talgarth Development Brief (April 2019) 

 
 
9.3 It is anticipated that the SPG topics above will continue to be necessary to the 

implementation of the revised Local Development Plan, and so will be carried forward 
with any necessary amendments to reflect the LDP and updated evidence base. 
 

Post-Covid Revisions 
 
9.4 The Ministerial letter to all Chief Planning Officers of the 7th July 2020 stated 
 
 Local planning authorities must reflect on the impact of the pandemic on their areas and 

consider the consequences for LDPs under review or being implemented…LDPs are evidence-
based documents.  As a result of the pandemic and resulting downturn in the economy much of 
the evidence on which LDPs are based is likely to be out of date….LDPs currently undergoing 
review, which have not yet been submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination, should 
undertake and assessment of the evidence base, strategy and policies in terms of sensitivity to 
the consequences of the Pandemic.  Robust conclusions should be reached on the need for new 
evidence and any consequential changes to strategy and policy before progressing plan 
preparation.  The assessment should be submitted to the Welsh Government with requests to 
extend Delivery Agreements (DA)9 

 
9.5 The Authority has duly undertaken this assessment (see summary at Appendix 5) and 

determined that there has been sufficient contextual changes to facilitate revision of our 
Preferred Strategy and Scoping Report/Methodology for the Integrated Sustainability 
Appraisal. 

 
9.6 This Delivery Agreement therefore sets out a revised timetable accommodating an 

additional consultation phase on a revised Preferred Strategy. 
 

10 Project Management Timetable 
 

Timetabling the NPMP, LDP, SA/SEA and HRA Processes 
 
10.1 Balancing speed and efficiency, the timetable for the production of the NPMP and LDP is 

summarised at table 1 below. 
 
 
10.2 The timetable has been developed to align with the LDP Regulations under Part 6 of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  The timetable consists of two broad 
stages as follows:- 

 
 Definitive Stages including all stages up to and including the statutory deposit period, 

and;  

 
9  Ministerial letter MA-KK-2099-20 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/planning-
and-the-post-covid-19-recovery-letter-to-local-authorities_0.pdf 

Page 212

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/planning-and-the-post-covid-19-recovery-letter-to-local-authorities_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-07/planning-and-the-post-covid-19-recovery-letter-to-local-authorities_0.pdf


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 13 

 Indicative Stages all work carried out after the Deposit period up to the adoption 
date.   

 
10.3 The definitive stages of the project management timetable provide detailed, transparent 

and realistic timetabling that will be monitored in the assessment of the plan’s 
soundness.  As per regulation, significant deviations will need to be approved by WG 
and accounted for by the NPA.  Indicative stages of plan preparation are flexible and 
dependent on unforeseen factors.  It is the intention that the dates of the indicative 
stages will be defined within 3 months of the close of the formal 8-week deposit 
period.10 

 
 

Key Stage Timescale  

Definitive  From To 

Delivery 
Agreement 

June 2018 September 2018 

Consultation commences June 2018 
NPA endorsement September 2018 
WG response within 4 weeks 

Management Plan – Commence review of State of the Park Report 
(SoPR); Data Gathering for SA/SEA Scoping Report 

 

Pre-Deposit 
Participation 

October 2018 June 2019 

NPA resolution to consult on Preferred Strategy May 2019 

Management Plan – Review evidence base and develop State of the 
Park Report  

Preferred Strategy 
(Pre-Deposit 
Consultation) 

June 2019 August 2019 

8 Week consultation  
Report to NPA consultation responses and resulting actions  

Management Plan – develop State of the Park Report 

 
10  WAG, 2005, Local Development Plans Wales 2005 

Page 213



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 14 

Revised Delivery 
Agreement in 
response to Covid-
19 
 

September 
2020 

 

 
 

Pre-Deposit review August 2019 December 2020 

NPA resolution to consult on Revised Preferred Strategy LDP 30th 
October 2020 

Management Plan: Consultation on Draft Management Plan 

 

Preferred Strategy 
(Pre-Deposit 
Consultation) 

Draft NPMP 

January  2021 February 2021 

8 Week Consultation  
 

Deposit 
Preparation  

January 2021 June 2021 

8 Week Consultation  
 

LDP: Report to NPA Focused Changes and resolution to submit 
plan February 2021 

 
 

Deposit 
Consultation  

July 2021 August 2021 

8 Week Consultation  

Post Deposit  August 2021 October 2021 

Review consultation responses 

Prepare where necessary Focused Changes 

Page 214



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 15 

Indicative 

 

Submission of LDP to Welsh Government November 2022 

Hearing Sessions Examination  January/February 2022 

Inspectors Report November 2022 

Adoption December 2022 

 
A more detailed project timetable can be found at Section 7 below. 
 

 
 SA/SEA and HRA tasks 
 
10.4 SA/SEA and HRA will be undertaken as iterative processes throughout plan preparation 

as indicated in table 7 
 

1 Staff Resources  
 
11.1 In review of the MPNP and LDP, including undertaking community involvement, the 

Authority will devote the necessary resources, primary officer/ member time and 
revenue funding. 

 
 
Officer Job Title Number of 

posts 
Proportion of time spent 
on MPNP production  

Proportion of time 
spent on LDP 
Production 

Planning and 
Heritage Manager 

1 5% 30% 

Principal Planning 
Policy Officer 

1 35% 40% 

Evidence and 
Performance Officer 

1 45% 35% 

Sustainable 
Development Officer 

1 30% 5% 

Senior Planning 
Policy Officer 

1 45% 45% 

Planning Policy 
Officer  

1 45% 45% 

Page 215



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 16 

Planning Technician 1  30% 
 
 
11.2 The figures above are indicative only due to the cross departmental working undertaken 

by the Strategy and Policy Team.  These flexible working practices involve utilising the 
necessary staffing resources as and when required.  In recognition of this the LDP and 
NPMP Project Management Timetables have been established in conjunction with one 
another to enable sound interdepartmental working relationships.  This partnership is 
referred to as the Policy Officers Group (POG) and are responsible for the production 
of a joint evidence base and ISA. 

 
11.3 In addition to this internal specialist support and assistance will also be provided by the 

following NPA staff: 
 BBNPA Management Team; 
 BBNPA Ecology Team 
 BBNPA Sustainable Tourism Team 
 BBNPA Community Development Officer; 
 BBNPA Education Team; 
 BBNPA Development Management Team; 
 BBNPA ICT Support; 
 

  
  

12 Role of NPA Members & the Delegated Powers of Strategy and Policy 
Officers11  
 
12.1 The Strategy and Policy staff will be responsible for drafting policies and proposals on 

behalf of the NPA and will provide professional advice on key areas of policy, w Officers 
will not make decisions on behalf of the NPA unless specifically given delegated powers 
to do so.  The NPA Members as elected councilors and Welsh Government Appointees 
are responsible for making the final decisions at key stages throughout the process.   

 
12.2 Throughout the whole NPMP and LDP process ongoing public consultation will be 

integral to the Plan’s effective development.   In order to accommodate the volume of 
work involved, a Policy  Working Group (via the Policy Forum) has been established.  
Selective NPA members will be invited to sit on the working group.. Recommendations 
from the working group will be considered by all members of NPA at Policy Forum and 
National Park Authority Meetings.  

   

13.0 Financial Resources 
 
Financial Resources:  Funding Plan Preparation12 
 

Stage in Plan Preparation Budget 

 
11 Appendix 1 highlights the dates for the SA/SEA Steering Groups and National Park Authority Committees 
12 Please note these only include partial staff costs where these have been recruited for the express purpose 
of LDP2 development 

Page 216



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 17 

Delivery Agreement £10k 

Pre Deposit Participation £100k 

 Pre Deposit Public Consultation 

Revised Deposit Plan £200k 

Advertisement of Focused Changes £100k 

Submission of LDP to WAG  

£250k 

 

Independent Examination 

Inspector’s Report 

Adoption £40k 

 Annual monitoring Reports 

 
 

14 Local Development Plan and SA/SEA Integrated Project Management 
Timetable  
 
 

Stage Date 
Local 

Development 
Plan 

NPMP & LDP 
S.A./S.E.A. 

NPMP & LDP 
HRA 

5 
June-
December 
2020 

 Review of 
evidence base 
post covid 

 Review and 
redraft of  
Strategy 

 Revise DA 
 

 
 SA/ Env’tal 

Report 
Preparation 

(including new  
options, alternatives  
& Representations) 

 
 Significance test- 

policies/options/ 
Alternatives/ etc 
 HRA Report 

Preparation 
(inc new options 
&Representations) 

 

6 
January - 
February 
2021 

LDP Statutory 
Preferred 
Strategy 
Consultation (8 
weeks) 

(Including Initial 
Consultation 
Report) 
 

Consult on SA/ 
Environmental 
Report 
(6 weeks in 
conjunction with 
LDP) 

 

Consultation on 
HRA Report 
contained in SA 
Report 

7 March – 
May 2021 

Review of 
Consultation 
Comments 
Review of policies 
and sites for 
Deposit LDP2 

  

Page 217



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 18 

Stage Date 
Local 

Development 
Plan 

NPMP & LDP 
S.A./S.E.A. 

NPMP & LDP 
HRA 

 
Seek NPA approval 
to consult on 
Deposit LDP2 

8 
July- 
August 
2021 

LDP Statutory 
Deposit Period (8 
weeks) 

(Including Initial 
Consultation 
Report) 
 

Consult on SA/ 
Environmental 
Report 
(6 weeks in 
conjunction with 
LDP) 
 

Consultation on 
HRA Report 
contained in SA 
Report 

9 August – 
October 
2021 

 
Consider 
Deposit 
Representations 
(Use of Dev. Plan 
working Group) 
 
 Develop 

focused changes 
in consultation 
with Dev. Plan 
Working Group 

 Seek NPA 
approval to 
submit  

 
 

 
Consider 
Representations 
to SA/ Env Report 
 
 Assessment of 

the significant 
changes made 
following 
consultation 

 Decision on 
Requirement 
for Changes 
to Plan 

 

 
Consider 
Representations 
to HRA Report 
 Significance test of 

changes 
 Assessment of 

the significant 
changes made as a 
result of 
consultation 
 Decision on 

Requirement 
for Changes to 
Plan 

 
    Actions above run are definitive stages - Actions below have indicative stages 
 
Stage Date Local Development 

Plan 
(LDP) 

NPMP & LDP 
S.A./S.E.A. and 
A.A. 

NPMP & LDP  
HRA 

 
10 

 
November 
2022 

 
Submission of LDP 

to WG: 
(inc SA/SEA Report, 
HRA Report, 
evidence base, CIS if 
amended, 
consultation report, 
Focused changes) 
 Pre-Examination 

meeting with 
Inspectorate 6 

 - 

Page 218



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 19 

weeks from 
submission 

 Consultation on 
Focused Changes 

 
 
11 

 
January  
2022 

Independent 
Examination in 
Public:   
 12 weeks 

maximum for 
Examination & 22 
weeks until 
Inspector’s Report 

- - 

 
12 

 
November 
2022 

Inspector’s Report: 
‘Binding’ 
(12 months from 
submission) 

 Amend 
Report 
following 
Inspector’s 
Binding 
Report 

 
 Statement of 

how SA/ SEA 
influenced the 
LDP  
(on Adoption) 

 Amend HRA 
Report 
following 
Inspector’s 
Report 
 Statement of 

how HRA 
influenced LDP  

 
13 

 
November 
2022 

Publication of the 
Planning Inspector’s 
Recommendations 

 
13 

 
December 
2022 

Adoption of the 
Plan  

 

15.0 LDP Risk Management & Mitigation 
 
15.1 In accordance with WG guidance, BBNPA envisage that the LDP revision will span over 

an approximate 4 year period.  However the authority recognises that there are a 
number of factors that could result in the plan preparation period not proceeding in 
accordance with the proposed timetable, despite every effort being made to avoid a 
deviation from the Delivery Agreement.   

 
 
15.2 The principle risks that the NPA still need to consider in risk management are as 

follows: 
 
 The publication of revised legislation/ guidance; 
 The ability of consultees to engage/ Inspectorate to respond within a set timetable given 

resource constraints; 
 Legal challenge; 
 Political Change/ elections; 
 Presence of a Habitats Directive Site affecting the ‘Preferred Strategy’. 
 Re-entering ‘Lock-down’ 

 
15.3 Mitigation of any risk involved in adhering to the proposed timetable will be undertaken 

by the authority wherever possible (see Appendix 2).  A detailed Project Management 
Timetable will contribute to a reduction in any risk level and, in conjunction with further 

Page 219



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 20 

mitigation measures, it is thought that the risk can be minimised.  For example it is 
imperative that the authority monitor revisions to legislation/ guidance, ensure that 
consultation bodies and other external contributors are contacted in advance and work 
in close partnership with the WG and the Planning Inspectorate to ensure early warning 
of any problems.   

 
15.4 However despite the mitigation measures to be adopted by the NPA, a threat remains 

due to the considerable number of factors listed above.  In recognition of these factors 
it is considered appropriate that BBNPA allow a 3 month tolerance level in the following 
timetable for slippage without any formal amendment to the Delivery Agreement.  In 
addition to this it is worth noting that any slippage beyond the 3 month tolerance level 
without Welsh Government agreement could potentially be examined by the Inspector 
as a significant deviation from the Project Management Timetable.   

 

16 Community Involvement Scheme (CIS) 
 
Introduction to the Community Involvement Scheme 
 
16.1 A key objective of the National Park Management Plan and Local Development Plan 

system is to build greater consensus and strengthen community involvement in plan’s 
preparation.  Its preparation offers the opportunity to rethink ways of engaging a full 
spectrum of the community, both within and beyond the National Park Boundary, in 
strategic issues and to seek involvement in the NPMP and LDP Review preparation 
process from the outset. Undertaking a thorough Community Involvement Scheme also 
ensures that the Authority is in compliance with the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015. This Act puts a duty on the Authority to improve the sustainability and 
well-being of the areas and communities within its boundaries.  

 
16.2 The National Park Authority welcomes these working practices and seeks to advertise 

planning as accessible for everyone, including those hard-to-reach groups within 
communities. Innovative ways of involving organisations, partners, stakeholders, 
communities and individuals are sought for the benefit of the wider communities of the 
National Park and beyond. 

  
16.3 Opportunities for input will be provided on all key issues covering a wide range of 

interests.  This process of involvement will commence at an early stage of the plan 
preparation process and will be continually refreshed by re-involvement.  In addition to 
this, community involvement regarding the National Park Management Plan will be carried 
forward to the Local Development Plan Review process wherever appropriate.  This will 
complement the fact that the Local Development Plan is underpinned by the National 
Park Management Plan.  Furthermore, the State of the Park report will be incorporated 
into thematic ‘Issues Papers’ for the Local Development Plan Review that will play an 
important role in the development of strategic options during the pre-deposit stages.   

 
16.4 The Authority recognises the significant impact that COVID-19 has had on public life, and 

the ability for people to access information from public offices.  Our own Offices have 
been shut since March 2020 and are only opening in a limited capacity at present.  As such 
we aim to increase flexibility as much as is possible in relation to enabling our communities 

Page 220



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 21 

and stakeholders to access information.  The following section has been revised to 
accommodate consultation even in circumstances of ‘lockdown’. 

 
 
Purposes and Benefits of Community Involvement  
 
16.4 If undertaken successfully, this community involvement will not only be a benefit to the 

Authority, but will also help to build as great a general consensus as possible amongst the 
Park’s stakeholders, communities and individuals, therefore contributing to the 
overarching aim of a more sustainable future for the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

 
16.5 In anticipation of achieving a greater consensus, this section of the Delivery Agreement 

discusses the proposed process of community involvement to be undertaken by the 
National Park Authority. Larger stakeholder and partner organisations are included in this 
involvement, as well as local community groups, interest groups, user groups and 
individuals.  It sets out a methodology of how each group or individual can get involved 
and how a consensus will be sought. 

 
16.6 A successful Community Involvement Scheme will contribute to: 
 
 Benefits to the wider Community; 
 Benefits to the individuals or organisations involved in the consultation; and 
 Benefits to the Authority. 

 
16.7 The process of the Community Involvement Scheme should create a collective sense of 

ownership in the future of the Brecon Beacons National Park by increasing the 
transparency of the processes of plan preparation, by contributing to an improved sense 
of community through an increased consensus and by balancing the responsibilities of the 
national asset with the needs of the locality.  In summary, an effective Community 
Involvement Scheme will help to reduce conflict that has been traditionally associated with 
the development planning process.  

 
 
Who should be Involved and what is expected from the Consultation Bodies? 
 
16.8 The Local Development Plan impacts on everyone who lives, works and visits the National 

Park and it is for this reason that it is vital that community involvement is a success right 
from the outset of the plan making process. It is recognised by Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority that community participation and consultation practices need to be 
realistic in their aims.  It is not feasible or necessary to involve everyone at every stage 
and it is therefore the preferred approach of the Authority to involve major stakeholders 
and partner organisations during the early strategic stages of the plan-making process. 
This participation will largely concentrate on high-level strategic issues and then, as the 
process develops, will become a consultation exercise involving smaller more 
representative groups discussing options for more localised issues. 

 
16.9 The following are the key groups to be involved (these are also referred to as 
‘consultees’):  
 
 BBNPA Corporate and Service Management Teams; 

Page 221



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 22 

 BBNPA Members; 
 Developers; 
 Farmers Unions; 
 General Public; 
 Gypsies and Travellers; 
 Local Businesses; 
 Local Community Groups; 
 Neighbouring Unitary Authorities; 
 Public and private organisations involved with conservation, using and enjoying the Park 

and land management; 
 Statutory Consultees; 
 Tourism Organisations; 
 Town and Community Councils; 
 Visitors and;  
 Youth. 

 
16.10 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority intends to extend its work with its existing 

partners and develop new partnerships where appropriate. For example the National Park 
Authority will endeavour to involve all organisations formed during the preparation of the 
National Park Management Plan and Local Development Plan.  Engagement of new groups 
will be sought as early as possible in the process in an attempt to assist the Authority’s 
search for wider community involvement. 

 
16.11 The National Park Authority have a Policy Consultation Database which holds the 

mailing/email lists for all consultation processes throughout the NPMP and LDP review. 
Any individual, organisation, or group can be added to the Consultation Database so that 
they can be automatically kept informed at all subsequent stages of the process. To be 
added to this database and be kept informed of progress and opportunities to comment 
please email the appropriate contact information to strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk.  

 
16.12 Furthermore, Brecon Beacons National Park Authority consider it to be very important 

that all consultation bodies take into account the agreed Project Management Timetable 
when considering a consultation document.  The consultation period will be clearly stated 
at the specific consultation stage and BBNPA requires this period to be strictly adhered 
to in order to prevent any unnecessary delays that could cause a divergence from the 
approved timetable.  Any representations that are not made during the specified 
consultation periods may not be formally considered by the National Park Authority 
(Appendix 4 illustrates what is expected of the consultation bodies). 

 
 
What you should expect from the National Park Authority 

 
16.13 Officers within the Authority are required to: 

 
- Ensure the National Park Management Plan and Local Development Plan revision 

processes are carried out in accordance with the relevant legislation and best practice. 
- Make the best use of available resources. 
- Prepare and maintain an up to date evidence base for the revision process and identify 

key contextual changes that have occurred since the adoption of the first Local 
Development Plan in 2013. 

Page 222

mailto:strategy@beacons-npa.gov.uk


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 23 

- Actively engage with various individuals, groups and bodies as discussed below. 
- Consolidate outcomes from this engagement, together with the evidence base and make 

policy recommendations for the Replacement Plan throughout the Review process to 
accord with the Planning Inspectorate Tests of Soundness. 

- Report findings and recommendations to members of the National Park Authority for 
approval at each key stage and carry out actions as instructed. 

- Conduct workshops to brief members and consultees of key stages, discuss findings and 
policy recommendations. 

 
16.14 The Members of the National Park Authority are required to: 
 

- Act in the best interests of the National Park as a whole. 
- Provide advice/recommendations for Officers during the preparation of key revision 

documents and policy options. 
- Consider the recommendations of Officers at key stages of the revision process and make 

decisions on behalf of the Authority. 
 
16.15 Formal approval by the National Park Authority will be required at key revision stages 

including the Review Report, Delivery Agreement, the Preferred Strategy, Deposit 
proposals and final adoption. 

 
16.16 Any proposed change in policy will be subject to public consultation in compliance with 

national policy, guidance and regulation. Polices can be ultimately added, amended or 
deleted from the Plans by the appointed Planning Inspector, who will examine the 
soundness of the Replacement Plans. 

 
 
Equality 
 
16.17 Underpinning the Authority’s ideas on community involvement is the issue of equality. 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority will comply with the Equality Act 2010 (Wales) 
- Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). The duty covers age, disability, sex, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief and sexual orientation. In 
summary, those subject to the general equality duty must have due regard to the need to: 
- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Act.  
- Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 

and those who do not.  
- Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 

who do not.  
 
16.18 The National Park Authority is committed to ensuring that the process is accessible to 

everyone and is structured in a way that is easy to understand.  As part of this, language 
will be kept simple, the issues will be easy t42o understand and debate, all information 
will be readily available to the general public through various methods and technologies, 
and any decisions that will be made by the Authority will be advertised in a transparent 
manner.  Finally, consultees will have the opportunity to make their contributions in either 
Welsh or English, and formal consultation documents will be produced bilingually.  

 

Page 223



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 24 

16.19 Throughout the plan preparation process and its respective consultation stages, the 
website will play an important interactive and informative role.  It will be updated regularly 
and will provide an easy to use and informative resource allowing stakeholders and the 
general public to see how each stage has been produced and who has been involved.  All 
documents and maps will be made available on the website, although a variety of formats 
will be offered including CDs/USB Memory sticks and had copies will be available at 
request to any consultee that request.  The Authority will not be undertaking any face to 
face consultation events.  We will be offering ‘virtual’ meetings for those that are able to 
access such technology, and telephone consultations can be booked with Officers for 
question and answer sessions. 

 
Community Involvement Methodology 
 
16.20 The types of consultation techniques adopted during the plan preparation process will 

vary according to the respective stage of community involvement. Specific consultation 
methods will be tailored to suit the requirements of the differing needs of the relevant 
consultation bodies (see Figure 1 below).  For example the various groups listed below 
will be used by the National Park Authority at different stages of plan preparation.  The 
aspiration is for such meetings to be face to face, however, where circumstances prevent 
such action we will utilise virtual means to facilitate such meetings: 

 
 Steering Groups; 
 Working Groups; 
 Member’s Workshops; 
 Stakeholder Group Meetings;  
 Key Stakeholder Working Groups; and  
 Community Training events and workshops 
 Citizen Assemblies 

 
16.21 The function and reasons for the use of these groups is explained at Appendix 3, 

Consultation Techniques.  The community involvement techniques above were open to 
feedback13 at the Draft Delivery Agreement stage.  This feedback included preferred 
methods of consultation and the aspects of the Plans each consultation body wished to 
be consulted on.  

 
16.22 Meanwhile, a site register will be established. This register will list the candidate sites put 

forward to the Authority and will include the identification of those sites that accord with 
the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority strategy and those that do not.  It is 
envisaged that this process will contribute to an increased transparency of plan 
preparation and will also lead to the allocation of the most suitable sites within the Park. 
 

16.23 Adding to the transparency of the plan is the CAPS Uniform database that is currently in 
use by the National Park Authority.  This facility enables the Authority to store 
information, including consultation outputs, in an integrated system so that any inputs to 
the plan can be recorded and tracked accurately. This computer system allows for public 
comment via a ‘Public Access’ module that will be posted on the National Park Authority 
website. 

 
13 In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Development Plan) (Wales) (Amendment) Regulations 
2015 

Page 224



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 25 

 
16.24 It is worth noting at this stage of the process that if, for whatever reason, a petition is 

collated, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority will expect a lead name to be put 
forward. The National Park Authority will then respond to this lead name and not to all 
those registered in support of the petition. 

 
 
Place Plans and Community Action Points 
 
16.26 A Place Plan is the opportunity for a community to come together and talk about what 

needs to happen to make a place the best it can possibly be. The purpose of a place plan 
is to: 

- Gather evidence about an area to understand what issues the community is facing and 
what opportunities exist. 

- Talk to the wider community and stakeholder about how an area will develop, and what 
needs to be done for the future well-being of the community. 

- Agree how the community wants the different aspects of their place to be in the future.  
- Agree a plan to work towards this future, including, where relevant, policies for making 

decisions about planning and an action plan to set out how identified issues are going to 
be tackled. 

- Have the plan agreed by the community, key stakeholders and adopted by the National 
Park Authority, for use as Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 
16.27 The completed action points within the place plans created by communities within the 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority are evidence produced by the communities 
themselves and can offer great benefit to the vision for a particular settlement in the 
National Park. The requirement to undertake a place plan is not compulsory however 
Hay-on-Wye and Crickhowell have completed their town plans which have been adopted 
as Supplementary Planning Guidance in support of the Local Development Plan. Brecon 
and Talgarth are currently within their place plan preparation stages, undertaking local 
resident’s surveys to gather the opinions of those living and working within their 
communities and draft plans out for public consultation.  

 
9.28 Through this community involvement scheme the use of place plans can offer the 

opportunity to ensure that the review of the Local Development Plan takes into account 
the vision of the Place Plans within the National Park.    

 
  

Page 225



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 26 

 
Figure 1: Critical Stages in Community Involvement 
 
The stages illustrated below show the different stages at which community involvement will be 
necessary: 
 

Community Involvement Stage 

 

Date/  

Approx. Time Period 

Actions below undertaken at Definitive Stage of Timetable 
 
  

NPMP Key Issue and Revised Strategy targeted 

consultation 

Utilising key stakeholder analysis use targeted engagement to 

collaborate on key issues identified through NPMP Delphi process and 

subsequent revisions to LDP Preferred Strategy.   

Due to restrictions in movement all communication will be undertaken 

utilising virtual means. 

June- December 2020 

Consultation on Draft Management Plan & Preferred 

Strategy LDP (8 Weeks) 

(Including Easy-read Preferred Strategy Change document NPMP, SA/ 

SEA Report & Initial Consultation Report) 

 

January – February 201 

Consultation on Deposit LDP (8 weeks) 

(Including Easy-read Deposit, SA/ SEA Report & Consultation Report) 

 

July- August 2021 

Actions below undertaken at Indicative Stage of Timetable 
 

Advertisement of Focused Changes (8 Weeks) 

 

November-December 

2021 

Submission of the LDP to WG & Independent 

Examination 

(Including SA/ SEA Report) 

Commencement of 

Independent examination 

November 2021 

Publication of Inspector’s Recommendations November 2022 

Monitoring, review and related Supplementary Planning 

Guidance 

 (on going) 

 

Page 226



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 27 

The most readily available feedback mechanism will be via the BBNPA website (www.beacons-
npa.gov.uk).   
 
 
Community Involvement at Each Stage: Why, When, Who and How? 
 
The following tables summarise the Community Involvement Scheme to be adopted by the 
BBNPA.   
 
Community Involvement Stages 
 
Delivery Agreement [Regulation 9] 
 
Why To ensure that the Plan preparation process, including the Project Management 

Timetable and Community Involvement processes are realistic and appropriate. 
Consultation will help improvements be made to the Delivery Agreement and 
contribute towards an agreement with Welsh Government.   
 

When June – September 2018 
 

Who  Authority members; steering group members, Welsh Government and 
key stakeholders; 

 All other consultee groups; 
 The planning inspectorate; and 
 The general public. 

 
How  General Consultation Bodies and Town and Community Councils will be 

specifically engaged regarding community involvement.  This will be 
undertaken via questionnaires, and consultations. 

 Draft Delivery Agreement will be sent to statutory consultees and 
stakeholders for comments.  A feedback form will be attached.   

 Other consultee groups will be notified of the draft Delivery Agreement 
and how to view and comment on it at libraries National Park offices and 
on the website. 

 The general public will be advised of this by press notices and advertising 
 

 
 
Pre-Deposit Stakeholder Participation [Regulation 14] 
 
Why Pro-active engagement to help build consensus amongst stakeholder and partner 

organisations on broad ranging strategic issues.  This will help the Authority 
establish a collective vision for the Plan and eliminate unacceptable Strategic 
Options.  Also during this time, the NPMP/LDP Steering Group will provide 
support in relation to the scope of the SA/SEA and HRA. 
 
Simultaneous to the above, BBNPA will invite suggestions on site allocations. All 
suggestions will be added to a Site Register. 
 

When January 2019 

Page 227

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/
http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 28 

 
Who  NPA Members; 

 Key Stakeholders, Partners and Interest Groups; 
 

How  Member’s Workshop:  Structured workshop with Committee Members 
to discuss BBNPA ‘Issues Papers’ and strategic options. 

 Stakeholder Meetings: Structured meetings with internal and external 
stakeholders, (possibly led by an external facilitator) - again discussing 
strategic options identified in BBNPA ‘Issues Papers’.  

 NPMP/LDP Steering Group: To discuss scope of the SA/SEA and HRA 
(includes environmental consultation bodies) 

 
 

Consultation on Draft SA/SEA and HRA Scoping Report 
 
Why To ensure that the scope and methodology of the SA/SEA and HRA of the Plan 

is appropriate. 
 

When Between November – December 2019 [for a statutory 5 Weeks] 
 

Who  Authority Members; Steering Group members, and Key Stakeholders; 
 All other consultee groups (inc environmental consultation bodies); 
 The general public. 
 

How  Scope will be decided using NPMP/ LDP Steering Group at Pre-Deposit 
Stakeholder Participation Stage 

 Draft Scoping Report will be sent to statutory consultees and 
stakeholders for comments.  A feedback form will be attached.   

 Other consultee groups will be notified of the draft DA and how to view 
and comment on it at libraries National Park offices and on the website. 

 The general public will be advised of this by press notices and advertising 
 

 
 
Pre-Deposit Public Engagement [Regulation 15 & 16] 
 
Why Opportunity for local communities to provide an input into the Plan.  This 

process will contribute to a public understanding of the preferred options that 
have emerged from the Stakeholder stages.  This process also allows for 
suggestions of alternative options.  A general consensus about preferred options 
is anticipated although a balance of conflicting demands may be necessary.  At 
this stage the site register will feature as a background document. 
 
Also to consult on Initial SA/SEA Report following the development and refining 
of alternatives. 
 

When July – August 2019 (Including Statutory 6 weeks consultation on Preferred 
Strategy) 
 

Who  Local Communities;  

Page 228



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 29 

 Key Stakeholders, Local Resident Groups, Localised Interest Groups and 
other relevant local consultee organisations;   

 Environmental Consultation Bodies and; 
 Community Councils and the General Public. 

 
How Public engagement will be in a simple and inclusive manner with the Site Register 

featuring as a background document. Community Councils to be given 
opportunity to take responsibility for organising the LDP consultation for the 
wider community.  This will allow for flexibility in the engagement approach.  
However the chosen process will be carried to strict, previously approved 
guidelines, with an agreed protocol. 
 
 Engagement of community councils / wider communities  
 BBNPA HQ Exhibition 
 Various Presentations as and when required 
 Key Stakeholders- working groups 
 NPMP/ LDP Steering Groups 
 Also use of: Website; appointments; comments sheets; reception 

exhibition; advertise (newspapers, news, radio, poster, newsletter, 
community magazines); LDP Surgery; questionnaires. 

 
There will also be a statutory 6 week consultation on the ‘Preferred Strategy 
Report’ (inc Site Register) and Initial SA/ Environmental Report.  This will follow 
the above listed public engagement and will be run as follows: 

 
 Sent to stakeholders for comments.  A feedback form will be attached; 
 Also publicly available at National Park Authority headquarters; Public 

Libraries, Tourist Information Centres and website    
 

 
 
NPMP Issues Key Stakeholder Engagement [Regulation 9] 

 
Why The NPA staff will also be asked to identify the key issues facing the National 

Park which will be used to inform and prepare an NPMP Issues Report.  
 
 

When June- December 2020 
Who  Focussed Consultation with identified Key Stakeholders utilising virtual 

communication methods 
 NPA Members and Staff 

 
How NPA and Statement on BBNPA’s website 

 
 

 
LDP Preferred Strategy Revision in light of Covid-19 
Pre-Deposit Public Engagement [Regulation 15 & 16] 
 

 

Page 229



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 30 

Why To gather evidence and provide a revised strategy that takes account of Covid-
19 related impacts 
 
Opportunity for local communities to provide an input into the Plan.  This 
process will contribute to a public understanding of the reviewed options that 
have emerged from the reassessment of the COVID .  This process also allows 
for suggestions of alternative options.  A general consensus about preferred 
options is anticipated although a balance of conflicting demands may be necessary.  
At this stage the site register will feature as a background document. 
 
Also to consult on Initial SA/SEA Report following the development and refining 
of alternatives 
 
 

When January – February 2021 (8 weeks) 
 

Who All stakeholders 
How • NPA Member Policy Working Group 

• NPA Member Policy Forum meeting 
• Electronic dissemination of evidence papers and proposed changes 
• Virtual meetings with key stakeholders to discuss evidence and revisions 
• Bookable Q&A telephone interviews 
• Hard copy mailouts on request 
• Virtual consultation events. 
• Citizen Assemblies on key topics (climate change – sustainable rural 

economies – town centres – farm diversification – levels of growth) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Local Development Plan [Regulation 17], SA Report/ SEA Environmental Report, 
& Initial Consultation Report 

 
Why To provide the opportunity to support or voice concerns over: 

 The Deposit Local Development Plan; 
 The SA Report/ SEA Environmental Report and Appropriate 

Assessment; and  
 The Initial Consultation Report. 

 
When July - August 2021  (8 weeks)  
Who All consultees and general public (including environmental consultees) 

 
How • NPA Member Policy Working Group 

• NPA Member Policy Forum meeting 
• Electronic dissemination of evidence papers and proposed changes 
• Virtual meetings with key stakeholders to discuss evidence and revisions 
• Bookable Q&A telephone interviews 

Page 230



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 31 

• Hard copy mailouts on request 
• Virtual consultation events. 

 
 
 

Stages Below are at indicative stages of Project Management Timetable 
 

 
Focussed Changes Consultation [Regulation 20 and 21] 
 
Why To advertise proposed changes arising from Deposit consultation 

 
When November - December 2021 
Who  Authority Members; Steering Group members, and Key Stakeholders; 

 All other consultee groups; 
 The general public. 

 
How Sent to statutory consultees.  Press releases and adverts will highlight the 

opportunities to consult. Letters will be sent to stakeholders and consultee 
organisations. The relevant documents will be made available at Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority Offices, Information Centres, and public libraries.  The 
most readily available opportunity will be via the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority website. 
 

 
 
Submission of the LDP and Independent Examination [Regulation 22 and 23] 
 
Why To determine whether any improvements can be made to the Plan’s policies 

and proposals. To provide an impartial examination of the LDP. 
 

When November 2021 
Who  Authority Members; Steering Group members, and Key Stakeholders; 

 All other consultee groups including environmental bodies; 
 The general public. 

 
How Notice to be sent to all interested stakeholders of the submission of the Local 

Development Plan and associated documents to Welsh Government. Sent to 
statutory consultation bodies, key stakeholders and National Park Authority 
members. Public press notices will be utilised and copies will be made available 
on request.  Formal notification will also be provided by letter to those who 
made (and not withdrawn) a representation. 
 

 
 
Publication of Inspector’s Recommendations and Adoption 
 
Why To make the Planning Inspector’s recommendations (and reasons) generally 

available for inspection and to inform of adoption. 
 

Page 231



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 32 

When  
Who  Authority Members; Steering Group members, and Key Stakeholders; 

 All other consultee groups; 
 The general public. 

 
How Copies of the document will be made available at NPA offices, tourist information 

centres and at public libraries. Local press and internet facilities will be used and 
notice will be provided to those on request. 
 
Notice to be sent to all interested stakeholders of the submission of the Local 
Development Plan and associated documents to Welsh Government. Sent to 
statutory consultation bodies, key stakeholders and National Park Authority 
members. Public press notices will be utilised and copies will be made available 
on request.  Formal notification will also be provided by letter to those who 
made (and not withdrawn) a representation 

 
 
CIS Stage 9: Monitoring Review and Related SPG [Regulation 37] 
 
Why Monitoring and review of the Local Development Plan provides the opportunity 

to update the Plan as appropriate.  Incorporated into this monitoring is the 
review of Supplementary Planning Guidance notes. 

 
When (Ongoing) 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance produced in parallel with any Local 
Development Plan (or review) will be consulted on at the same time,  but where 
Supplementary Planning Guidance is produced at a later stage, a separate and 
statutory 6 week consultation process will take place. 
 

Who  Authority Members; Steering Group members, and Key Stakeholders; 
 All other consultee groups; 
 The general public. 

 
How An Annual Monitoring Report will be made publicly available on the National Park 

Authority’s website.  Hard copies will be made available on request. 
Following this annual monitoring it is envisaged that the Plan will be reviewed in 
its entirety every 4 years. 
 
As part of the Supplementary Planning Guidance consultation process, each piece 
of Supplementary Planning Guidance will be made publicly available.  Once this 
formal consultation is complete the authority will move to amend the document 
and adopt the Local Development Plan. 

 
  

Page 232



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 33 

 

17 Monitoring and Review 
 
Delivery Agreement 
 
17.1  BBNPA will monitor and review the effectiveness of the approved Delivery Agreement 

at each stage of the Plan’s preparation process.  This will establish whether the authority 
is complying with the agreements made with respect to the proposed Project 
Management Timetable and the Community Involvement Scheme.  This process of 
reviewing the DA will also provide the opportunity to define the dates of the indicative 
stages of the Plan preparation process. This will be within 3 months of the formal 6 
week deposit period and, in accordance with the current Project Management 
Timetable, the indicative dates of the plan preparation process will therefore be defined 
by April 2020 

 
17.2 The DA will also be reviewed at the following stages of plan preparation: 
 

 If the authority fails to meet timescales indicated on Project Management Timetable 
 If changes are required to the Community Involvement Scheme 
 If there are significant changes in the resources available to undertake the plan 

preparation 
 Following the publication of any new regulations/ guidance 
 If there are any major changes of circumstances that materially affect the 

assumptions, evidence, policies or proposals contained in the plan 
 
17.3 Further consultation will be undertaken during the monitoring and review of the DA 

before Authority and WG agreement. 
 
17.4 Finally, for future reference, a review of the BBNPA community involvement 

methodology will be undertaken to examine the successfulness of the adopted approach 
to consultation.   

 
Local Development Plan 
 
17.5 Monitoring of the LDP is considered a continuous process that represents a crucial 

feedback loop within the cyclical process of LDP policy making.  It is for this reason that, 
although not a new requirement, it is becoming an increasingly important aspect of 
policy making.  In addition to this, a test of soundness against which the Inspector will 
assess the LDP will determine whether there are clear mechanisms for implementation 
and monitoring. 

 
17.6 Because of the importance of the monitoring of LDPs, BBNPA will produce an Annual 

Monitoring Report for each plan each year following the date of its adoption.  The 
purpose of this report will be to assess the performance of the policies and proposals of 
the adopted plan and to identify any requirements for review, therefore feeding into the 
review of the DA.  This Annual Monitoring Report will be used to update reference to 
any relevant planning guidance and also to highlight any other important information. 

 

Page 233



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 34 

17.7 Finally, as with previous authority publications the Annual Monitoring Report will be 
made publicly available both at the NPA headquarters and on the authority’s website.  
Key issues that arise out of this will be the subject of public consultation. 

 
17.8 Following the adoption of the LDP, BBNPA will review the Plan in its entirety on a 4 

year cycle.  This revision will incorporate a review of the SA/SEA baseline information 
and trends.  In addition to this a new SA/SEA and AA will be produced for any new Plan. 

Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations 
 
 Annual Monitoring Report (AMR): This will assess the extent to which policies in 

the LDP are being successfully implemented 

 Appropriate Assessment (AA):  Assessment of any land use Plan’s impact on the 

conservation objectives of a European Site as required by the Habitats Directive 

92/43/EEC 

 Baseline: A description of the present state of an area 

 Candidate Site: Site put forward to the Authority for inclusion in the LDP. 

 Citizens Assembly: A dialogue method whereby a randomly selected, 

representational number of residents agree hear evidence from experts on particular 

topics and vote on recommendations for policy development. 

 Community Involvement [Scheme] (CIS): Sets out the project plan and policies 

of the LPA, for  involving communities and other stakeholders in the preparation of the 

LDP 

 Consensus Building: A process of early dialogue with targeted interest groups to 

understand relevant viewpoints. 

 Consultation Statement: A BBNPA document that identifies everybody who has 

been consulted through plan preparation and the methodology adopted.  This includes 

justifications of any deviations from the CIS. Published at the same time as the Deposit 

LDP 

 Definitive Stages: The stages in plan preparation up to and including the Statutory 

Deposit 

 Delivery Agreement (DA): This document comprising the LPA’s timetable and 

community involvement scheme (CIS) for the preparation of the LDP. Approved by 

WG. 

 Deposit LDP: Formal 6 week period in which individuals and organizations can make 

representations on the LDP.  The Authority extends all consultation periods to 8 

weeks. 

Page 234



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 35 

 Environmental Consultation Bodies: Bodies with environmental responsibilities 

concerned by the effects of implementing plans and programmes and which must be 

consulted under the SEA Regulations; ie Countryside Council for Wales, Environment 

Agency and CADW. 

 Environmental Report: A document required by the SEA Directive, which identifies, 

describes and appraises the likely significant effects on the environment of implementing 

a plan 

 Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) Process of screening, scoping and 

appropriate assessment of any land use Plan’s impact on the conservation objectives of a 

European Site as required by the Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC 

 Independent Examination: Independent inquiry to provide an impartial examination 

of the LDP 

 Indicative Stages: The stages beyond the Statutory Deposit Period 

 Key Stakeholder Group: To act as a sounding board throughout the preparation 

process.  This group will consist of the key stakeholders involved at the pre-deposit 

participation stage. Ie EAW, CCW, CADW, Unitary Authorities, Community Councils.  

However further relevant bodies may be invited when and where appropriate. 

 Local Development Plan (LDP): Land use plan which will form the statutory 

development plan for a local authority area for the purposes of the Act.  Subject to 

independent examination. 

 Local Development Plans Wales (LDPW): WG Planning Policy Guidance 

document 

 Local Development Plan Manual: WG Planning Policy Guidance document 

 National Park Management Plan (NPMP): The single most important policy 

document for the National Park.  It is a plan for the geographic area of the Park and not 

for any one authority and, as a strategic over-arching document, it co-ordinates and 

integrates other plans, strategies and actions in the National Park, including the Local 

Development Plan. 

 Pre-Deposit Consultation: Informal process in which comments are invited on a 

particular topic or draft document 

 Pre-Deposit Participation: A process, whereby stakeholders and the community can 

interface with plan makers 

 Preferred Strategy: BBNPA report outlining the preferred strategy of the NPA 

following Pre-Deposit participation 

Page 235



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 36 

 Project Management Timetable:  A realistic timetable detailing the various stages 

of the preparation and delivery of the Local Development Plan (LDP) and how the 

process of the Plan preparation will be project managed.  This timetable should also 

state the resources that will be required at each stage. 

 Scoping: The process of deciding the scope and level of detail of an SA, including the 

sustainability effects and options which need to be considered, the assessment methods 

to be used, and the structure and contents of the SA Report 

 Site Register: A register of candidate sites put forward to the Authority including 

identification of those that accord with the BBNPA strategy and those that do not. 

 Site Specific Allocations: Allocations of sites for specific or mixed uses or 

development contained in a local development plan.  Policies will identify any specific 

requirements for individual proposals 

 Soundness: Concept against which a LDP is examined under section 64(5)(b) of the 

2004 Act 

 Stakeholder Group: Meeting made up of those with an interest directly affected by 

the LDP 

 Steering Group: Meeting attended by senior NPA members of staff, selected NPA 

Members and guests from agencies such as CCW and EAW.  Acts as guidance for the 

Strategy and Policy team. 

 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA): Generic term used to describe 

environmental assessment applied to policies, plans and programmes as required by SEA 

Directive 2001/42/EC 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): Provides supplementary information in 

respect of the policies in a local development plan. They must be consistent with LDP 

policies and national planning policy 

 Sustainability Appraisal (SA): Tool for appraising policies to ensure they reflect 

sustainable development objectives 

 Sustainability Appraisal Report (SA Report): Describes and appraises the likely 

effects on sustainability of implementing the Plan. S 62 (6) of the Act states that a LPA 

must prepare a report of the findings of the SA of the LDP. 

  

Page 236



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 37 

Appendices 
 

Appendix 1: Risk Management: Risks; Potential Impact and; Mitigation 

Appendix 2: What is Expected of the Consultation Bodies? 

Appendix 3: Consultation Techniques  

Appendix 4: Project Management Timetable. 

Appendix 5: Review of LDP2 evidence base against impacts of COVID 19 

Page 237



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 38 

Appendix 1 LDP Risk Management & Mitigation 
 
Risk Potential Impact Mitigation 

The publication of revised 

planning legislation/ guidance 

 

Additional work / time 

required. Timetable slippage. 

Constant monitoring of 

legislation/ guidance in 

attempt at early response. 

A reduction in staff resources 

and budget available for the 

project 

Timetable slippage Flexibility built into LDP 

resources. 

An over ambitious timetable 

due to greater than 

anticipated workload (UDP 

adoption/ SA/SEA 

requirements) 

Timetable slippage Flexibility built into Project 

Management Timetable 

Unavailability of meetings 

and/ or agenda time of 

authority Member’s meetings 

to consider and approve 

necessary documents 

Timetable slippage and lack 

of ownership of Plan 

Consideration of committee 

cycles in the production of 

the Project Management 

Timetable.  Timetable 

flexibility. 

Inability of printers/ 

translators to deliver 

documents in accordance 

with any approved timetable 

Timetable slippage Build flexibility into 

Timetable.  Consider 

additional resources 

A large volume or 

significance of responses to 

consultations 

Timetable slippage Encourage/ consider 

consultation responses as 

early as possible in the 

process 

The ability of statutory 

consultees/ inspectorate to 

respond within a set 

timetable given resource 

constraints 

Timetable slippage Close liaison, including 

Service Level Agreement, 

with inspectorate to ensure 

early warning of potential 

problems. Early contact with 

statutory consultees to 

Page 238



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 39 

Risk Potential Impact Mitigation 

explain what is expected of 

them. 

Failure of test of soundness Additional work / time 

required. Timetable slippage. 

On-going liaison with WG 

and environmental 

consultation bodies.  Ensure 

the LDP has a robust 

evidence base with SA/SEA 

and its preparation is based 

on sound and well audited 

community involvement 

Legal challenge Additional work / time 

required. Timetable slippage. 

Problems with adoption of 

LDP 

Good understanding of the 

requirements of legislation/ 

guidance. 

Political Change/ elections Timetable slippage Flexibility built into Project 

Management Timetable 

 

Lack of Engagement or 

limited success of 

engagement 

Timetable slippage and a lack 

of ownership of the Plan 

Ensure appropriate CIS is 

drawn up at DA stage. 

Presence of an Habitats 

Directive site affecting the 

‘preferred strategy’ 

Additional work / time 

required. Timetable slippage. 

No suitable mitigation 

Global Pandemic causing 

restrictions to public spaces 

which will impact the CIS and 

evidential soundness of LDP 

Additional work/time 

required. Timetable slippage.  

Revising Delivery Agreement  

Digital systems failure causing 

restriction to public access of 

digital systems 

Loss of work as a result of 

corrupted servers 

Impact on digital 

communication channels 

Cloud based storage for all 

critical documents 

Separate webhosting 

platform as backup should   

Page 239



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 40 

Risk Potential Impact Mitigation 

Additional work/time 

required. Timetable slippage 

Ecological status of river 

bodies within the National 

Park falls below acceptable 

level. 

Risk of moratorium on new 

development as per 

Hereford experience.  

Significant costs associated 

with remediation works to 

address improvements in 

ecological status and enable 

new development. 

Close working with all 

statutory bodies to ensure 

clear monitoring of all 

impacts onto rivers systems. 

HRA of all policy with a likely 

effect on water quality of 

river system. 

Include the potential for 

future risks as a guiding 

principle in the allocation of 

future development sites. 

 
 
  

Page 240



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 41 

Appendix 2: What is Expected of the Consultation Bodies? 
 
In order for BBNPA to produce the LDP in accordance with the approved Project Management 
Timetable the NPA has the following expectations of its consultation bodies and stakeholders:  
 

 Adhering to deadlines: BBNPA will expect responses to the consultation documents within the 
statutory 8 week consultation periods. 

 Commitment:  All parties should be committed to the process by attending, contributing and 
generally assisting in the search for consensus 

 Meeting Cycles: Wherever possible, the cycles of meetings should be varied to enable reasonable 
response times 

 Pragmatism – All parties should understand and remain pragmatic about what can be achieved within 
the context of relevant legislation and Assembly guidance.  

 Relevance - Only legitimate spatial issues should be raised and valid / relevant comments made.  
 Highlight: Highlight any data gaps in the NPA’s information 
 Early Identification: Early identification of sites to be considered for possible development including 

allocations within the Plan 
 Transparency: To include all relevant information to be considered by the Inspector in a form that is 

accessible to all in order to increase the transparency of the process 
 Binding: To understand that the Inspector’s report is binding on the Authority and that there is no 

recourse for appeal in respect of the recommendations of the Inspector 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 241



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 42 

Appendix 3: Consultation Techniques 
 
Consultation Technique Explanation 

Feedback Forms Pre-prepared form to be attached to 

consultation documents.  Designed as a 

questionnaire to supplement the consultation 

documents, the feedback forms will ensure 

structured consultation comments to minimise 

inappropriate comments. 

Local Media/ Press Statutory requirement for advertising certain 

stages of the LDP consultation. 

Newsletters Existing newsletters will be utilised to 

advertise the status of the LDP and its 

consultation documents. 

Website Most readily available resource for 

consultation purposes.  All documents 

produced at the critical stages of the process 

will be made available via this medium.  It is 

also envisaged that comments may be 

deposited in the future 

Public Availability of Documents Statutory consultation.  All documents will be 

made available at the NPA office, libraries and 

tourist information centres. 

Steering Group Meeting attended by senior NPA members of 

staff, selected NPA Members and guests from 

agencies such as NRW and Cadw  Acts as 

guidance for the Strategy and Policy team. 

BBNPA Committee BBNPA’s committee structure will be fully 

utilised for consideration of documents.  

These meetings are open to the general public 

Members Workshop Means of engaging NPA members.  Focussed 

discussions led by a facilitator. 

Page 242



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 43 

Stakeholder Group Meeting Meeting made up of those with an interest 

directly affected by the LDP.  Structured and 

maybe led by an external facilitator. 

Public Meetings Utilised to present information and allow 

discussion on issues at various stages.  

Provides the opportunity for people to 

comment on issues affecting them.  Good 

publicity required and also needs to be 

carefully chaired. 

Open-Days/ 

Exhibition 

Used to present information and proposals.  

Held in accessible locations and times to allow 

for full opportunities for all sections of 

communities.  Use of comment sheet boxes. 

Key Stakeholder Working Groups Selected key stakeholders to form a working 

group to advise on issues.  Experts in different 

fields working together to produce a 

transparent Plan based on community 

involvement. Ie NRW, Cadw, Unitary 

Authorities, Community Councils.  However 

further relevant bodies may be invited when 

and where appropriate. 

Telephone Q&A Bookable appointments where members of the 

public or stakeholders have the opportunity to 

ask questions of officers of the Authority. 

Citizen Assembly Invitations will be sent to representative 

sample of community members to attend a 

meeting where experts provide evidence on a 

topic.  Recommendations are then formed and 

provided by the group 

Virtual meeting Meeting using a computer with access to the 

internet to undertake ‘video conferencing’.  

The Authority uses a range of systems, 

Page 243



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 44 

including public 1, Microsoft Teams and 

Lifesize 

 
 

Page 244



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 45 

Appendix 4: Project Management Timetable  
 2020 2021 2022 2023 

BBNPA Action F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D J F M A M J J A S O N D 
LDP         

Delivery Agreement Revision                                                                                               
Delivery Agreement Confirmation WG                                                                                               

REVISED PREFERRED STRATEGY                                                                                               
Ongoing baseline evidence gathering                                                                                               
Publication of Revised topic papers                                                                                               

Draft written report of Preferred Strategy                                                                                               
Candidate Site Assessment                                                                                               

Consultation on Preferred Strategy                                                                                              
DEPOSIT                                                                                               

Virtual Citizen Assemblies                                                                                               
Consider Reps Preferred Strategy                                                                                               

Settlement Assessment                                                                                               
Finalize Topic Papers                                                                                               
Draft Deposit Plan                                                                                               

Consultation Deposit Plan                                                                                               
SUBMISSION                                                                                               

Drafting Focused Changes                                                                                               
Update all Submission documents                                                                                               

Submission                                                                                               
Consultation on Focused Changes                                                                                               

EXAMINATION                                                                                               
Pre-Hearing Meeting                                                                                               

Hearing Sessions                                                                                               
MAC Consultations                                                                                               

Reporting                                                                                               
Inspectors Report                                                                                               
Adoption Report                                                                                               
ADOPTION                                                                                               

Monitoring                                                                                               

 

P
age 245



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 46 

 

Appendix 5: Review of LDP2 evidence base against impacts of COVID 19  
 
In March of this year Officers began to gather emerging evidence, analysis and theory in relation to the potential 
impacts of coronavirus on future Policy Making.  This work culminated in the presentation of a series of reports to 
Members Policy Forum with recommendations in relation to post-covid policy development.  Crucially this review 
work highlighted the significance of the National Park as a National resource for health and well-being and the future 
implications on housing and employment policy.  The papers are available to read in full here: 
 
Research paper No1 – COVID 19 and Economic Impacts 
Research paper No2 – COVID 19 and Environmental Impacts 
Research paper No1 – COVID 19 and Social Impacts 
 
The following tables provides a summary of the findings of these paper by policy sector where such sectors 
are considered to be impacted by COVID-19.  It also includes any other contextual changes which have 
shifted the policy frame since the publication of Preferred Strategy 2019 (PS19). 
 
Policy topic area Scale and Location of Growth  
Contextual changes 
since PS19 

The supply of Brownfield land to service the strategy has reduced significantly 
with the reassessment of Powys CC future direction programme. 
 
2018 population figures showing less decline from Powys area of the Park 
 

COVID-19 Impacts .PS19 had aimed to increase housing provision above demographic need in 
order to attract working age population to support jobs numbers within the 
National Park. Changes in working practice brought about by lockdown have 
‘untethered’ houses from jobs for those in higher paid jobs - with many of the 
salariat able to access their work from their homes. The shifting pattern of 
working appears to be a trend that analysists are predicting will endure14.  
Coupled with emerging data from 2018 population projections, the area is 
not predicted to experience such significant depopulation from principle 
centres of occupation.  The policy led strategy to increase in-migration to 
support jobs is challenged by the emerging trends to the extent to which 
further review is necessary 
 

Significance  PS19 concentrated new growth within principle settlements.  This is 
considered to still be appropriate for a post-covid recovery.  These 
settlements have the best connection to digital infrastructure and services 
within walking distance and are still considered sound locations for future 
growth.  
The scale of future growth will need to be fully reassessed and reconsulted 
upon in order to ensure LDP2 is based on the most up-to-date information 
to form sound policy. 

 
Policy topic area Housing 
Contextual changes 
since PS19 

2018 population figures published for unitary authorities (publication date 
TBC for National Park areas) 
 
Emerging figures for LHMA/RHMA 

 
14 ONS Data suggests that 36% of workforce are working remotely as of September 10th 2020 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/bulletins/coronavirusandtheeconomicimpactsontheuk
/10september2020  

Page 246

https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/Documents/Policy%20Working%20Groups%20and%20Forums/COVID%20Papers%20for%20Policy%20Forum/Covid%20Paper%20PDFs/COVID-19%20Research%20No1%20Economic%20Impacts.pdf
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/ERYDE1K1fTVPupn12gjXu7EBCTTaZUmPwrn72ZEbLZVtvQ?e=I4ZAMw
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/helenf_breconbeacons_org/EXE3-TbY4fpCmSach1VFnzIBBZ_cS46jokVCT7ODNmAzCg?e=dTr0X1
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/bulletins/coronavirusandtheeconomicimpactsontheuk/10september2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/bulletins/coronavirusandtheeconomicimpactsontheuk/10september2020


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 47 

 
COVID-19 Impacts Traditionally the housing market in the National Park is heavily influenced by 

the in-migration of retirees who, from work place attachments, are willing 
and able to pay a premium to move to a high quality environment such as the 
National Park.  This freedom from work place affiliations (as set out above) 
now applies to a much greater proportion of general working age population.  
Questions arise around the extent to which the shifting working practice will 
then facilitate their entrance into the housing market of the National Park.  
The trauma of lockdown has generated an increased appreciation for the 
benefits of the natural environment.  Access to the open countryside for 
recreational activity is seen by individuals as a benefit to health and wellbeing.  
If this interest is sustained and if it is coupled with an ability to undertake the 
majority of work from home the National Park may experience.   
 
At the same time emerging data within the LHMA is highlighting the significant 
need for smaller adapted properties to meet the needs of our aging 
demographic.  Should LDP2 enable development restricted to meeting these 
needs this could trigger a subsequent release of larger properties onto the 
housing market.  This in turn could to meet the market need for in-migration 
of working age cohorts who are able to undertake the majority of their work 
from home.  The numbers associated with this level of in-migration requires 
further analysis. 

Significance  Emerging evidence would suggest that there is limited need for new market 
housing within the National Park, whereas there is significant need for smaller 
housing built to lifetime homes standards.  Changes in working behaviour 
engendered during lockdown, have the potential to increase market demand 
in more rural locations.   These issues were not addressed in PS19, and they 
are significant for future housing supply in a post-covid world. Housing need 
will need to be fully reassessed and reconsulted upon in order to ensure 
LDP2 is based on the most up-to-date information to form sound policy. 

 
Policy topic area Employment 
Contextual changes 
since PS19 

Growing Mid Wales Employment Sites and Premises Study findings in relation 
to potential need for additional employment land in Brecon. 
 

COVID-19 Impacts Long-run predictions for the UK economy predict a contraction of up to 1.5%.  The 
effects of lockdown resulted in short-run contraction of UK GDP by as much as 
20%. At time of writing some recovery is seen however economic outputs are 
predicted to be depressed for the beginning of the LDP2 period   Latest statistical 
release (September 2020) from the ONS demonstrates the difficulties businesses in 
Wales with around 50% reporting a decrease in turnover since this time last year.  
This is likely to be exacerbated in the National Park due to the make up of our 
economy, which is dominated by retail, tourism and the public sector.  In relation to 
our traditional B class economy, this was already static if not declining prior to 
COVID-19 however not to a degree that land release was considered necessary.  
The restrictions imposed by lockdown have had significant impact. With the 
manufacturing sector demonstrating around a 50% decrease in turn over year on 
year.15  Although it is considered too early to fully determine the impacts of COVID 
on B class employment land, there are two lines of thought which LDP2 should 
address – enabling development for B class land aimed at a ‘green’ recovery which is 
seen as transitioning those who have lost their jobs in traditional industry (see 

 
15 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/bulletins/coronavirusandtheeconomicimpactsontheuk
/10september2020  

Page 247

https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/bulletins/coronavirusandtheeconomicimpactsontheuk/10september2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/businessindustryandtrade/business/businessservices/bulletins/coronavirusandtheeconomicimpactsontheuk/10september2020


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 48 

Economic Impacts research report for more info and the analysis of Hepburn et al 
2020) and having more flexible policies around the development of employment 
generating development within B class employment sites where there is no demand 
for traditional B class development. 

Significance  No significant shift in policy development, refocus to employment strategy 
and additional exception policy to be developed. 

 
Policy topic area Retail 
Contextual changes 
since PS19 

Failure to establish Business Improvement District within Brecon 

COVID-19 Impacts Lockdown has had one of the biggest impacts on bricks and mortar retail, 
overnight preventing businesses from trading as per standard practice. 
ONS release for September identifies that of the retail businesses surveyed 
5.7% stated that they would be stopping trading within the next three 
months.  This is the highest percentage of asserted closure against the major 
sectors of the economy.  This may be linked to the continued reluctance of 
consumers to go back to the Highstreet.  The same release highlights that 
footfall on British Highstreets was operating at 75% of levels seen during the 
same period in 201916.  Analysis of the data shows this as a ‘flattening off’ of 
the steady growth in numbers that had been seen since shops were allowed 
to re-open.  All our town centres were operating at a rate of vacancy above 
target thresholds. We had witnessed a steady growth in vacancy rates since 
the adoption of the LDP in 2012.  Current need to reassess the impact of 
coronavirus on our retail centres and address policy for regeneration. Retail 
need evidence emerging suggests that there is little or no need for new retail 
space, again this will have to be revisited as part of developing the LDP 
further. 

Significance  Potential for shift in policy development, refocus retail strategy to ensure our 
town centres remain vibrant locations serving the needs of our communities 
and our visitors.  

 
Policy topic area Tourism 
Contextual changes 
since PS19 

- 

COVID-19 Impacts The significance of the tourism economy to the National Park cannot be 
overemphasised.  Again, the latest ONS stats give some indication of the 
impact of lockdown on this sector - the accommodation and food service 
activities industry reported the highest percentage of businesses reporting 
their risk of insolvency was severe to moderate, at 23%, compared with 11% 
across all industries.  Although the lifting of lockdown restrictions brought a 
flood of tourists back into the National Park, it is clear that the impacts of the 
virus and lockdown has had a significant impact.  The fourth wave Wales 
Tourism Barometer reported that 40% of businesses surveyed were reporting 
income reduction year on year with 2019.  The researchers posit that this 
may be due to limited capacity to operate at full capacity and not a true 
reflection on actual demand for some attractions/accommodation.  The 
National Park has a significant self-catering offer, across wales Self catering is 
one of the tourism sectors most able to reopen following lockdown, with 
80% reporting that they were operating at 100% of pre-covid capacity.   
International tourism has fallen significantly 

 
16 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/coronavirustheukec
onomyandsocietyfasterindicators/10september2020 

Page 248



BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 49 

 
This could create circumstances where we see a small rise in applications to 
remove holiday let ties from permitted schemes.  Further analysis will be 
needed in relation to the appropriateness of a permissive policy for such 
applications.     
 

Significance  Potential for shift in policy development requiring further research. 
 
Policy topic area Agriculture and Farm Diversification 
Contextual changes 
since PS19 

Conclusion of Sustainable Farming Consultation 
 
Growing likelihood of no-deal Brexit.  
 

COVID-19 Impacts The president of the NFU gave evidence to the Environment Food and Rural 
Affairs Committee on the 5th May 2020 highlighting the significant impact 
coronavirus had had on agriculture.  No sector was unaffected but highlighted 
the significant impacts to dairy, ornamentals, beef, potatoes, malt and barley 
above others, of these beef and dairy are the most relevant.  Market 
predictions show a potential 4% fall in UK beef and veal production, due to a 
drop in demand from the hospitality sector,17  The diary sector was also 
severely impacted by a lack of demand from hospitality.  Research undertaken 
by the Agriculture and Horticulture Development Board (AHDB) suggest that 
during lockdown almost a quarter of GB dairy producers were faced with 
reducing their milk output and although analysts are confident of future 1% 
growth in the global market, they do highlight the impact Brexit could have.  
In addition to these hardest hit agricultural sectors, lamb farming makes up 
the majority of agricultural practice in the National Park which is predicted to 
see a 7% decline in production in the coming year.  Messages coming from 
farming unions centres around the need to support diversification to ensure 
the long term future of farming.  In addition to the shocks to agriculture 
brought about in shifting demand within lockdown, there is also the growing 
call for post-covid recovery to be centred on green growth.  Farmers have a 
significant role to play in this and this should form part of any future more 
permissive farm diversification policy. 

Significance  Review rural enterprise policy, and farm diversification policy. Devise 
supportive enabling policy in consultation with farming community and NRW.   

 
Policy topic area Environmental Policy  
Contextual changes 
since PS19 

Publication of Global Biodiversity Outlook 10 
Publication of RSPB’s A lost Decade for Nature 

COVID-19 Impacts The direct environmental benefits of COVID-19 formed through the 
unintentional outcomes of lockdown.  The reduction of car journeys and 
manufacturing outputs led to a sharp fall in air pollutants.  Although such 
decreases in air pollution associated with war, or recession always almost 
rebound to pre ‘crisis’ levels the ‘quiet’ of lockdown did engender an 
unprecedented interest in the healing power of nature and a significant 
interest in accessing areas of countryside for recreational purposes.  This 
level of interest saw unprecedented levels of visitors both on the weekend 
prior to lockdown and when lockdown restrictions eased.  The significance of 
the National Park to individuals strikes a chord with our original purposes for 

 
17 https://ahdb.org.uk/beef-market-outlook  

Page 249

https://ahdb.org.uk/beef-market-outlook


BBNPA Delivery Agreement June 2018 (Revised October 2020) 

 50 

designation, that being healing a nation after the trauma of the second world 
war.   
Moreover the covid crisis highlighted the significance of habitat degradation to 
human health.  A growing body of evidence (including that emerging from the 
UN18 ) highlight the increased risk of zoonotic disease such as coronavirus as 
a result of human exploitation of natural environments, such as ) increasing 
human demand for animal protein; 2) unsustainable agricultural intensification; 
3) increased use and exploitation of wildlife; 4) unsustainable utilization of 
natural resources accelerated by urbanization, land use change and extractive 
industries; 5) increased travel and transportation; 6) changes in food supply; 
and 7) climate change19.   
The RSPB in their report  A lost decade for nature highlights the role that 
protected landscapes are supposed to play in supporting nature recovery20 
(and all that is embedded within the concept) yet have been prevented from 
so doing due to reductions in resources which have left bodies such as the 
National Park either unwilling or unable to use their extensive powers to tackle 
these drivers of decline.   

Significance  The need for LDP2 to create and protect connected diverse habitat systems 
for human wellbeing and nature recovery is even more of an imperative than 
outlined in PS19.  The need for a strategy which centralises these issues for 
the benefit of all is a renewed priority for the Authority.  This is seen as the 
critical part the NPA can play in ‘building back better’ and facilitating national 
healing from the coronacrisis. 

 

 
18 https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/report/preventing-future-zoonotic-disease-outbreaks-protecting-environment-
animals-and  
19 https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/32860/ZPKMEN.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y  
20 In accordance with the Aichi Biodiversity Targets agreed under the Convention on Biological Diversity  

Page 250

https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/report/preventing-future-zoonotic-disease-outbreaks-protecting-environment-animals-and
https://www.unenvironment.org/resources/report/preventing-future-zoonotic-disease-outbreaks-protecting-environment-animals-and
https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/32860/ZPKMEN.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y


 
  

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
BETWEEN HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
AND POWYS COUNCIL ON AGGREGATE 
MINERALS AND WASTE PLANNING 
MATTERS 

March 2020 

Page 251

7



Memorandum of Understanding between Powys Council and Herefordshire 
Council regarding matters of aggregate minerals and waste planning  
 
 
1.0 Introduction  

Powys County Council is both the mineral planning authority and the waste planning 
authority for the County of Powys outside the area of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park. 

 
1.1 The Powys Local Development Plan 2011-2026 (LDP) was adopted on 17 April 2018. 
 
1.2 Herefordshire Council is both the mineral planning authority and waste planning 

authority for the County of Herefordshire. 
 
1.3 The Herefordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (MWLP) is being prepared. The 

Draft document was consulted upon in Spring 2019. The emerging MWLP is at draft 
publication stage with a timetable for adoption by 2022.  

 
1.4 This Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) has been prepared between the 

authorities regarding matters of aggregate minerals and waste.   It is intended to enable 
effective communication between the authorities and to record areas of understanding 
and agreement. Ultimately the aim is to ensure that planning for minerals and waste 
across the two authorities is undertaken with an efficient, effective and evidence-based 
approach.  

 
2.0 Minerals  

Powys 
2.1 Aggregate minerals are safeguarded under LDP Policy DM8 in accordance with the 

Aggregates Safeguarding Maps of Wales (published in 2012 by the British Geological 
Survey under contract to Welsh Government) and LDP Policy DM9 protects existing 
mineral workings from incompatible development. 

 
2.2 LDP Policy M1 permits extensions to existing Minerals sites where they would: 

i) in the case of crushed rock aggregate minerals help to maintain a steady and 

adequate supply; or 

ii) in the case of non-energy minerals address a shortage of high specification 

material that is of limited availability nationally; or 

iii) for all minerals - bring clear environmental, economic or social benefits. 

2.3 There are at present 13 sites within Powys with active permissions for the extraction 
of hard rock mineral resources (five igneous: two of which are dormant; seven 
sandstone; and one limestone), supplying 2.94 million tonnes of crushed rock 
aggregates to the South Wales supply each year. Three sandstone extraction sites 
have permissions which come to an end within the LDP period, the remaining 10 sites 
having permissions which extend to 2042 and beyond. 

 
2.4 As a result, the South Wales Regional Aggregates Working Party (SWRAWP) Annual 

Report for 2018 indicates that Powys has a landbank of crushed rock reserves in 
excess of 50 years. Although safeguarded, there is no requirement for Powys to 
contribute to the supply of sand and gravel. 

 
2.5 New permissions will only be granted under LDP Policy M2 where the development 

proposal would: 
i) provide a supply of distinct building stone or dimension stone to fulfil a 

recognised local need/requirement; or  

Page 252



ii) for coal where it would remove a mining legacy or  prepare land for future
development of employment and economic benefit; or

iii) allow a limited duration borrow pit to fulfil a specific need for a particular
construction project.

2.6 Given the SWRAWP Regional Technical Statement requirements for crushed rock 
aggregates and the existing Powys landbank, it has not been considered necessary 
for the LDP to allocate new sites for mineral extraction within Powys.  

2.7 It is anticipated that the current movements of crushed rock aggregate resources from 
Powys will be maintained throughout the current plan period and beyond. 

Herefordshire  
2.8 Aggregate minerals are to be safeguarded through the emerging Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan (MWLP), and resources protected from incompatible development in the 
draft MWLP under policies M1 and M2.  

2.9 Policies M3 and M4 allow for new sand and gravel and crushed rock mineral workings 
respectively.  There is currently: three consented sand and gravel workings, although 
only two are active; and two consented and active crushed rock quarries.  The 
emerging MWLP promotes new development in order to replenish the aggregate 
landbank within Herefordshire.  

2.10 It is anticipated that current movements of sand and gravel and crushed rock from 
Herefordshire will be maintained, however policy seeks to increase the supply 
available within Herefordshire to improve levels of self-sufficiency.   

3.0 Waste 
Powys 

3.1 LDP Policy W1 directs new waste development to preferred locations within Powys, 
primarily employment sites identified in LDP policies E1 and E4.   LDP Policy W2 sets 
out the criteria against which new proposals for waste management development will 
be considered.  

Herefordshire 
3.2 The draft MWLP proposes a number of policies regarding waste management in 

Herefordshire, policy: W2 identifies the solid waste management requirements; W3 
specifically addresses the management of agricultural waste; W5 and W6 present the 
preferred locations for waste management facilities; and W7 presents the operational 
expectations of new waste development, for example seeking to recover both heat and 
energy.   

4.0 Conclusions and Understanding 
4.1 It is recognised and understood that both minerals and wastes cross the boundary 

between the two authorities, however the most strategic movement is crushed rock 
from Powys coming into Herefordshire.  This movement is driven both by the quality of 
the rock in Wales but also that crushed rock is transported from Dolyhir/Strinds and 
Gore Quarries (Powys) to London and the south east by rail, from sidings located at 
the southern end of Wellington Quarry (Herefordshire). The Herefordshire MWLP is 
worded to ensure that the county’s railheads are appropriately safeguarded and that 
the future extraction planned at Dolyhir/Strinds will not be impeded by any loss of 
railheads in use in Herefordshire. 

Page 253



4.2 Powys and Herefordshire are content that each authority has an appropriate

evidence base and policy framework.

4.3 Officers from both authorities agree to continue communication, sharing of data

as necessary and to review their respective policies and plans as appropriate.

5.0 Signatories

5.1  Name……Mr Marc Willimont,  Acting Assistant Director for Regulatory,

Environment and Waste Herefordshire Council

Date  1 April 2020

5.2 Name

…………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………….Powys Council

Date

Page 254


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the last meeting
	4 Newtown and Llanllwchaiarn Place Plan - Draft Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG)
	Newtown Place Plan - Draft 3.2 web
	Foreword
	Thanks
	Introduction

	Your Place Plan
	Place Plan Boundaries
	Links to other plans
	How did we get here?
	Community Involvement

	Delivering Well-being
	Newtown’s well-being objectives

	Vision
	Place Plan Themes & Objectives
	How do the topics link?
	How do Place Plan policies link to the LDP policies?
	The role of the Town Council
	Inclusive access principles

	Newtown:
	A great place to live, 
	learn & work
	1.1  Character & Heritage
	1.2  Housing & Future Development
	1.3  Community Facilities
	1.4  Business, Learning & Employment
	1.5  Health & Wellbeing
	1.6  A safe & tidy town

	Green Newtown
	2.1  Open Spaces
	2.2 Active Travel & Transport
	2.3  Climate Change & Biodiversity

	Destination
	Newtown
	3.1  Town Centre Experience
	3.2  Tourism, Culture & Attractions

	List of Appendices (links)
	References
	The next Local Development Plan

	Newtown Place Plan Appendices 26.11.20
	LIST OF APPENDICIES.pdf
	1. Map - Town Council Wards, MSOA & LSOAs
	2. Conservation area Listed buildings Penygloddfa
	3. Conservation Area Listed buildings Town Centre
	4. Buildings of Significance To The Community
	5. Map - Character Areas
	6. Map - Character Areas - Development Types
	7. Character Surveys Overview
	8. Vacant Buildings And Buildings At Risk
	9. Map - Housing Sites Community Suggestions
	10. Housing Sites To Take Forward
	11. Community Faciltiies
	12. Map - Open Spaces & Play Areas Audit
	13. Open Spaces of Importance To The Community
	14. Map - Suggested Sites for Next Open Space Assessment
	15. Footpaths & Cycle Paths Evidence Gathered To Date
	16. List of Supporting Evidence


	5 The Town and Country Planning (Strategic Development Plan) (Wales) Regulations 2021
	LDPWG 10_Dec_20 SDP consultation response paper strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021-response-form_PCC-draft response
	consultation-document-town-and-country-planning-strategic-development-plan-wales-regulations-2021

	6 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Consultation on their LDP2 Revised Delivery Agreement and Revised Preferred Strategy
	LDPWG 10_Dec_20 Draft Powys County Council Consultation Response
	Prefered-Strategy-Revisited-for-uploading
	478c1e84-246a-4893-9dc4-8cabd69ee153
	REFERENCES

	Revised-Delivery-Agreement-for-consultation
	Forward to the second edition of the Delivery Agreement
	The Delivery Agreement (DA) between the Brecon Beacons National Park (BBNPA) and the Welsh Government was first prepared in June 2018.  The timetable was agreed with Welsh Government in September 2018.  Since that time work has progressed on the devel...
	The restrictions in movement brought about by COVID-19 pandemic have had a significant global impact, and unfortunately, the timetable of LDP2 has not been immune to such challenges.  As this is written we find ourselves in unprecedented times, where ...
	Of course, the coronavirus has not just impacted the timeline of LDP2 production.  The virus has in many ways transformed the socio-economic conditions into which future policy will play out.  It would be remiss of the Authority to roll forward a pre-...
	1.0 Introduction
	2. The need for review
	3.0 The Delivery Agreement
	4.0 Review of Other Plans, Programmes and Policies
	5.0 Sustainability Appraisal (SA), Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of Local Development Plans (LDPs)
	6.0 Principles of Project Management Timetabling
	7.0 Principles of Community Involvement for the Local Development Plan
	8.0 Test of Soundness6F
	9.0 Local Development Plan Supplementary Planning Guidance7F
	10 Project Management Timetable
	1 Staff Resources
	12 Role of NPA Members & the Delegated Powers of Strategy and Policy Officers10F
	13.0 Financial Resources
	14 Local Development Plan and SA/SEA Integrated Project Management Timetable
	15.0 LDP Risk Management & Mitigation
	16 Community Involvement Scheme (CIS)
	17 Monitoring and Review
	Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations
	Appendix 1 LDP Risk Management & Mitigation
	Appendix 2: What is Expected of the Consultation Bodies?
	Appendix 3: Consultation Techniques
	Appendix 4: Project Management Timetable
	Appendix 5: Review of LDP2 evidence base against impacts of COVID 19


	7 Memorandum of Understanding [MoU] between Herefordshire Council and Powys Council on Aggregate Minerals and Waste Planning Matters



